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Washington, DC 20004 
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This form should be used as the application for an original certificate and transfer of an
existing certificate (from a Florida certificated company to a non-certificated company).
ln the case of a transfer, the information shall be provided by the transferee. lf you have
other questions about completing the form, call (850) 413-6600.

Print or type all responses to each item requested in the application. lf an item is not
applicable, please explain. All questions must be answered. lf unable to answer the
question in the allotted space, please continue on a separate sheet.

Once completed, submit the original and one copy of this form along with a non-
refundable fee of $500.00 to.

Florida Public Service Commission
Office of Commission Clerk
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd.
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850
(850) 413-6770
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INSTRUCTIONS



1

APPLICATION

This is an application for (check one).

I Original certificate (new company)

I Approval of transfer of existing certificate: Example, a non-certificated com-
pany purchases an existing company and desires to retain the originalcertificate ra-
ther than apply for a new certificate.

Please provide the following

Full name of company, including fictitious name(s), that must match identically with
name(s) on file with the Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations registra-
tion:

Fiber AssetCo LLC ("Applicant")

2. The Florida Secretary of State corporate registration number.

M25000007524

3. F.E.l. Number: 334987371

4. Structure of organization.

The company will be operating as a
(Check all that apply):

tr Corporation
t] Foreign Corporation
X Limited Liabitity company
tr Sole Proprietorship

General Partnership
Foreign Partnership
Limited Partnership
Other, please specify below:

lf a partnership, provide a copy of the partnership agreement.

lf a foreiqn limited partnership, proof of compliance with the foreign limited partnership
statute (Chapter 620.169, FS). The Florida registration number is:

PS(' 1020 ({/18)
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Page I of7



Washington
District of Columbia
20004
(202) 73e-3000
(202) 739-3001
russell. bla u@morqan lewis. com

E-Mail Address: danielle.burt@morqanlewis.com
leetal.weiss mo anlewis.com

(b) Ongoing operations of the company.
(This company liaison will be the point of contact for FPSC correspondence. This point of contact
can be updated if a change is necessary but this must be completed at the time the application is
filed).

Russell M. Blau
Name: Danielle Burt

Leetal Weiss
Title:

Street Address:

Counselto Applicant
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius, LLP
1111 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Post Office Box.
City:

State:
Zip.

Telephone No.:

Fax No..

Edward B. Adams, Jr
Executive Vice President and General Counsel
8020 Katy Freeway

Houston
Texas
77024
(877) 486-9377 or (713) 570-3700

P UC. Correspondence@crowncastle. com
https.//www. crowncastle com/

(c) Optional secondary point of contact or liaison:
(This point of contact will not receive FPSC correspondence but will be on file with the FPSC)

Name: Deborah Kelly
Title: Tax Officer

Street Address: 2000 Corporate Drive
Post Office Box:

City: Canonsburg
State: Pennsylvania

PS(' r020 ({/r8)
Rule \o. 25-{.00J. F.,\.('

Name:
Tiile:

Street Address:
Post Office Box:

City:
State.

zip.
Telephone No.:

Fax No.:

E-MailAddress:
Company Homepage:

Zip. 15317
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5. Who will serve as point of contact to the Commission in regard to the following?

(a) This application:



(724) 416-2686
(724) 416-6473
deborah. kel ly@crowncastle. com

6. Physical address for the applicant that will do business in Florida

3605 NW 82nd Ave
Doral
Florida
331 66
(877) 486-e377

List the state(s), and accompanying docket number(s), in which the applicant has

(a) operated as a telecommunications company.

None.

(b) applications pending to be certificated as a telecommunications company.

As of the date of this filing, Applicant has applications pending to be certif-
icated as a telecommunications company in the following states: Alabama,
Arizona, Arkansas, California, Hawaii, lndiana, Louisiana, Maine, Massa-
chusetts, Mississippi, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Tennessee. Applicant in-
tends to file similar applications in the near future in the District of
Columbia and all other states except Alaska.

(c) been certificated to operate as a telecommunications company

None. However, Applicant's affiliates are certificated to operate as tele-
communications companies in the District of Columbia and every state ex-
cept Alaska. In Florida, Applicant's affiliate Crown Castle Fiber LLC
("CCF") is authorized to provide telecommunications services pursuant to
Certificate No. 8917.1

(d) been denied authority to operate as a telecommunications company and the
circumstances involved.

None

(e) had regulatory penalties imposed forviolations of telecommunications statutes
and the circumstances involved.

t See Order No. PSC-2018-0143-PAA-TX, Docket No. 2018001 7-TX (Mar. 15, 2018). The Certificate
was originally issued to Lightower Fiber Networks ll, LLC, which subsequently changed its name to
Crown Castle Fiber LLC. See Docket No. 20180126-TX.

PS(' 1020 ({/ltl) Page 3 nf7
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Street address:
City:

State:
Zip.

Telephone No.:
Fax No.:

E-MailAddress:

7

Telephone No.:

Fax No.:

E-Mail Address:



None.

(f) been involved in civi! court proceedings with anothertelecommunications en-
tity, and the circumstances involved.

None.

8. The following questions pertain to the officers and directors. Have any been

(a) adjudged bankrupt, mentally incompetent (and not had his or her competency
restored), or found guilty of any felony or of any crime, or whether such actions may
result from pending proceedings? [ Yes X No

lf yes, provide explanation.

N/A.

(b) granted or denied a certificate in the State of Florida (this includes active and
canceled certificates)? X Granted E Denied E Neitner

lf qranted provide explanation and list the certificate holder and certificate number

As explained above, Applicant's affiliate CCF is authorized to provide tele-
communications services throughout Florida pursuant to Certificate No. 8917.

lf denied provide explanation. Not applicable.

(c) an officer, director, and partner in any other Florida certificated telecommunica-
tions company? f Yes E ruo

lf yes, give name of company and relationship. lf no longer associated with compa-
ny, qive reason whv not.

As explained above, Applicant's affiliate CCF is authorized to provide tele-
communications services throughout Florida pursuant to Certificate No. 8917.
CCF and Applicant have overlapping officers and directors.

9. Florida Statute 364.335(1)(a) requires a company seeking a certificate of authority to
demonstrate its managerial, technical, and financial ability to provide telecommunica-
tions service.

Note: lt is the applicant's burden to demonstrate thatif possesses adequate mana-
gerial ability, technical ability, and financial ability. Additional supporting information
may be supplied at the discretion of the applicant. For the purposes of this applica-
tion, financial statements MUST contain the balance sheet, income statement, and
statement of retained earnings.

(a) ManaqerialabiliW. An applicant must provide resumes of employees/officers of
the company that would indicate sufficient managerial experiences of each.

PS(' 1020 (J/ltl) Page -l of7
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Please explain if a resume represents an individual that is not employed with the
company and provide proof that the individual authorizes the use of the resume.

See Exhibit A.

(b) Technical abilitv. An applicant must provide resumes of employees/officers of
the company that would indicate sufficient technical experiences or indicate what
company has been contracted to conduct technical maintenance. Please explain
if a resume represents an individual that rs not employed with the company and
provide proof that the individual authorizes the use of the resume.

See Exhibit A

(c) Financial abilitv: An applicant must provide financial statements demonstrating
financial ability by submitting a balance sheet, income statement, and retained
earnings statement. An applicant that has audited financial statements for the
most recent three years must provide those financial statements. lf a full three
years' historical data is not available, the application must include both historical
financial data and pro forma data to supplement. An applicant of a newly estab-
lished company must provide three years' pro forma data. lf the applicant does
not have audited financial statements, it must be so stated and signed by either
the applicant's chief executive officer or chief financial officer affirming that the
financial statements are true and correct.

Applicant's financia! reporting is consolidated with its indirect parent com-
p?try, CCl. Provided as Exhibit B are the most recent consolidated financial
statements of CC! tor 2022,2023, and 2024 to demonstrate Applicant's fi-
nancial qualifications. The financia! information provided in Exhibit B
demonstrates that Applicant, through its parent CC!, possesses the requi-
site financial resources to provide telecommunications services in the
State of Florida.

PS(' t020 (.1/r8)
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10. Where will you officially designate as your place of publicly publishing your schedule
a/k/a tariffs or price lists)? (Tariffs or price lists MUST be publicly published to comply
with Florida Statute 364.04).

f] Florida Public Service Commission

X Website Please provide Website address.
https://www.crown castle.com

E Otner - Please provide address

PS(' r020 ({/r8)
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Tttts Paoe Musr Be CorupLErED Ano Srcrueo

ReCuletORv ASSeSSMENT FEe: I understand that alltelecommunications companies
must pay a regulatory assessrnent fee. A minimum annual assessment fee, as defined by
the Commission, is required.

Recetpr Rruo UToeRSTANDING or RUIES: I understand the Florida Public Service
Commission's rules, orders, and laws relating to the provisioning of telecommunications
company service in Florida.

AppucAttr AcxttowLEDGEMENT: By my signature below, l, the undersigned owner or
officer, attest to the accuracy of the information contained in this application and attached
documents and that the applicant has the technical ability, managerial ability, and financial
ability to provide telecommunications company service in the State of Florida. I have read
the foregoing and declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the information is
true and correct. I have the authority to sign on behalf of my company and agree to comply,
now and in the future, with allapplicable Commission rules, orders and laws.

Further, I am aware that, pursuant to Chapter 837.06, Florida Statutes, "Whoever
knowingly makes a false statement in writing with the intent to mislead a public
servant in the pertormance of his or her official duty shall be guilty of a
misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 and s.
775.083."

I understand that any false statements can result in being denied a certificate of authority in
Florida.

Coupnruv Ownrn on Or

Print Name:

Title:
Telephone No..

E-tvlailAddress

Edward B. Adams, Jr
Executive Vice President and General Counsel
877 486-9377 or (713) 570-3000

P U C.Correspondence@crowncastle. com

Date: June 12.2025Signature:

PSC 1020 (.ril8)
Ilulc \o. 25{.00.1. t'..\.C
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EXHIBIT A

Management Biograph ies



Cror+ n Castle Management Biographies

Daniel K. Schlanger - Director and Interim President and Chief Executive Officer
Daniel K. Schlanger was appointed interim President and Chief Executive Officer of Crown Castle
in March 2025.He joined Crown Castle in April 2016 and most recently served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer-responsible for planning. implernenting and managing
Crown Castle's corporate finance operations. Before.ioining Crown Castle. Dan served as Senior
Vice President of Global Products at Exterran Corporation. where he was responsible fbr global
product strategy development and implernentation. From 2009 to 2015. Dan held various
leadership roles with Exterran Holdings. Inc. and Exterran GP LLC. Before those roles. he was
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Of ficer of Exterran GP LLC and also served as a director
of Exterran GP LLC's board of directors from October 2006 through November 2015. Earlier in
his career" he worked as an investment banker with Merrill Lynch & Co. where he focused on
mergers and acquisitions and capital markets transactions in the energy sector. Dan holds a BS in
economics from the Wharlon School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Edward B. Adams, Jr. - Director and Executive Vice President and General Counsel
Teddy Adarns was appointed Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Crown Castle in
February 2023"and he is responsible forCrown Castle's legal, tax and policy team. Priorto this
role. Teddy served asthe SeniorVice President of Legal. Since joining in 2016. he has focused on
improving time and cost of building communications infrastructure by leading teams that interact
with utilities and governmental entities as well as managing teams that resolve legal disputes. In
those roles. Teddy had responsibility for Crown Castle's government affairs and litigation teams
and the groups providing legal support for real estate. utility. zoning and permitting issues. Prior
to Crown Castle. he was a partner at the Nofton Rose Fulbright law firm. Teddy holds a BA in
Economics and Sociology from Rice University and a JD from Stanford Law.

Sunit S. Patel - Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Patel served on the Crown Castle Board of Directors from January 2024to March 2025.He
previously served as Chief Financial Officer of lbotta Inc.. a North American cashback rewards
and mobile technology platform. Mr. Patel has more than 25 years of executive leadership.
including l5 years as a public telecommunications company CFO. In 2000. Mr. Patel co-founded
Looking Glass Networks Inc.. a facilities-based provider of metropolitan telecommunication
transporl services and served as its CFO until 2003. From 2003 to 2018. Mr. Patel served as EVP
and CFO of CenturyLink. now Lumen. a role he held for over l4 years at Level 3 prior to its 2017
mergerwith Centurylink. From 2018 to 2020. Mr. Patel served as EVP. Mergerand Integration
at T-Mobile. where he led T-Mobile's strategic planning efforts to integrate its business with Sprint
following the companies' $26.5 billion merger. Mr. Patel holds a BS degree in Chemical
Engineering and Economics fiom Rice University and is a Chartered Financial Analyst.

Christopher D. Levendos - Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer - Fiber
Chris Levendos was appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer-Fiber.
effective January 2024.Prior to this. Mr. Levendos served as Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer (overseeing both segments) from November 2023 to January 2024. Interim
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer - Towers fiom October 2023 to November
2023. and Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer-Fiber from December 2020 to



November 2023. responsible for the management of Crown Castle's small cell and fiber
operations. Prior to this. he served as Vice President of Network Engineering and Operations. Mr.
Levendos is a leading force in driving innovation in network deployment with more than 30 years
of experience operating and leading large fiber network organizations. previously serving at
Frontier. Google and Verizon. Beginning his career at Verizon as a field technician" Mr. Levendos
progressed through a series of operational and engineering roles over 26 years concluding as the
Region President for Verizon's New York City Operations. He holds a BA from SUNY-
Plattsburgh, a MS degree frorn New York University and a MS degree fiom Stevens Institute of
Technology. Mr. Levendos serves on the boards fbr the Regional Planning Association (RPA). the
Association for a Better New York (ABNY). INCOMPAS and is a member of the President's
Leadership Council at Stevens Institute of Technology.

Donald J. Reid - Secretary
Donald Reid is Crown Castle's Associate Ceneral Counsel and Corporate Secretary. He has been
with Crown Castle since February 2000. Prior to joining Crown Castle" Donald was an associate
at Haynes and Boone. LLP. Donald obtained his JD from Georgetown University Law Center and
his BS in Accounting from Boston College.

Scott Zahorchak - Vice President - Tax
Scott Zahorchak is an experienced tax professional currently serving as Vice President of Tax at

Crown Castle since April 2019. Previously. Scott held the position of Vice President of Taxes at
Arconic from November 2016 to March 201 9. and served as Director of International Tax at Alcoa
from 2004 to October 2016. Early in their career. Scott worked at Ernst & Young LLP as a Senior
Manager from September 1996 to December2004. Scott holds a JD degree from Case Western
Reserve University School of Law and BBA in Accounting from Kent State University.

Mike Manczka - Vice President - Operational Finance and Accounting
Mike Manczka is Crown Castle's Vice President - Operational Finance and Accounting. He has

been w'ith Crown Castle since November 2003. Previously. Mike was a senior audit manager at
KPMG US. He obtained his BS in Economics from Allegheny College.

Robert S. Collins - Vice President and Corporate Controller
Robert Collins is Crown Castle's Vice President and Corporate Controller. He has been with
Crown Castle since December 2016. Previously. Robert was Vice President and Controller of
Alcoa. lnc. from February 2005 to December 20l6.Robert also worked at PWC as a Director from
March 2000 to January 2005 and Senior Manager from July l99l to February 2000.. Robert
obtained his Master of Science in Accounting and Finance and Bachelor of Commerce in General
Business Administration and Management from the University of Virginia.

Kristoffer Hinson - Vice President - Corporate Finance and Treasurer
Kristoftbr Hinson currently serves as Vice President of Corporate Finance and Treasurer at Crown
Castle. overseeing Investor Relations. Strategic Planning. and Treasury functions since June 2023.
Prior to this role. Kristoff-er held various positions at ExxonMobil from August 2010 to July 2023.
including Director of Investor Relations. where responsibility included leading the Investor
Relations team for quarterly earnings calls and investor communications. Additional roles at
ExxonMobil encompassed Managing Director of ExxonMobil Czech Republic. EAME Credit



Manager. and various treasury and I'inancial analysis positions. Earlier profbssional experience
included roles at Ford Motor Company as a Securitization Analyst and Production Analyst.
Kristoffer holds an MBA fiom Harvard Business School and a BA in Economics from llarvard
University.

Inge Pasman - Assistant Secretary
Inge Pasman is Crown Castle's Assistant Corporate Secretary and Senior Attorney. She has been
with Crown Castle since 201 6. Inge obtained her J D from University of Houston Law Center and

her BS in English Language and Literature fiom Texas A&M University.

Sophie Truong - Assistant Secretary
Sophie Truong is Crown Castle's Assistant Corporate Secretary. She has been with Crown Castle
as an attorney since November 2024, Prior to joining Crown Castle. Sophie was a corporate
specialist at King & Spalding and Global Corporate Governance Manager at Getty Images. She
obtained her JD from the University of Houston Law Center and BS in Psychology frorn the
University of Houston.

Deborah Kelly - Tax Officer
Deborah Kelly is an experienced tax profbssional currently serving as Crown Castle's Tax Officer
and Director Transactional Tax. She began with Crown Castle in September 2008 where she has

served in various roles within income and transaction tax. Prior to joining Crown Castle. Deborah
was with PWC where she focused on accounting for income tax. Deborah received her Master of
Science in Taxation from Golden Gate University and Bachelor of Science in Business
Administration Accounting from West Virginia University.
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Financial Statements
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Item 8. Financial Stolemenls and Supplemenloql Data
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as ofDecember 3l ,2024 and2023
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Report of Indcpendcnt Rcgistered Puhlic Accounting Firnr

To the Board ofDircclors and Stockholders of
Crown Castle Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Slalemenls aad Internal Control over Financiol Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet ofCrown Castle lnc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as ofDecernber 31. 2024 and2023.
and the relaled consolidated statements ofoperations and comprehensive incomc (loss), ofequity (deficit) and ofcash flows for each ofthe three years rn the
period ended December 3 l. 2024. includrng the related notcs and financial statemenl schedules listed in the index appearing under ltem I 51a)(2) (collectively
rel'crred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's inlernal control over financial repo(ing as ol'December 31,2024,
bascd on criteria cstablishcd in Internal C'ontrol - Integrated Framervork (2013) issued by the Cornrnittee ofSponsoring Organizations ofthe Treadway
Commission (COSO).

In our oprnion. the consolidated financial stalements referred to above present fairly. in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
Dcccmbcr 31.2024 and2023. and thc rcsults ofits opcrations and its cash llows lbr cach ol'thc thrcc ycars in thc pcriod cndcd Dcccmbcr 31.2024 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the IJnited States of America. Also in our opinion. the Company maintained. in all material
respects. ell'ective internal control over financial reporting as ol'December 31.2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - lntegrated Framework
(201 3 ) issued by the COSO.

Basis/or Opinions

Thc Companl"s management is rcsponsible fbr these consolidated financial statements. for maintaining effective intemal control over financial reponing, and

for its assessment of the effeclivencss of internal conlrol over financial rcporting. includcd in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing undcr Item 9A. Our responsibiliry is to express opinions on thc Cornpanl''s consolidated financial statemcnts and on the Company's
internal control overfinancial repor(ingbasedonouraudits W'e areapublicaccountingfirmregistereduiththe PublicCompany'AccountingOversightBoard
(tlnited States) (PCAOB) and are requircd to be independent with respect to the Company in accurdance with the tJ.S. ledcral securities laws and the
applicable rules and rcgulations of thc Securities and [lxchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance urth the standards ofthe PCAOB. Thosc standards require that u'e plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable

assurance about whcther the consolidated tinancial statements are tiee ofmaterial misstatement. whether due to error or tiaud" and whelher ell'ective internal
control over financial reponing uas maintained in all matenal respects

Our audits ofthe consolidated financial stalements included performrng procedures to assess the risks ofmaterial misstatemcnt ofthe consolidated financial
slatements, whether due to error or fraud, and performrng procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures rncluded examining, on a test basis. evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolrdated financial sta(ements. C)ur audits also included evaluating the accounting princrples used and

significant estimates made by managcment. as well as evaluating the overall presentation ol'the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting rncludcd obtaining an understanding of intemal control over financral reportrng. assessing the risk that a material weakness exists. and

lesting and evaluating the design and operating effectivencss of inlernal control based on the asscssed nsk. Our audits also included performing such other
proccdurcs as wc considcrcd ncccssary in thc circumstanccs. Wc bclicvc that our audits providc a rcasonable basis lor our opinions.

Deftnilion and Limilolions of lnternal Conlrol over Financial Reporting

A company's internal conlrol over linancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability oflinancial reporting and
the preparation of financial statcmenls for cxternal purposes in accordance wilh generally acceptcd accounting principlcs. A compan\"s inlernal control over
financial reponing includes those policies and procedures thal (i) penain to the maintenancc ofrccords thal, in reasonable detail. accurately and fairll,reflect
the transactions and disposrtions of the assets of the company: (ri) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as neccssan, to permit
preparatron offinancial statements in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles. and that reccipts and expenditures ofthe company are heing
made onlf in accordance with authorizations ol'managenrent and dircclors of the companl'; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection ofunauthorized acqursrtion, use, or dispositron oflhe company's assets that could have a matcrial effect on thc financial statements.Because of

future pcriods are sub.ject to the risk that controls may become inadequate becausc ofchanges in conditions. or that the degree ofcompliance with the policies
or procedures ma1' dcteriorate.
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Because of'its inherent limitations. intemal control over financial rcporting may not prevent or detecl misstalements. Also. projections of any cvaluation of
effcctiveness to future periods arc subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate bccause ofchanges in conditions. or thal the degree ofcompliance
with the polrcies or procedures may' deteriorate.

Critical Audil Mafiers

'Ihc critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising liom the current period audit ol' the consolidated (inancral statements that werc
comnrunicated or requrred to be communicated to the audit comnrinee and that (i) relate to accounls or disclosures that are material to thc consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective. or complexjudgments. Thc communication of'critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statemenls, taken as a whole. and we are not. bl,cornmunicatrng the critical audit matters below. providing
separale opinions on the critical audil matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which lhey rclatc.

Retenue Recognlion - Tol'ers Segntenl - Sile Renlal Rerenues

As described rn Notcs 2 and l,l to th€ consolidated financial statcments. the Company recognrzed $4.266 million in site rental revenucs from the Towers
segmcnt fbr the 1'ear ended l)ecember 31.2024. The Company generales site rental re\enues liom lts core business b1 provrding tenants u'rth access to its

sharcd communications infrastructure via long-term tenan( contracts in various forms. including lease. Iicensc, sublcase and scrvice agreemcnts. ['roviding such

acccss over the lcngth ofthe tenant contract term represents the Companl's sole perlbrmance oblrgatron under its lenanl conlracts. Site rental revenues Iiom the

Conrpany's tenanl contracls are recognized on a straighl-line. ralable basis over thc fixed. non-cancclablc term ofthe rclevant tenant contract

Thc principal considerations for our detennination thal performing procedures relating kr revenuc rccognition lor thc site renlal rcvenucs frorn thc Towers
segment rs a critrcal audit malter are a high degree ofauditor cffort in performing procedures and evaluatrng audit cvidcnce related to revenue recognition for
thc srte rcntal rcvcnues lronr the Tou,ers segnront.

Addressing thc mattcr involved performrng proccdures and cvaluating audit cvidencc in connection with lorming our ovcrall opinion on the consolrdatcd

seBment.'fhesc procedures also includcd, among others (i) lesting management's idcntillcation ol'the contractual lerms by obtaining and inspectrng tenant

contracts and othcr rclcvant sourcc documcnts on a test basis and (ii) testinB thc appropriateness ofthc amount oIrevcnue rccognizcd based on contractual
tcrms on a lesl basrs.

Quonttlati'e Goodtrrll lmpatt',nenl Test - Frber Reportmg llntt

As dcscribed in No(es 2 and 5 to the consolrdaled financial statements, lhc Compan)'s consolidated gooduill balance was $5,127 million as of December 31,

2024. Managerncnt (ests goodwill lbr impairment at least annually or whenever clents or circumstances indicate thc carrying alnount mav not be recoverable.

The quantrtative goodwill impalrment tcst compares the cstimated fair value oI'the reporting unll and the carrying value of the reponing unit ll'the carr)rng
amount ol'a rcporting unil is greater than its lair value. an irnpairment loss shall be recognized in an amounl equal to such ercess. limiled t() the tolal amount ol'
gooduill allocated 10 the rcporting unrt. Management perlilrmed the most recent annual goodu'ill impairmenl tcsl in the founh quarter of 2024. The quantitatrve
rmpairment lesl indicated that thc carrying amount ol the Company's Fibcr reporting unit erceeded its cstinraled lair value. As such. management recorded an

impairrnent charge of'$4.958 nrillion. which resultcd in no goodurll rernaining for the Fibcr rcponing unit. Thc means of cstimating the fair value of the

Companl's reporting units is using discounted cash llow (DCIi) models dcvelopcd b)'management. Kcl assumptions and estimatcs used in the DCI| models

included projectcd future revenucs. operating cash flou's. capital cxpenditures (net of ccrtain pa)'mcnts rcceivcd from customers), an cxit multiplc and a

discounl ratc.

-fhc principal considerations for our determination that pcrforming procedures relating to thc quantitativc goodwill impairment tcst ol'the Fiber rcporting unit is
a critical audit matter are (i) the significant.judgnrcnt b) rnanagerncnt whcn devcloping the {air value cstimatc ofthc Fihcr reporting unit. (ii) a high dr:gree of
auditorjudgment. subjcctivity. and eflirrt in pcrforming the procedurcs and evaluating managenrcnt's signilicant assumptions relatcd to thc exit multiple and

discount rate. and (iii) the audit effort rnvolved the use ol'professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addrcssing the matter involved pcrlbrnring procedures and cvaluating audit cvidence in conncction with lirrming our ovcrall opinion on thc consolidated

controls ovcr the valuation ol'thc [:ibcr rcporting unrl. Thcse procedures also included, among others (i) testing managemcnt's process ltrr dereloprng the I'air

valuc estimate of the [riber reporting unit. (ii) evaluating thc appropriateness of the DC'F nrodcl used by rnanagementi (iii) testing ths completeness and

accurac)' ol underlf ing data used in thc I)CF model. and (iv) evaluatins thc reasonablcncss ol managenrcnt's signilicanl
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assumptions relatcd to the exit multiplc and discounl rate. Evaluating nranagement's assumption related to the exit multiplc involved cvaluating whethcr the

assumptron used by management was reasonable considering the consistency wrth external markct and industry data. Professtonals with specialized skill and
knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of(i) the appropriateness ofthe DCF model and 1ii) the reasonableness ofthe exit rnultiple and discount ra(c

assumptions.

/si PriccuaterhouseCoopers [-[-P
Pittsburgh. Pennsl, lvania
March 14. 2025

We havc servcd as the Company's auditor since 20ll
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('RO\\'\ ( AS't't.E 1\(-. .{\D St BStDt.{RIItS
('o\sot.tD.rTt.l) B.rL r\c[. SIIEET

(ln millions ofdollars. cxcept par valurs)

Dcccmber Jl,
2021 2023

ASS},TS
Currcnt asscts

Cash and cash equir,alents

Rcstflcted cash and cash cqurvalcnts

Receivables. net ofallowance of$22 and St9, respectively

Prepard cxpenscs

Current portion of del'erred site rental receivables

Othcr current assets

Tolal curent assets

Dclcrred srtc rental rcccivables

Propeqv and equrpmenl. net

Operatrng lcasc ri ght-ol--use assets

Goodr.lill
Srtc rcntal contracts and tenan( relatronships. nct

Other intangible assels. net

flther asscts. nct

Total assets

I_1.\lill.I'l-l1.s \\t) E()I l't'\ (t)t_rt( r1')

Current liabrlities:
Accounts pavablc

Accrued lnter€sl

Delcrrcd revcnues

Other accrued liabilrties

Currcnt nraturrties ol'dcht and other oblrgatrons

Cunent portion ofoperatrng lease liabilitres
'liltal currcnt liabilitics

Debt and other long-tem oblrgations

Opcrating lcase I iabilities

Other long-term I iabilrties
'fotal lrabilrlrcs

Commitments and contingencies (see note l2)
C('l strrcLlrolders' equrl\ tdclicrtr

s $il9
t7t
478

t06

t76
1()

105

l7l
48t
r03

ll6
56

t.090
I _r{_1

t 5.495

5"797

5.127

).7 )7
54

l0i

1.032

l.l19
15.666

6 t87

I 0.085

i. ]]]

I _.\9

5

s rrfi6 $ 3E.527

r9l $

244

1't6

359

6t0
296

2.t77

23.471

5.1i6
1.985

2.585

22.0%

5.56 l

1,9 14

-12.869 12. r.16

152

2t9
605

342
8i5
332

Common stock. $0.0 I par lalue, I .:00 shares authorrzed; shares rssued and outstanding: December 3 I . 2024---435 and
December 31. 2023-434

Addrtronal pard-rn caprtal

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Dividends,drstributrons in €xcess of eamings

Tolal equity (deficit)

Total liabilitres and equit-v ldelicit)

Scc accompanying notes to consolidated financial statemcnts.
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(5)

4

I {r.t70
(4)

( I 1.889)( ll,l.5l5
(133) 6.38 t

32.736 $ 38.527$



('RO\\'N ('AS'I'l.ll lr-('. .t\I) SL BSlDl.tRlIlS
(]O\-SOI-ID,,TTfD STATE\IE\T ()}- {)PERATIO\S,I\D C0\|PREIIE\SI\'}, I\(]()\TE (I,()SS)

(ln millions ofdollars, r\crpt per share amounts)

)'cars Endcd DccemberSl,

202,1 t0t3 1,027

Nel revenues:

Srte rental

Seruices and other

Net rcvenucs

Opcrating expenses:

Costs of operatrons "
Site rental

Sen'rces and othcr

Selling, general and administrative
n ssct \\'nte-do\ur chartes

Acqursition and rntegralion costs

[)eprecration. amortrTatron and accrctlon

Restructuring charges
(ioodwrll rrnpairnrcnt charges

Total operating expenses

0peratrnS rncome (loss )

Interesl expense and amortization of defened financing costs, net

Garns ( losscs) on rctrrcrr)cnt ol'long-lcrnr ohlrgations

Interest income

L)thcr rnconrc (e\pensc)

Income ( loss) before income taxes

Bcnclrt lpror rsion) lor lncorile 1a\cs

Net income lloss)

Othcr conrprchensivc rnconrc ( loss)

Forergn cunencl translation adjustments

To(al othr'r conrprchcnsi\ c rncome ( loss )

Comprehensive income ( loss )

Nct income (loss). pcr cornmon share

Net income (loss)-basic

Ncl rncornc I loss Fdrluted

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:

[Jasrc

Diluted

(a) Iixclusrr'e oldeprccrallon. arnonralron md accretron shoun scparatell

S 6.358 $ 6.5it s

449

6.18q

697210

6.568

t,728
ll9
706

1,18

I .738

109

4.958

6.9ti l

1.664

_l t6

759

I

r .75.1

85

6.986

1.602
.166

750
i{

2

I .707

9,506 4.6t2 4.56 I

r l.9,il{ t

1932)

t9

118)

( 1.879)

(2't)

$ (3,e02 s 1.675

rlr

(699)
(28 )

3

(850)

l5
l0

r.518

1.369

t26t (16)

$ 1.502

(l)
tl)

-q_______.!1.r04.). $ 1.503 -!____l_{21_

$ (8 en) $ 346 $ 387
(8.e8) $ 346 $ _1 tt6

434434

,13.1

434

Sce accompanying notes to consolidaled financial statements
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(.RO\I'N (]AS'I'I,E IN(.. ,{ND SI'RSIDIARIES
coNSoLtDATI]D ST.{T[l\{ENT OF (].4,Sll Ft.OWS

(ln millions of dollars)

Years Ended l)ecember Jl.
202{ 202J 7072

Cash flows from operrting sctivities:
Net Incomc ( loss)

Adjustments to rcconcile net income (loss) to net c6h prolided b1 (used lbr) operaling actirities'
[)cltrccratr0rt. amonrzatlon and accretron

Coodwill impairmenl charges

t(iainsi losscs on retrrcrncrrt ol'long-tcrrn oblrgatruns

Amortization ofdel'ered tinancing costs and other non-cash interest

Stock-based compensttron c\pensc. nct

Asset rwite-doun chuges
[)clcrrcd rnconrc ta\ r hcnclrl I pro\ rsron

Reslructuring charges. non-cash

Othcr non-cash adlustmcnts- net

Changes in assets and liabilities. excluding the efl'ects ofacqursitrons
Increasr ldccrc'asc) rn accrued rntcrcst

Increase ldecrease) rn accounts payable

lncreasc {decreasct rn othcr liahrlitrcs

Decreme (rncrease) in receivables

[)fcreasc (lncrcase) rn 0thcr asstts

Net cash provided by ( used for) operating activities
('ash flors from investing acliliti$:

Capital expenditures

T'avnrents tirr acqursitrons. nct ofcash acqurrcd

Other rnvesting activities, net

Nct eash pror idcd hr t uscd lirrt rn\ cstrng acti\ itrcs

Cash flows from financing activities:
I'roeccds lionr issuancc ol lung-tcrnr dehl

Princrpal paymens on debt and other lonB-tem obligations
I)urchases and rudenrptrons ol lurq-tcrm debt

Borrowings under revolving credit facilit-v

I'atnrrnts undcr rerolrrng credrt lhcilrq
Net issuances ( repayments) under commercial paper program

l)nynrcnts lirr linancing costs

Purchases of common stock

[)rr rdcnds drstrrhutrons pald on con]nron stock

Net cash provided bv (used for) financing activities

Nel increase (decrcase) in tash and cash cquivalents and restrictcd rash and cash equivalents
Effecl oferchange rate chenga on cash

( ash and cash equivalrnts and rcslriclcd rash and cash equivalcnts at brginning of period

Cesh and cash equivslents and restricted cssh and cesh equivalents at end ofperiod

Sce accompanying notes to consolrdated financial stalements.
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s (i.e03) !;

I .7_r 8

4,958

32

lll
148

{
t2

tl

| .501

t.75.1

it)
( l4)

t16i)
ll5

3.1 26

(1.42.4t
q96)

I

s 1.675

| .707

;
l7

t56

34

3

5

(s)
(l8l )

(4e)
(.il2)

2.878

(1.310)
(15)

(7)

r l.l5l I

29

t57

33

8

7

7

l5
(22)
(cl)

6

r l8)
2.943

(1.222)

t8)
l0

(1.220) (l.5lg)

t.244
(99)

(750)

(670)

1,341

tl2)
(33)

12.729)

-\-o{-\

t79l
t750t

3.613
("1.2.18 r

( 1.24r )

(39 )

(30)
(1.72,r )

7.1{,1

(74)
( l.l7-l I

3,495
( 1.85r I

976

lll)
rA5 r

r l-601 )

( 1.708)

t5
(l)

281

( 1.654)

147 )

I

321

( I,665)
( 139)

466

$ 295 S 28r 327s



( RO\\'l- ('AS'l'L[. lN( . ..r\D St BSII)1.,\RIES
('o\sot.II).r'tEI) ST.TTEME\T OF EQt tTv (DEFICIT)

(Amounts in millions)

tddiri6n!l
Prid-In ('.pitel

432 S .l $ I lt.ot I

l- 170

(65 )

.l I 8,1 t6

Accumulst€d Other
('omprchtnsivc Dividcnds/Dirtributions

in Erccs3 o[ E.rnings lb(.1

$ (4) S ( e.753 ) s 8 Lttllalancc. Dcce rnbcr ,l I. l(12 I

Stock-based compensation rela(ed actiIrty. net ol'forfcitures

l'urchascs and retircnrent ol cornnrun stuck

Other comprehensive rncome lloss)'''
Conrmun stock divrdends distritrutrons

Net rncome (loss)

Ilalancc Dcccnrher-il l0l2
Stock-bued compensation related activlt]'. net of forfeitures

l'urchascs and re(ircrnent ol cortrrtron stock

Other comprehensive rncome 1 loss)'''

Conrnron stock divrdends distrihutrons
Net rncome (loss)

Balancc. Dcccrnber i I. 102-l

Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfertures

I'urchascs and rctrrernLrtt ol common stocl

Other comprehensive income lloss)'')
Common stocl drvrdcnds distrihulrons

Net income (loss )

llalancc Dcccmher -i I l()l{

(irmmon Stoch

Shercs (30.01 Prr)

(l)
(1.5 88 )

r.675

170

(65 )

(l)
( 2.5 IJ8 )

1,675

(5) ( 10.666) 7.419

184

(30)

( 1.725 )

1.502

r84
(30 )

I

r 2.715 )

1.502

.l-1.1 .l 18.270 (.1 ) ( I I .8tt9) 6.it{ I

156

1-33 )

t:.2:: r

(3,903 )

t56
(li )

(l)
r 1.73i )

(l)

(3,903 )

"l-15 $ .l $ 18.393 $ (5) $ (18.525) S (Lr-r)

(a) Scc the consoll&tcd sutement ofopcratrons md comprchcnstlc rncomc (loss) for the componcnts of"total othcr comprehensrvc rncomc (loss)

Sce accompan_ving notes to consolidatcd financral statements.
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NOTES TO (]ONSOI,IDATED FIN,,IN('IAI, STATEl\IENTS
(Tabular dollars in millions, ercept p€r share amounts)

l. BasisofPresentation

The consolidated linancral stalements includc the accounts ol'Croun Caslle Inc. and its predecessor. as applicable (together. "CCI"). and their
subsidiaries. collectively referred to herein as the "Company." All significant rntercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As
used hercin. the term "including," and any variation thereol. means "including without limitatjon."'Ihe use ol the word "or" herein is not exclusive. Unless the

conte\t suggests otherwise. ref'crences to "Ll.S." are to the United States of America and I'uerto Rico. collectivcll'.

The Company owns. operates and leases shared communications infrastructure thal rs geographicalll'dispersed throughout the U.S.. including (I) to$'ers
and other structures. such as rooliops (collectively, "lowers"), and (2) fiber primarrly supporting small cell networks l"small cells") and {iber solutions.'Ihe
C'ompany's (o*'ers. srnall cells and fiber assets are collectrvell,referred to herein as "communications infrastructure." and the Company's customcrs on its
communicalions infrastructure are refcrred to herein as "tenants."

The Company's core business is providing access, including space or capacity, to its shared communications infrastructure via long-term conlracts in

various lbrms. including lease, license, sublease and service agreements (collectively. "lenant contracts").

The Company's operating segments consist of( I ) Towers and (2) Fiber. See note 14.

On March 13. 2025. the Company signed a definitive agreemcnt ("Strategic Fiber Agreemcnl") to sell its Fiber segment. logether with certain supporling
assets and personnel l"Fiber Business"). with Za1'o (iroup Holdings Inc.1"2a1,o") acquiring the fiber solutions business and EQT Active Core Infrastructure
fund ("llQ"l") acquiring the small cell business ("Strategrc l-iber'lransactron").'fhe Fiber Business did nol meel the criteria for assets held for sale as of
Dccember 31.2024. and therefore remains presented as a component ofcontinuing operations. As a result- this document. unless otherwise noled. does not

contemplate the planned sale ofthe Fiber Business. In subscquent pcriods. the Fiber Busrness will be presented as a discontinued operation, and its net asscts
will be classified as held fcrr salc and cornparable prior periods will be recast to reflect this changc. See note I 7.

Approximately 54% of'the Company's lowers are leascd or subleased or operated and managed under master leases. subleases, and olher agreements with
AT&T and T-Mobile (including those u'hich T-Mobile assumed rn its merger with Sprint). 'l'he Companl has the option to purchase these towers at the end of
therr respeclive lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options. See notes 4 and I 3.

As part of the Conrpanl"s effort lo provide comprehensive communications inlrastructurc solutions, as an ancillary business. the Company also oll'ers

certain services primarill'relating to its Towcrs segnlenl For the pcriods presented, such services predominately consisted of(l) site developmcnl sen'ices
relatrng to exrsting or new (enant equipment installations. including: site acquisition. archrtectural and engineering. or zoning and permining (collectively. "srte
dcvelopnrcnt senices") and (2) tenant equipment installation and subsequent augmcntalions (collcctivel). "installation senices").

See note I 6 to the Company's consolidated financial stateme nts Ibr a discussion ol' ( | ) lhe Company's July 2023 restructuring plan ( "2023 Restructuring
Plan"), which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product oflering and (2) the Companl''s June 2024 restructuring plan ("2024
Restructuring Plan." and together with the 2023 Restructuring Plan. "Restructuring Plans").

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition. the Company has certain taxable REIT subsidianes ("TRSs"). See

note 9

The preparation of financial statements in conformiry with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial stalements, and the reponed amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash ond ('ash Equnalents

Cash and cash equivalents includc cash on hand and highly liquid invcstments with original maturitrcs ol thrce nronths or less.
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NOTES TO CONSOLII)ATEI) F IN.ANCIA L S-l,A-tE1'ln.N-tS - 
((lontinued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Restricled ('ash and Cash Equialents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents represents ( I ) the cash held in reserve by the indenture lrustees pursuanl lo the indenturc governing certain of the

Company's debt instruments,12) cash securing pcrformance obligations such as letters ofcredit and (3) any othercash whose use is lirnited by conlractual
provisions. The restriction ofrental cash receipts rs a critical leature ofcertarn ol'the Company's debt instruments due to the applicable rndenture trustee's

ability to ulilizc the rcstricted cash for the pavmcnt of( I ) debt scrvice costs. (2) ground renls. (3) real estate or personal property taxes, (4) insurance premiums
related to towers. (5) other assessments by governmental authorities and potential environmental remediation costs or (6) a po(ion ol advance rents liom
tenants. The restricted cash in excess ofrequired resene balances is subsequently released to the Company in accordance with the terms ofthe indentures. See

note l5 lbr a reconciliation ol'cash and cash equivalents and restricled cash and cash equivalents.

Re ce nables A I lott ance

An allouance for credit losses is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. The Company usesjudgment rn cstimating this allowance and considers

hrstorical oolleclions. currenl credil status. or contractual provrsions. Additions to the allowance for credit losses are charged erther to "Srte rental costs of
opcrations" or to "Sen'ices and other costs ofoperations." as appropriate. and deductions from the allowance are recorded when specific accounts receivable
are unttcn ofl as uncollectiblc

l.ease .lccounlrng

General.'fhe Company'evaluates whether a contract mccts the definition ofa lease whenever a contract grants a part)' the right (o control the use ofan
identilied asset lbr a pcriod ol'time in exchange lbr consideration. To lhe extent the identilied assct is able to be shared among multrple partres, the Company
has delernrined that one party does not have control ofthe identified asset and the contract is not considered a lcase. The Company accounts for contracts that

do not meet the dellnrtion ol'a lease under other relevant accounting guidance (such as ASC 606 lbr revenue liom contracts u,ith customers).

Lessee.l<tr its Tou'er scgment. the Company's lcssee arrangemcnts prrmarily consisl ofground leases for land under towers. Ground leases lbr land are

specific to each site. generally contain an initial term bctween five lo l5 years and are renewable (and cancellablc after a notice period) at the Compan)/s
option. '[he Company also enters into term ground leases. such as term easements. in which it prepays the entire lerm. For its Fiber segmcnt, the Companv's
lessee arrangenrents primanly include leases offiber assets to support the Company's small cells and fiber solutions.

The majoriq'ol'the Companv's lease agreements have cenain lermination rights that provide lbr cancellation alier a nolice period and rnultiple renewal

options exercisable at the Company's option. The Companf includes renewal option periods in its calculation of the estimated lease term when it delermines the

options are reasonably certain 10 be exercised. When such renewal options are deemed Io be reasonabl-v ce(ain. the estimated lease term determined under ASC
842 will be greater than the non-cancelable term ofthe conlractual arrangement. Although certain renewal periods are included in the estimated lease term, the

Company would have the abilit_v to terminate or elect to not renew a particular lease r('business conditions warrant such a decision.

Thc Company classifies its lessee arrangemenls at inception as either operaling leases or finance lcases. A lease is classilied as a finance lease ifat least

one ofthe follou'ing criteria rs met: ( I ) the lease transfcrs or,l'nership ofthe underlying asset to the lessec. (2) the lease Brants the lcssee an option to purchase

the underlying asset that the lessee rs reasonably certain to exercise. (3) the lease term is ibr a major part ol'the rcmaining economic life ofthe underlying asset.

(4) the present value ofthe sum ofthe lease paymenls equals or exceeds subs(antially all ofthe fair valuc ofthe underlying asset. or (5) the underlying asset is

ofsuch a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternalive use to the lessor at the end ofthe lease term. A lcase is classified as an operating lease if
none ofthe fivc crileria described above for finance lease classrfication is met.

sheet. Current and long-term portions of lease liabilities related to operating leases arc includcd in "Current portion of opcrating lease liabilities" and
"Operaling lease liabilities" on the Compan),'s consolidatcd balance shcct. respectively. ROU assets represent the Companl''s nght to use an underlying asset lbr
the estimated lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's present value ofrts future lease pa-vments. In assessing its leases and determining its lease

liabiliS at lease commencemcnl or upon modilication. the Companl is not able to rcadily determine the rate implicit lbr its lessee arrangements, and thus uses

its incrcmental borrowing rate on a collateralized basis to determine the presenl value of the lease payments. The Company's ROU assets are measured as the

balance ol the lease liabiliS plus anl' prepaid or accrued lease payments and an1' unamortized initial direct costs. I:or both the 'lbwers and Fiber segments,

operating lease expenses are recognized on a ratable basis. regardless ofwhether the pa)'mcnl terms require the Companl lo nrake payments annually. semr-
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annually, quarterly, monthly, or lbr the entire lerm in advance. Certain ol'the Company's ground lease and iiber lease agreements contain lixed escalalion
clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or rnflation-based cscalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in consumer price index

The Company'calculates the straight-line expense over the contract's estimated lease term. including any renewal option periods that the Compan-v deems
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease agreements may also contain provisions for a contingent paymen( based on (l) the rcvenues derived from the communrcations infras(ructure
located on the leased asset. (2) the change in CPI or (3) thc usage ofthe leased asset. The Companl"s contingent pa),ments are considered variable lease

payments and are 1l) not included in the initial measurcment ofthe RO(J asset or lease liability due to the uncerlainty ofthe payment amount arrd (2) recorded
as expense in the period such conlingencies are resolved.

ROIJ assets associated with linance leases are included in "Propcg'and equipment. nel" on the Companl"s consolidated balance sheel. Lease liabilities
associated wrth finance leascs are included in "Current maturities ofdebt and other obligations" and "l)ebt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. For both rts Towers and Fiher segments. the Company measurcs the lcase liabiliry" tbr linance leases using the efl'ective interest
method The initial lease liability is increased to reflecl interest on the liabilitl'and decreascd to rcflect paymenls made during the period. Interest on the lease

liabiliry is determined cach period during the lease lerm as the amount that rcsults in a conslant periodic discounl rale on thc remaining balance ol'the liability.
Thc Companl'depreciates ROU assets for financc leascs on a ratable basis ovcr thc applicable lease tenn.

1'hc Cornpanl'revieu's the carrying value of its ROli asscts for inrpairmcnt. similar to its othcr long-lived assets. whonevcr evcnts or changes rn

circumstances indicate that thc carrying amounts may nnl be recovcrable. The Company could record impairments in thc future il'there are changcs in ( l ) long-
tcrm market conditions. (2) cxpectcd future operating rcsults or 13) the utiliry' ofthc asscts that negatrvel) impact thc fair valuc of its ROIJ asscts.

Lessor. Thc Companl''s lessor arrangements primarilf include tenant conlracts lirr dcdicated space (including dedicated fiber) on its shared

option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. (3) thc lease terrn is fbr a major part ofthc remaining economic life ol'
the undcrlling asset, (4) the prescnt value ol'the sum ol thc lease paymenls equals or exceeds substantialll'all ol'the larr value ol'the underlying assets or (5)
thc undcrlying assct is ofsuch a spccialized naturc that it is expccted to have no alternativc use to thc lessor at the cnd ol'the lease term. Furthermorc. whcn
none ol'the abovc crilcria is met, a lease is classified as a direct linancing lcase il'both of thc fbllowing criteria are mct: ( I ) the prcsent value of the ol'the sum
of the lcase pavmcnts and an1' resrdual value guarantecd bl the lcssee. that is nol alreadl reflected in thc leasc payments. equals or erceeds the fair value of the
underlying assct and (2) it is probable thal the lessor will collect the lease pa),ments plus any amounl nccessary lo satislv a residual value guarantce. A lease is

classified as an opcratinB lcase if it does not quali$ as a salcs-rype or direct financing lcasc. Currcntll'. the Compan) classifies all of its lessor arrangcments as

operating leases.

Site rental revenucs from the Cornpany's lessor arrangcments are recognized on a straighl-line, ratable basis ovcr the fixed, non-cancelable term ofthe
relevant tenant contracl. regardless ofwhethcr the payments from the tenant are received in equal monthll amounts during the lifc ofa tenant contract. Certain
ofthe Company's tenant contracts contain fixed cscalation clauses (such as fixed-dollar or fixed-percenlagc increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses
(such as those tied lo the change in CPI). II'the pavment terms call fbr llxed escalators, uplionl pa]'menls, or rent-liee pcriods. the rental revenue is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the fixed. non-cancelable term ofthe agreement. When calculating straighrline si(e rental revenues. the Company,considers all
fixed elements of lenanl contractual escala{ion provisions.

Ccrtain of the Company's arrangcmenls with tenan(s in its Fibcr segmenl contain both lease and non-lease components. ln such circumstances, the
Companl' has detcrmined ( I ) the timing and pattcrn of transler frrr thc lcasc and non-lcase component are the same and (2) thc stand-alonc lease componcnt
would bc classrfied as an operating leasc. As such, the Company has aggregated certain non-lease components wilh leass components and has dctermined that
thc leasc components tgcneralh'dcdicated fiber) represcnt the predominant component ofthe arrangenrcnt.

Proper4'and Equrpment

I'roperty and equipment is stated at cost. nel ol'accumulated deprcciation. Propes and cquipmenl includes land owned through fee inlerests and
perpetual easements. u'hich have no dellnrte life. Dcpreciation is computcd utilizing the straight-line
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method al rates based upon the estrmaled usel'ul lives ol thq various classes of assets. Deprccialion lbr the majority ol communications intiastructure is

computcd u,ith a useful life equal to the shorter of 20 years or the term of the underll,ing ground lease (where applicable and including optional renewal
perrods). Additions and pcrmanenl inrprovements to lhe Company's communications infiastructure are caprtalized. while maintenance and repairs are expenscd.

Labor and inlerest costs incurred directly related to lhe construction ofcertain propert-v and equipmcnt are caprtalized during the construction phase of
pro-jects. For the ycars ended December 31. 2024. 2023 and 2022. the Company recorded 5298 million. $299 rnillion and $265 million in caprtalized labor
costs, respectivell'. The carrying value ol'propert-v and equipment rs reviewed lbr impairment whencver events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount ofthe assets ma)' not be recoverable.

Abandonments and wrile-of}'s of property and equipmenl are recorded to "Asset write-down charges" on the Company's consolidated statemenl ol'
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and were $146 million. $40 million and $39 million for the years ended December 31.2024,2023 and 2022,
respeclively. The increase in asset r,r'rite-down charges from 2023 to 2024 is prirnarily driven by the cancellation of approximately 7.000 grecnlield small cell
nodes in the Company's contracted backlog thal it mutually agreed to cancel following discussions wrth cenain of its tenants. The Company wrote offproperty
and equipment deemed to have no altemalive future use, and as a result. recognized approximatell,Sl06 million as "Asset write-down charges" on its
consolidaled statement of operations and comprehensive income ( loss ) for the year ended December 3l .2024.

A sse t Ret n'ement O bl igottons

Pursuant to its ground lease. leased facility and certain pole attachment agreements, the Companl,records obligations to perfonn asset retirernent
activities. including requiremenl.s to remove communications infrastruc(ure or remediale the space on u'hich certain of its communications infrastructure rs

located. The Companl, does not record an obligatron fbr asset retirement activities related to its liber, as a settlement date is indetemrinable and therelbre a

reasonable estimation of fair value cannot be made. Asset retirement obligations are included in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet. The liabilitl'accreles as a resuh ol the passage o1'lirne and the related accretion expense is included in "Depreciation. amortizalion and accretion"
on the Company's consolidated statemenl ofoperations and comprehensive income (loss). 'fhe associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as an additional
carrying amounl ol the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the uselul lil'e ol'such asset.

Goodt'rll

Goodwill represenls thc exccss of the purchase pricc for an acquircd business ovcr thc allocated value of the related net assets. Management tests

goodwill for imparnnent at least annually or whenever evcnts or circumstances indicate the carrying amount ma] not be recovcrable. The annual tesl begins
with goodwill and all intangible assets being allocated to applicable reponing units. The Company's reporting units are the same as its operating segments
('lbwers and l'iber). 'l'he Company lhen pcrforms a qualitative assessment to determine u'hether rt is "more likelv than not" that the fair value of the rcponing
unit is less than its carrying amounl. If the Company concludes it is "more likely than not" that the fair value of a reporling unit is less than its carrying amount,
it is necessary lo perlbrm a quantitative goodwill impairnrent test. The quantitative goodwill impairment tesl compares the estirnated lair value of the reponing
uni( and the carrying value ofthe repo(ing unit. Ifthe carrying amount ofa reporting unit is greater than its fair value. an impairment loss shall be recognrzed
in an amounl equal to such excess. lirnited to lhe total amount ol'goodwill allocated to the reponing unit. The Companl' perlbrrned its most recent annual
goodwrll impairment test during the fourth quaner of 2024. which resulted in an impairment of $5.0 billion for the'r,ear ended December 31.2024 to its Fiber
reporting unit. With respccl to the 'fowers reporting unrt. there was no indication ol'impairmenl lbllou'ing the quantitative asscssment, as the eslimated lhir
value u'as well in excess ofthe corresponding carrying value. See note 5 to the Company's consolidated financial statements.

lnlangrble Assets

Intangible asscts arc included in "Site rental contracts and tenant relationships" net" and "Other intangible assc(s. nct" on the Conrpanlrs consolidated
balance sheel and predominately consist of the estimatcd fair value of site rcntal contracts and lenant relationships or other contractual rights, such as

Lrademarks. that arc recorded in conjunction with acquisrtions. Site rental contracts and tenant relationshrps intangible asscts are conrprised of(l) the cunent
lerm ofthe existing leases, (2) the high rale oftenant relention. and (3) any associated relationships that are expected to generate value following the exprration
ol'all rencrval periods under eristing leases.
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'[he useful lives ol'intangible assets are eslimaled based on the period over whrch the intangible asset is expected to benetlt the Company and gives
consideration to the expecled useful life ofother assets to u'hich the useful life ma1'relatc. Amortization e\pense for intangible asscts is computed using the

assets are limited b1, the maximum depreciable lrfe of the communications infrastructure (20 yearsl. as a result of the interdependency of the communica(ions
inliastructure and the site rental contracts and tenanl relationships. In contras(, the site rental conlracts and tcnanl relationships are estimated to provide
econonric bcnefits for several decades because ofthe lo$ rate oftenant cancellations and high rate oftenant retention experienced to date. Thus. uhile site

renlal contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are valued based upon the thir value o1'the site rental contracts and tenant relationshrps, which
rncludes assunrptions rcgarding both ( I ) tenants' cxercise of optional rcnewals containcd in the acquircd leases and (2 ) renewals of the acquired leases past the

contractual term including exercisable options. site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangiblc assets are amortized over a period not to exceed 20 vears.

The carr.ving value of other intangible asscts with finite useful lives will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The Cornpany has a dual grouping polrcy for purposes of determining the unit of
account for testing impairment of site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangiblc assels. First. lhc Company pools site rental contracts and lenant
relationships intangible assets with the related communications infrastructure assets in(o portfolio groups for purposcs ofdetermining thc unit ofaccount for
impairment testing. Second and separatell,, the Company pools the site rental contracts and tenant relationships by significant tenant or by tenant grouping for
individually rnsignilicant tenants. as appropriate. II the sum ofthe associated estimated llture cash flows (undiscounted) liom an asset is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss mav be recognized. Measuremenl of an impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset.

Delerred Credts

Dcferred credits are included in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Compan)'s consolidated balance sheet and consist ofthe
estimated fair value of below-market tenanl leases for contractual interests with tenants on acquired communicalions infrastructure that are amortized to site
rcntal revenues.

I"air value lirr these del'erred credits represcnts the diil'erence between ( I ) thc stated contractual payments to be made pursuanl to the in-place lease and (2)
management's estimate of fair market lease rates for each corresponding lease. Deferred credits are measured over a period equal to the estimaled remaining
economic lease term considering renewal provisions or economics associated with those renewal provisions. to the extent applicable. Deferred credits are

amortized overtheir respected estimated lease terms at (he time ofacquisilion, the most recent ofwhich took place in 2017.

Deferred Fmancmg Costs

Third-part-v costs incurred to obtain financing. with the exception ofcosts rncuned related to revolving lines ofcredit. are deferred and are included as a

drrect deduction from the carrying amount ofthe related debt liability in "Debt and other long-1erm obligations" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet

and are amortized using the effective interest yreld methodology to "lnterest expense and amortization of deferred financing cosls. ne1" on the Compan)r's

consolidaled statement ofoperations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term ofthe related debt liability. Third party costs incurred to obtain financing
through a revolving line ofcredit are del'erred and are included in "Other assets, nel" on the Company's consolidated balance sheel and are amorlized using the

effective interest field methodology to "lnterest expense and amortizalion ofdefened financing costs. net" on the Compan-v's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) over the tcrm o1'the 2016 Credit Agreemenl (as dellned in note 7).

Rerenue Recognilion

The Company generates sile rental revenues from its core business by providing tenants with access, including space or capacity, to its shared

communicalions infrastructure via long-Ierm tenant contracts in various forms. including lease. license. sublease and scn'ice agreements. T1'pically. providing
such access over the length ofthe tenanl conlract term represents the Company's sole performance obligation under its tenant contracls.

Stte Rental Reyenue.g. Site rental revenues from the Company's tenant contracts arc recognized on a slraight-line. ratable basis over the fixed. non-
cancelable term ol the relevanl lenant contract, which generally ranges bclween live to l5 years lbr wirelcss tcnants and between one to 20 years lbr liber
solutions tenants (including from organizations with high-bandwidth and multi-location dcmands). regardless of whether the payments from the tenant are

received in equal monthly'amounts during the lil'e ofthe tenanl contract. Certain ol'the Company's tenant contracts contain ( I ) lixed escalation clauses (such as

fixed dollar or
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lircd pcrcentage increases) or inllation-based escalation clauses (such as lhose tied to the CI'l). (2) multiplc renewal pcriods exercisable at lhe lcnant's option
and (3) onll limrted termination rights at the applicable tenant's option through the current term. If the pa)'ment lerms call for fixed cscalalors, upfront
payments, or rent-liec perrods, the revenue is recognized on a strarght-line basis over the fixed. non-cancelable term ol'the lenant contracl. When calculating
straight-linc rental rev€nues. the Company considers all fixed elemcnls oftenant contraclual escalation provisions. cven ifsuch escalation provisions contarn a
variablc elcment in addition to a minimum. The Company's assets rclated to straight-line site rental revcnucs are rccorded u'ithin "Currenl porlion ol'defbrred
sitc rental receivables" and "Deferred site rental receivablcs" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts billcd or rcceivcd prior to being earned

arc delcrred and reflected in "I)eferred revenucs" and "Other long-term liabilities" on thc Companl's consolidated balance sheet. Amounls to which the

Company has an unconditronal right to pa),ment. which arc relatcd to both satisfied or partially satisfir:d performance obligations, are rccorded within
"Rcceivablcs. net" on the Company's consolidalcd balancc shect.

Paynents.4,tsocntedvith Sprmt Cancellatron.s. For the years cnded December 31,2024 and l)ecember 31, 2023, site rental revenues include $5 million
and Sl70 million. respcctively. ofpavments rn the Company's lriber segment to satisfy the remarning rcntal obligations ofcertain canceled Sprint leases as a

resulr ol'the'I-Mobile tJS, Inc. and Sprint netu,ork consolrdation. In connection u'ith such canceled Sprint leases. the Company also recognized $59 million of
accelerated prepaid rent amortization in thc Companl"s Fiber scgmcnt for the lcar ended December 3l.2023 that did not recur in the vearended Decernber 3l.
2024.

S'ervrce.s and Other Reyenues. As parl of thc Company's elliln to provide comprehensivc conrmunrcations inliastructure solutions. as an ancillary
business. the Companl ollers cerlain scn'ices primarill' rclating to its Towers segment. lror the periods presented. such sen'ices predominatcl-v consisted ol'( l)
prc-construction site dcvelopment services and (2) installation scrvices. Sec note l6 to the Companl''s consolidated financial statcments lbr a drscussion of the

Company's July' 2023 reslructuring plan, which included discontrnuing installation sen'iccs as a Towers product ollering. [Jpon contracl commencemenl. lhe
Company assesses its scn'ices to tenants and idcntifies performance obligations for cach promise to provide a distinct sen'ice

1'he Conrpanl ntal' have multiplc performance oblrgations for srte development sen,ices. r'hich primarill- include: structural analysis. zoning. pcrmitting
and construction drawings. I-'or each ol'these performance obligations. scrvices revenues are recognized at completion ol'the applicable perlirrmance obligation.
which rcprescnts the point at which the Conrpany believcs it has transferred goods or services lo the tenant. The services rcvenue recognized is bascd on an

allocation ol'the transactron pricc among the performance obligations in a respective tenant contract based on eslrnrated s(andalone sclling price. The volume

and rnir of site development services ma) \ ar) amonB tenant contracts and may includc a combination of some or all of the above perfonnance oblrgations.

Amounts arc billcd pcr contractual milestones. with payments gcneralll, due uithin 4-5 to 90 days. and generally do not contain variable-consideration
provisions.

'fhe transaction price lbr the Company's lower installation services consists o['amounts lbr (l) permanenl improvements to the Company's [owers that

represent a lease componenl and (2) the performance ofthe service. Amounts under the Company's tower installation scrvice agreements that represent a lease

component are recognized as site rental revenues on a straight-line basis over the length ol'the assocrated estimated lease term. For the perlbrmance ol'the
rnstallation service, the Conrpanl'has one performance obligatron. uhich is satisfied at the lime ofthe applrcable installation or augmentation and recognized as

services and other revenues on the Compan-v's consolidated statement ol'operations and comprehensive income (loss). Since perlbrmance obligations are

typicalll,satisfied prior to receiving payment from tcnants, the unoonditional right to paymenl. is rccorded within "Receivables. net" on the Company's

consolidated balance sheet. Generally. the services the Companl'provides to its tenants have a duration of'one vear or less.

.4ddtronal lnfurnation on Reyenues. As of January 1.2024 and December 31,2021. $2.1 billion and $2.0 billion of unrecognized revenues.

respectively, were reported in "Def'erred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the C'ompan1"s consolidated balance sheet. During the year

ended December 31.2024. approximately $490 million ofthe January 1.2024 unrecognized revenues halance was recognized as revenues. As ofJanuary I,
2023. $2.3 billion ofunrecognized revenues were reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance

sheet. During the year ended December 31.2023, approximately $631 million ofthe Januarl' l,2023 unrecognized revenues balance was recognized as

revenues.

See nole 3 lbr Iunher discussion regarding the Company's revenues.
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('osts o[Operations

Approximatell 40% ofthe Companl''s sitc rental cosls ofoperations expenses consist ofkrwers ground lease expenses, and the remainder includes fiber
acccss expenscs. repairs and maintenance expenses. ernployce conrpensation or rclaled benefit costs. prcperty taxes. or utilities. Gencrally. the ground leascs for
land are specific to each site and are for an initral lerm of between five to I 5 years and are renewable for pre-determined penods. The Company also enters into
ground leases. such as tcrnr easements. in which it prepays the enlire term in advance. I--iber access expenses primarily consist of leases ol'fiber assets and other
acccss agreements to facrlitate the Company's communications infrastructure .

Ground lease and fiber acccss e\penses are recognized on a ratablc basis. regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make

payments annually. semi-annually. quarterly. monthly. or f'or the entire term in advance. Ccrtain of the Cornpany's ground leasc and fiber access agrecments

contain fired escalation clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed pcrcentage rncreases) or inllation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in
Cl'l). Il'the pa)'ment terms include lixed escalators. upfront payrnents. or rent-liee periods. the ellbct o1'such increases is recognized on a straighl-line basis.

Whcn calculatrng straight-lrnc ground lcase and fiber access expenses. the Company considers all fixed elcments ofcontractual escalation provisrons. cven rl'

such escalation provisions contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. 1-he Company's liabilrry'related to straight-line erpense is included in

"Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Compan),'s consolidated balance shcct. The Company's asscts related to prepatd agreements is included in "Prepard

expcnses" and "Operating lease righGol:.usc asscls" on the Compan)'s consolidatcd balance sheet.

Scn'ices and other costs ol operations predominately consist ol'third-parfy scrvice providers such as contractors and prol'essional sen,ices firms and, to a

lesser extcnt. internal labor costs. associated \r'rth ths Cornpany's sile development and installation sen'iccs. See note l6 to the Company's consolidated
financial statements Ibr a discussion ofthe Company's July 2023 restructuring plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product

offcring. The Cornpany's costs incurred prior to the satisfaction ofassociated perfonnance obligations of$31 million and $44 rnillion as ofl)ecember 31.2024
and 2023. respcctivel),. arc included in "Other current assets" on (he Company's consolidaled balance shcet.

.4cquts rl totts and I nte gral nn C osls

Dircct or incrcmental costs rela(cd 1o a potcntial or completed busincss combination transaction are cxpensed as incurrcd. Such cosls are predominatell'

compriscd of severance, retention bonuscs pay,able to employees ol an acquired enterprise. temporary employees to assist wilh the integration of the acquired

These business combination costs are included in "Acquisition and integration costs" on the Company's consolidated statemcnt ol' operations and

comprehcnsive income (loss). For those transactions accounted lor as asset acquisitions. thesc costs are capitalized as pan ofthe purchasc price.

S tot k- ba.sed ( ornpensal ion Expe nse. .\'e t

Reslricled Stock Units. 'fhe Company records slock-based compensation expense fbr unvested restricted stock units ("RSUs") lbr rvhich the requisite

service is expected to be rendered. l-he cumulative effecl ofa change in thc estimated number ofRSUs for which the requisrte servtce is expected to be or has

been rendered is recognizcd in the period ol'the change in the eslimate.'fo the extent that the requisite senice is rendered. compensation c<lst for accounling
purposcs is no1 revcrsed. rather, it rs recognized regardless ofwhether or not the awards vcst. A discussion ofthe Company's valuation techniques and relatcd

assumptions and estimates used lo measure the Compan)'s stock-based compensation expense is as lbllows:

l'aluatrcn. The fair value of RSIJs withoul market conditions is determined based on the number of shares relating to such RSUs and the quoted price of
the Company's common stock at thc date of grant. The Companv estimates the fair value of RSLJs with market conditions granted using a Monte Clarlo

sirnulation. The Companl,'s dctcrmination of thc fair value of RSUs with market conditions on the date of grant is affected by its common stock pricc as well as

assuntptions regarding a number of highly complex or sub.jective variables. The determination of larr value using a Monte Carlo sinrulation requircs the inpul
ofsubjective assumptions. and other reasonable assumptions could provide differing results

AmortEatnn l,lethod. The Company amortizes the Ihir valuc ofall RSLJs on a straighGline basis for each separately vesting tranche ofthe award (graded

vesting schedule) over thc requisite service periods.

Expected Lblatilrly.'fhe Company cstimates thc volatility ol'its common stock al the date ol grant based on the historical volalilitv ol'its common slock

Expected Dndend Rate.'fhe crpected dividend rate at the dalc ofgrant is based on the then-current dividend yreld.
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Risk-Free Rate. The Companl, bases the risk-ltee rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury issues with an equivalent remaining term
equal to the expected life ofthe award.

ForJerlures. The Cornpany uses historical award forfeiture data and management's judgment about the future employee turnover rates to estimate the
number ofshares for which the requisite service period will not be rendered.

lnteresl Expense and Amorlt:alion oJ Delerred Financtng Costs, Net

The components ofinterest expense and amortization ofdefened financing costs, net are as follows:

Years F,nded l)ccember 31,

1011 1.023 2022

Interest expense on debr oblgations
.Amonizatrorr ol delcrrcd linancrng costs and adiustments on lonq-tcrm dcbt

Capital ized interest
'li)tal

s 920 $

-11

(20)

836 $

l9
(ls)

685

26

(r2)
932 S 850 $ 699

The Company amortizes dclbrred linancing cosls. discounls and premiums ovcr the estimated term ol'the related borrowing using the effective interest
yield method. Deferred financing cosls and discounts are generally presented as a direct reduction to the related debt obligation on the Companrrs consolidated
balance sheet.

Assets Iteld/or Sale and Dtsconlinued Operalrcns

We classiI an asset as held for sale when the following criteria are met: ( I ) management with proper authoril]' has approved and committed to a plan to
sell. (2) the asset is available for inrmedia(e sale. (3) an active program to locate a buyer has cornmenced at a pnce that is reasonable in rclation to its current.
fair value, (4) the sale ofthe asset is probable (5) transfer ofthe asset is expected to occur within one year. excepl in certain circumstances such as extended

regulalory approval. and (6) it is unlikelv that signillcant changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrau,n. Assets classilied as held Ibr sale
are recorded at the lower ofcarrying value or fair value. less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated.

Furthcr. we classi! the balances and results related to a disposal in discontinued operations if all of the following criteria are met: ( I ) the operations and

cash flows ofthe disposal group can be clearly distinguished from the rest ofthe company, (2) thc disposal group meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale and (3) the disposal represcnts a strategic shrft that has or will have a major cffecl on our operations and financial results. For businesses classified as

disconlrnued operalions. the associated balances included in the consolidaled balance sheet and consolidated statemenl of operations and comprehensive
income (loss) are reclassified from their hrstorical prcsentation to assets and liabilities ofdiscontinued operations on the consolidated balance shcct and to
drscontinued operations on the consolidated statement ofoperations and comprehensive income (loss). respectively. Ibr all periods prcsenled. The gains or
losses associated with the discontinued operation are also recordcd in discontinued operatlons on the consolidated statenrent ofoperatrons and conrprehensive

income (loss).

lncone Taxes

Thc Companl,opcrates as a REIT for IJ.S. federal incomc tax purposes. As a REI'1. the Companl, is gencrally entitled to a deduction lbr dividcnds that it
pays and therelbre is not subject to U.S. I-ederal corporate income tax on its net taxable income lhat is currcntly distributed 10 rts stockholders. The Company
ma1'be sub.lect to certaln federal- state. local and forcign taxes on lts rncomc. includrng ( I ) taxcs on an1, undistributed income and (2) laxes related to thc TRSs.

ln addition, the Company could. under ccrlain circumstances, bc requircd to pay an cxcise or pcnalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in order to

utilize onc or nrore rcliefprovisions under the Internal Revenuc Code of 1986. as amendcd ("Codc"). to maintain qualification for taxation as a REIT.

Additionally. the Ciompanl has included in TRSs certain other assets and operations. Those TRS assets and operations will continue to be sub.ject. as

applicable. to federal and state corporate income tares or to f<rrergn taxes in thejurisdrctions in which such assels and operations are located. The Company's
lbreign assets and opcrations (including its tower opcrations in Puerto Rico) are subject to firreign income taxes in thejurisdictions in which suclr assets and

operations are located. regardless ofrvhether they are included in a TRS or not. For cerlain acqursitions by the REIT. the Company r,r'ill be subject to a federal

corporale level tax rate (currentlt- 2l%o) on anl,gain recognizcd liom the sale ol'assets occurring within a specilied period (generalll' 5 1'earsl after the transl'er

date up Io the amount ofthe built in gain that existed on the transfer date. which is based upon the I'air market value ofthose assets in excess ofthe Company's
tax basis on the transl'cr date. 

-fhis gain can be oll'set b1'any remaining t'edcral net operating loss carryforu'ards ("NOt.s").

1t
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\-OTES TO CONSOI-IDATED FlN.{NCIAL ST.{TE\l[,NTS - (Oontinued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, excrpt per share amounts)

For the Companl's'l'RSs. the Cornpanl'accounts lbr rncome taxes using an asset and liabilitl'approach. which requires the recognition ol'del'erred
income tax asscts and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of cvents that have been recognized in the Compan.v's financral statements or tax
returns. Del'erred income tax assets and liabilities are dctermincd based on the temporary,dill'erences bet$een the financial statement and tax bases ol assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates. A valualion allowance is provided on deferrcd tax assels ifit is detcrmincd that it is "more likely than not" that the asset will
not be realized. The Company records a valualion allowance against del'erred tax asscts when it is "more likcll' than nol" that some porlion or all ofthe det'erred
tax asset will not be realized. Thc Company'reviews the recoverabilit-v ofdeferred tax assets each quarter and based upon pro.jectrons offuture laxable income,

revcrsing del'errcd tax liahilities or other known events thal are expected to afl'ecl Iuture taxable income. records a valuation allowance lbr assets that do not
meet the "morc likel-v than not" realization threshold. Valuation allowances may be rcvcrsed ifrelated deferred tax assets are deemed realizable based upon

changes rn thcts and circumstances that impact the recoverabilit-v ol the asset.

The Company rccognizes a tax position if it is "more likelv than not" that it will be sustained upon examination. The tax positron is measured al the
largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely ofbeing realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company reports penalties and tax-related interest expense

as a component ofthc benefit (provision) for income taxes. As ofDecember 31.2024 and 2023. the Company has not recorded an1'material penaltres related to
its income tax positions. See note 9.

Per Share Information

Basrc net income (loss), per common share, cxcludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income lloss) by the weighted-average number of common
shares oulstanding during the period. For the years ended December 31.2024.2O23 and 2022. diluted net income (loss). per common share. is computed by
dividing net income lloss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus any potential dilutive common share

equivalents. including shares issuable upon the vesting ofRStJs as determined under the trcasury stock method.

A reconciliation ol'the numerators and denominators ol'the hasic and diluted per share computations is shown in the tahle below.

Ycars llnded December 31,

2011 2023 2022

Net income (loss) (3.903) S t.502 $ I,675

Weighted-averagc number ofcommon shares outstanding (in millions):
Basrc rvcighted-average number of common stock outstandrng

Effect ofassumed dilution from potential issuance ofcommon shares relating to RSUs

Diluted rveighted-average number of common sharcs outstanding 134 .l]4 ,13.r

s

.r34 433

I

Ncl rncomc (loss). pcr cornmon shatc

Ilasi c

I)rlutcd

Drr rdcnds drstnl)utrons tlcclared pcr sharc ol'conrnron stock

$

s

(8.98) $
(8 98) $

616 $

3.46 $

_1 46 S

6t6 s

3.87

i86

5.S8S

Fair l,'alues

The Companl"s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized based upon a fair value hierarchl' that ranks the quality and reliability ofthe
information used to determine fair value. The three levels ol'the fair value hierarchy are (l) Level I - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active and accessible

markets. (2) t-evel 2 - observable prrces that are based on rnputs not quoted in as(ive nrarkets but corroborated by market data. and (3) l-evel 3 -unobservable inputs and are not corroborated b1' market data. 'fhe Company evaluates fair value hierarch-v level classifications quanerly. and transfers betueen
levels are efl'ective at the t;nd ol'the quanerly period.
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(Tabular dollars in millions, cxcept per sharr amounts)

-lhe lair values ol'cash and cash equivalents and restrictcd cash and cash equivalents approxrmale the carryrng values. l'he Company detennines the Iair
valuc of its debt securities based on indicatrve, non-bindrng quotes from brokers. Quotcs from brokcrs require .;udgmenl and are based on the brokers'
interprctation o1'market inlirrmation. including implied credrt spreads lbr similar borrowings on recenl trades or bid/ask prices or quoles liom active markets if'
available. There werc no changcs since December 31, 2023 in the Companl/s valuation techniques used to measure fair values. See note 8 for a further
drscussion ol' lair values.

Recentll' .ldopted AK'ounlmg Pronouncements

In November 2023. the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new guidance, which became effectrve starting with the Company's 2024

|orm l0-K. that is dcsigncd to improvc rcponablc scgmcnt disclosurc rcquircmcnts. primarily through cnhanccd disclosurc of significant scgmcnt cxpcnscs.
The Company adopted the guidance as ofthe effective date (i.e. for fiscal years beginning after December I5, 2023). The new guidance also expands interrm
segment disclosure requirernents and requires disclosure ol'the position and title ol'the Companl,'s chiefoperating decision-maker. The Company adopted the
new segment guidance using a retrospective approach for each prior reporting period presented. The adoption of the new guidance drd not have a material
impact on the Company's consolidated linancial slalement but resulted rn erpanded disclosure. primarily wrthin its scgmcnt reporting lbotnote. See note l4 to
the Company's consolidated financial statemen(s.

Recenl Accounting Pronouncements Not lbt Adopted

In Dccernber 2023. the FASB issued new guidance that enhances the transparencl, and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. primarill' through
changes to the rale reconciliation and income taxes pard disclosures. The guidance will be effective lbr the Company's fiscal year ending December 3 l, 2025.

and can be applied prospectivclv or retrospectively. with earll adoption permitted. The Company,is currcnlly'evaluating the e{I'ect o{'thc guidancc, including
the impact on its financral statement disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issucd neu guidance which requires disclosure of disaggregated information about ccnain income statemcnt cxpense lrnc
rlems in lhe noles to the linancial slatements lbr both annual and rnterim penods. '[he guidance wrll be ell'ective lbr the Company's liscal year endrng
Dccember 31.2027. and can bc applied prospectively or retrospectively. u'ith earl-v adoption perrnitted. Thc Cornpany is currently cvaluating the eflect ofthe
guidancc. includrng lhe impacl on ils Iinancial statement disclosures.

3, Rcvrnues

'Ihe following table is a summary of the contracted amounts ou'ed to the Company by tenants pursuanl to tenant contracts in cffecl as of December 31,

2024. As ol'Deccmbcr 31.2024. the weighted-average remaining term ol'tenant contracts was approximately six 1'ears. exclusive oi'renewals cxercisable at the

tenant's option.

Years Endinq Deccmhcr 31,

t025 2026 2021 2021r 2029 'I hereafter Total

Contractedamountsrd) $ 5.056 $ 4.882 S 4.733 $ 4,474 S 3.661 $ 13.126 $ 35.932

scn'rces rs thosc conlracts {cnerall}'have a duratron ofore Iear or less

See notes 2 and l3 for further discussion regarding the Cornpany's lessor arrangements and note l4 for further information regarding the Companr,'s

operating segments.
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-1. Property and Equipment

The major classes ol'property and equipment are summarized in the table below.

Land("1

Buildings

Communications infrastructure asscts

Inf'ormation technolog,- assets and other

Construction in process

Total gross propenl and equipnrent

Less: accumulated depreciatron

Total prcperq and equiprnent, net

As ofDccemberJl,
f.rtimatcd I seful I.ircs 2t]24 2021

.10 years

l-20 years

?-7 years

2,537 $

ll,1
26,519

715

1,045

2.44.
l(r'

2-5.47(

6{t

t.13.

$

3 I .0lq
( l 5.544)

1q.94:

(11.27t

15.,195 $ I 5.66(

(a) Includcs lild omed through lee rnterests md perpetual esements

For each ofthe years ended December 31.2024 and December 31,2023. deprecialion cxpensc was $1.3 billion. while depreciation expense for the year
ended December 31.2022 was $1.2 billion.

22o/o ol the Compan-r"'s towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed undcr a master lease or other related agreements with Af&T for a

weighted-average initial term ofapproximatcly 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin. The Company has the option to purchase the leased
and subleased lowers liom AT&T at the end ol'the respective lease or sublease terms lbr aggregate option payments of'approximatelv $4.2 billion. rvhrch
payments, ifsuch option is exercised, would be due betu'ecn 2032 and 2048.

32% ofthe Companlrs to\r'ers are leased or subleased or operaled and managed under master leases. suhlcases. or other agreements uith 1'-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). Approximately half of such towers have an initial term ol'32 years (through May 2037),
and the Compan),has the option to purchase in 2037 all (but not less than all) ofsuch leased and subleased towers from T-Mobile for approximately $2.3
billion.'Ihe remainder of'such towers have a weighted-average initral lcrm ol'approximately 28 years, wcighted based on towcrs sile rcnlal gross margin. and
thc Company has the option to purchase such (owcrs fronr T-Mobile at the end of the respective terms for aggregale option payments of approximatelv $2.0
billion. uhrch payments, if such option is exercised, would be due between 2035 and 2049. ln addition. another l7o of the Company's towers under master
leases. subleases. or other agrcements with T-Mobile are subject to a lease and sublease or other related arrangements with AT&T. The Companl, has the optron
to purchase these towcrs from AT& l' at the end of their respective lease terms for aggregate option paymenls of up to approximatell' $385 million as of
l)cccmhcr 31.2024. which pavtncnts. i{ such option is cxcrciscd. would bc duc prior to 2032 (lcss than $12 million would hc duc bc{brc 2029).

See note I 3 lbr lurther discussion of linance leases recorded as "Propert)' and equipment. net" on the Companl"s consolidaled balance sheet.

s
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5. Goodwill and lntangible Assets

Goodvill

For the year ended Dccember 31,2021. the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $5.0 billion related to the goodwill associated with
its Fiber segmenl. which represents a reporting unit for purposes ofevaluating goodwill. which rcsulted rn no goodwill rernaining for the Fiber reportine unit.

Managcment performed its annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter ol'2024. The means of cslimating thc fair value of the Company's
reponing units is using discounted cash flo\ ("DCF") models developed b1' management Key assumptions and estimates used in the DCF models included
projected future revenues, operating cash flows. capital expenditures (ne( ol'certain payments receivcd from customers). an exil multiple and a discount rate.

With respect to the'lbuers reporting unit, there r,las no indication of impairment following the quantitative assessment, as the estimated fair value uas u,ell in

cxcess of [he corresponding carrying arnr,runt.

The quantitativc impairment test indicated that the carrying amount of thc Conrpanl"s Fiber reporting unit excceded its estimatcd fair value. -l-he

impairment uas due lo a number of factors. one of which was a rcduction in managemcnt's assumptions for long-term revcnue growlh as actual demand.
particularly related to small cells. has continued to be lower than previous expectalions. In the lhce ol'this reduced demand. and consistent with the recently
concluded operating revicw ofthe Fiber business. managcment implemented operational and strategic changes targeted at rcducing fulure capital investment in
the Fiber business b1, (bcusing prrrnarill on colocation opportunities whrch require less capital expenditures than new-build opportunities. Although this more
targetcd strategy is focused on higher-return projects, the lower capital rnvestment is expccted to result in lou'er overall revenucs and operaling cash flou,s in
the Fiber business. Follou'ing implementation ofthcse changes, and consistcnl with the ongoing developments surrounding the Companl's slrategic review of
its Fiber business, during the fbu(h quarter of 2024. managemenl incorporaled the anticipated impact of these changes in expectations inlo its long-term
fbrecasts, which decreascd the estimated lair value ol'the Fibcr reporling unit. Additionalh'. management's expectations regarding the terminal value ol'the
projections decreased due to several factors. including lower operating cash flows forecasted by nranagement in the terminal year as well as lower exit
multiples derived liom indusln research tirms' outlook repo(s. which managemenl uses in its I)CF models. Finallr,, changes in the macroeconomic
cnvironment. including clcvated interest rates. resultcd in an increase in the disctrunt rate used in the valuation rnodel. which had a negative impact on
cstimated Iair valuc.

The impairment charges fbr the Fiber reporting unit are recorded in "Goodwill impairment charges" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive inconre (loss).

The change in the carrying value ofgoodwill for theyears ended December 31,2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Towers Fiber '10taI

Balancc as of Decemb€r 3 l, 2023

lmparrment

Balancc as of Decembcr 3 I , 2024

Site rental contracts and tenant relationships
( )thcr rntangrble assets

Total

S 5,t27 $ 4.958 $

(.1.95 8 )

10,085

( 4.958 )

s 5,127 $ $ 5.127

lntangible Assets

The following is a summary of the Company's intangible assets.

As of December 31, 202.1 As of Decembcr Jl,202J

Gross Carrying
Valu e

{ccum u haed
Amonization Net Book Value

Gross (iarrying
Value

{ccumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

S 7.879 $

It-i
(5, s2t

59)

$ 2.717 $

5.1

7.880 S

ll3
(4,758) $ 3.t22

57(56 )

$ 7,9e2 s (5,21t) $ 2.781 s 7,993 $ (4.814) S 3,179
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Amortization erpense relaled to intangible assets is classilied as "Deprecia(ion, amortization and accretion" on the Conrpany's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and was $397 million. $447 million. and $446 million for the ycars ended December 31.2024.2O23 and2022,
respectively.

'fhe estimated annual amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years endrng Decembcr 3l .2025 to 2029 is as follou,s.

Ycars Dccember 31,

2025 21t26 2027 2028

371 $s 375 $ 288 S 284 $ 284

2021)

6.

Estimated annual amortization

Deferred rental revenues

Deferrcd credrts. net

Asset retirement obligation
Delerred rncome [a\ lrabrlltres

Other Lirbilities

Olher long-term liabilittes

The following is a summary ofthe components ol"Other long-term liabilitics" as presented on the Company's oonsolidated balance sheet. See also note 2.

As of Decem ber 31.

t0:J 2013

$ 1,356

174

395

3t

29

1.3t0
:I6
355

l6
7

$

Other long-term liabi I ities
'l'otal s I .q85 S 911

Pursuant to its ground lease. Ieased faciliry". and cenain pole attachment agreements. the Conrpanl has the obligation to perform ccrlain asset rctiremcnt
aclivitics. including requirements up()n contract lcrmination to remove communications inliastruelure or remedialc thc space on which its communications
infrastruclure is located. The changes in the carrying amount ofthe Companl/s asset rctiremcnt obligations uere as follows:

Iears Ending Dmember 31,

2021 2023

Balance, January I

Addrtrons

Accrction expense

Senlcments

Balance, Deccmber 3 I

$ s355

I.l
)7
(l)

327

6

24

S 395

t))
$ 355

As ol I)ecember 31.2024. the estimated undiscounted future cash outlay fbr asset retirement obligations was approximalely $1.2 billion. See nole 2.

For the 1,ears ended December 3l . 2024,2023 and 2022, the Companl' recognized $42 million. $45 million and $49 million. respectivelr', in "Sile rental
revenues" related to lhe amortization of below-market tenant leases. The estimated annual amounts related to below-market tenant leases expected to be

amorlized into site rental revenues for the years ending December 3 l. 2025 to 2079 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

2025 2026 2027 2028 2021t

Below-market tenant leases 34$ 25S 20 $ ls s l6
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Olhe r acc rued I iab i I ilies

Other accrued liabilities included accrued payroll and other accrued compensation of$148 million and $140 million as ofDecember 31,2024 and 2023,
respectively.

7. Debt and Other Obligations

The table below sets forth the Company's debt and other obligations as ofDecember 31,2024.

Ststed lnterest R{le
as of

December 3l,
Original lssue Datc

July 2009

May 201 5

July 2018

Various

('ontractual
Maturir) Date

Aug 2029

N{ar l{)-15 r\

July 2M8 rhr

Varrotts

OuGtrnding Brlrnce ar of December 31,

2024 20aJ 2021

Secured Notes, Series 2009-1. Class A-2
'fou cr Rcvcnuc Notes. Scries 20 I 5-2

Tower Revenue Notcs. Series 201 8-2

lnstallrrent purchroe liabilities and ljnance leasrs

Total secured debt

l0l6 Rer olr,er

2016 Term Loan A

Comnrercial Papcr Notcs

3.200% Senror Notes

L35070 Senior Notcs

4.4500/o Senior Notes

3.700?i Senior Notes

1.0507o Senior Notes

4 000o/o Senrot Notes

2 9007o Senior Notes

3 650% Senrot No(es

5.000% Senior Notcs

3 8009tr Senror Notes

4.800% Senior Notes

4 1009/o Senior Notes

5.6007o Senror Notes

4.90(,% Senror Notes

3. I 00% Scnior Notcs

i 30[19lo Senror Notes

2.250% Senior Notes

I l0(ro.,o Senror Notes

2.500% Senior Notes

5 10006 Senror Notes

5.800% Senior Notes

-i f00o/o Senror Notes

f.900% Senior Notes

4 75(19lu Senror Notcs

5.200% Smior Nores

4.00()% Senror Notes

4. I 50% Senior Notes

-.1 150% Senror Notes

Total unsecured debt

Total deht and other oblrgatrons

Less: current maturities ofdebt and other obhgations

Non-currcnt Fxlrtron ofdcbt and other l0ng-term oblrgatlons

9.0 c,o32

700

747

299

40

69tJ

746

27\t r

-i 7 00

4 2 ot'o

Various '''

NA I.

56qt ")
5 0 ou

NiA
I .l oo

4.5 oo

3 7 ""
l. I 0.'o

+ 0 ",
2.9 o,i

3 7 "o
500,o

I tr ""
48q',o
.1 -l ",
5.6 9o

J 9 oo

3. I o.i,

-1 I no

2.3 qir

2,5 %
5 I oo

5.8 9o

2.9 0,i

.l Ir oo

5.2oo
-l 0 00

4.2 0.i

-1 I oo

Jan 2016

Jan.2016
Various

Aug.20l7
June 2020

Feb. 2016

May 2016

Feb. 2021

Feb 2017

M* 2022

Aug 2017

lul2023
Jan l0l8
4pr2023
Feb 2019

Dec. 2023

Aug 1024

Aug.20l9
Apr 2020

Jmc 2020

Feb l0ll
June 202 I
Apr 2023

Dec. 2023

Aug 2024

Feb. 2021

May 2017

Feb. 2019

Aug. 201 9

Apr 2020

lune l0l0

July 2027

July 2027

Various

Sept. 2024

July 2025

Feb. 2026

June 2026

July 2026

Mar.2o27

Mar 2027

Sept 1027

Jan. 2028

Feh l0l8
Sept.2028
Feb 2029

June 2029

Sept. 2()29

Nov. 2029

July 1030

Jan. 203 I

Apr 2(l3l

July 203 I

May 3033

Mar.2034
Sept 1034

Apr 2Ml
May 2047

Feb.2M9
Nor' 1049

July 2050

Jan. 105 I

778 1,754

670

I ,16:

749

498

898

748

s94
.l9ti

744

997

991

995

594

59,5

740

546

71t
t.09 t

990

743

740

1,234

J++

396

t4b

490

890

I,lr7
t.34 I

499

899

749

997
.198

746

997

993

996

595

596

742

544

s47

742

1,093

991

744
743

742

689

t23s
345

396
3.16

490

89r

rh)

22.303 21.167

11.08 I

610

)1 q1l

835

s tl.47l $ 21.086

(a)
(b)

(c)

Represents the werghled-average stated rnterest rate, as applrcable

201 8-2 have prrncrpal mouts of $700 mrllron md $750 mrllron. wr*r otrcrpatcd repayment dates rn 20?5 od 20?8. respectrvelv
Thc Compoy's rnstallmcnt puchases prrmarly rclate to lmd md bcu rnterest rates up to 8o/; od matuc rn penods rogrng from lcss tho one yer to approxlmatcl:- l0 ycils
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(e) Asol-DecemberSl.:Ul4.tlrcu&ama\arlabrlrtyuderthesenrormsecuedrevolvrngcredrtfacrlrty('30l6Rcrolver")was$T0brllron

adjstnents to such percentagcs

or outstandrn8 dunng tlre perrod that had ongrnal maturrtres greater tha threc months
(h) In September !014. dre Compmy repard rn lult tlle 3 200% senror msecued notes on dre conractual maturry date

(r) See "Bondr .\i,rrar Notcr" bclou' for funhcr drscussron ofsenror unsccurcd notes rssued dwrng 102,t

The credit agreement governing lhe Company's 2016 Credit Facilitv ("2016 Credrl Agreement") contains llnancial maintenance covenants.'Ihe Company
is currentl-v in compliance with these financial maintenance covenants. In addition. certain ofthe Company's debt agreements also contain restrictive covenants

that place restrictions on CCI or its subsidiaries and may limil the Company's ability lo, among other things, incur additional debt and liens, purchase the

Company's securities. make capital expenditures. dispose ofassets. undertake transactions with allliates. make other investments. pay dividends or distribute
excess cash flow.

Bank Dehr

2016 Credt Focilin'. ln January'2016. thc Company established the 2016 Credit Facrlity. which $as originally comprised of (l)a $2.-5 billion 2016
Revolver maluring in .lanuary 2021.(2) a $2.0 billion 2016 l'erm l.oan A maturing in January 2021 and (3) a $1.0 billion senior unsecured 364-dav revolving
credit faciliry'("364-Day Facility"l nraluring in January 2017.'l-he Company'used the net proceeds lrom the 2016 Crcdit Facility 1l) to repay the then

outstanding senior credit l'acrlit-,- originally established in January'2012 and (2) lbr general corporate purposes. In Fehruary'2016. the Company used a portion
of the nct proceeds from the l"cbruary 2016 issuance of $1.5 billion aggrcgate principal anrount of senior unsecured notes offering to repay rn full all
outstanding horrowings under the thcn outslanding 364-Da1' Ifacilitl'.

In }:cbruary 2017. the Company entered into an amendmenl lo the 2016 Credit Facilit-v to (l) rncur additional term loans in an aggregatc principal amounl
of$500 rnillion and (2) ertend the maturil'ofboth the 2016 Ternr Loan A and the 2016 Revolver to January' 2022.

In Augusl 2017. the Company entered into an amendmcnt to the 2016 Credit l;aciliq to (l) increase conrnitments on the 2016 Revolver to $3.5 billion.
and (2)extend the matunty of thc 2016 Crcdit Facility to August 2022.

In June 201 8, thc Cornpany entcred into an amendmenl t<l the 2016 Credit Facility to ( I ) incrcase conrmitnrcnts on thc 2016 Revolver to $4.25 billion. and
(2) cxtend the maturit) ofthe 2016 Credit Faciliry'to June 2023.

In.lune 2019. the Company entered into an amendmen( to thc 2016 Credit Faciliry to (l) increase commitments on lhc 2016 Revolver to $5.0 billion. and
(2) cxtend the nraturiq'ofthe 2016 Credit Facility to June 2024.

ln June 2021. the Companl,entered into an amendment to the 2016 Crodrl Agreenrent thal provided lirr. among other things. (l) the extensron ol'the
maturit-r'date of the 2016 Credit Facility to Junc 2026. (2) rcductrons to the interest ratc spread 1"Spread")and unuscd commitment fee ("Commitment Fec")
pcrcentagc upon mccting specilied annual suslainabilit-v targets ("'Iargcts") and increascs to the Spread and Commilrnent Fee percentage upon the lailure 1o

mect specified annual sustainability thresholds ("Thresholds") and (3) thc inclusion of"hardurred" I.IBOR transition provisions consistent with those published

bytheAlternaliveRefbrenceRalcCommrnee ThcSpreadandCommitmenlFcearesubjectloanupwardadjustmenlol'up100.05%and0.0l%.rcspeclrvel)'.il'
theCompan) failstoachicvetheThrcsholds.TheSpreadandCommitmentFeearcsub.tccttoadownuardadjustmentofupto0.05%and0.01%.respectivel]'.
il'thc Company achieves the Targets. In January ol'the years 2022 through 2025, thc Company submitted lhe required documentation and received conlirmation
fronr its administrative agent that all largcts ucrc mc( as ofthe rcspective prior fiscal y'ear ends. and- as such. thc Spread and Commitmcnl Fec pcrccntagc

reductions rvere applicd in January 2022 and maintaincd for 2023. 2024 and7025.

In July.2022. the Company entcred into an amcndment 10 the 2016 Crcdit Agreement that providcd ftrr. among other things. (l) the extensron of the

maturiry'date of the 2016 Credit Facilitl'to Jul-v 2027. (2)an increase to the commilments on the 2016 Revolver to $7.0 billion. (3) certain modifications to the

specified sustainabilrty metric and (4) the replacement of the I-IBOR pricing benchmark with a Term SOtrR pricing bcnchmark.
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('omnertial I'aper Program. ln April 2019. the Company eslablishcd a co,nmercial paper program ("CP Program"). pursuant to *hich the Compan1,ma1,

issue short-term. unsecured commcrcial papcr notcs ("Commercial Paper Notes"). Commercial Paper Notes may be issued. repaid and re-issued from timc Lo

tirne. u'ith an aggregat€ principal amount ol Commercial Papcr Noles outstanding under the CP Program al any tirne originally nol to cxceed $L0 billion. 'l he

net proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes arc erpected to be used for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes. u'hcn
outstanding. may vary hul may nol exceed 397 days liom the dale ol'issue. There were no Commercial Paper Notes issued or outslanding during the period that

had origrnal maturitles greater than three months. Thc Commercral Paper Notes are issued undcr customar), lerms in the commercial papcr market and are

issued at a discount liom par or. ahernativell,. can be issued at par and bear varying in(erest ratcs on a ljxed or floating basis. At any point in time. the Companl,
intcnds to maintain availablc comnritmcnts under its 2016 Revolvcr in an amount at least equal lo the amount of Conrmcrcial PaperNotes outstandrng. While
any outstanding commercial paper issuances generalll' have short-term maturities. the Companl classilies the outstanding issuances as long-term based on its

abiliry.- and intent to refinancc the outstanding issuances on a long-tcrm basis.

In March 2022, thc Company increased the size of thc CP I'rogram to permrt the issuance of Conrmercial Paper Notes rn an aggrcgate principal arnount
not to exceed $2.0 billion at an)'Iime outstanding. As ofDeccmber 31.2024. the Company had nct issuances of$1.3 billion under the CP Program.

Securtlt:ed Debt

The Touer Revenue Notes and the Secured Notes. Series 2009-1. Class A-2 ("2009 Securitized Notes") (collectivcly. "Securitized Debt") are obligations
ofspecial purpose entitics and their direct and rndirect subsidiaries (each an "issuer"). all ol which are wholly-owned. indirect subsidianes ol CCl. The Tower
Rcvenue Notes and 2009 Securitized Notes are governed bl separate indentures The 2015'lower Revenuc Notes and 2018 Tower Revenue Notes (each as

dclined below) are governed by one indenture and consist ofmultiple series ol'notcs, each with its own anlicipated repayment date.

In May 2015. the Company issucd $1.0 billron aggregate principal amount of Scnior Secured 'fower Revenue Notes ("201-5 Tower Revenue Notes"),
rvhich were issued pursuant to the existing indenture and havc similar terms and sccuriq as the Compan)'s then outstanding Torver Revenue Notcs. The 2015
'lower Revenue Notes originally consisted of(l) $300 million aggregate principal amount ol-3.222%o senror secured tow'er revenue noles with an anticipated
repayment date ol'May 2022and a linal rnaturiry'date ol'Ma) 2042 ("Series 2015-l Notes") and (2) $700 rnillion aggregate princrpal arnount ol'3.663%o senior
secured tower revenue notes wrth an anticipated repayment date of May 2025 and a final maturiry date of May 2045 ("Series 2015-2 Notes"). The Company
primarily'used thc net proceeds ol the 2015'lower Revenue Notes, together with proceeds received liom the Company's sale ol'the lbrmerly 77.60/o owned
subsidiary that opcrated towers in Australia ("CCAL'). to (l) repa!'$250 million aggregate principal amount ol'previously outstanding August 2010 Tower
Revenue Notcs, (2) repay all ol'thc then outstanding WCP Secured Wireless Site Contracts Revenue Nolcs, Series 2010-l ("WCP Securilized Notes"), (3)

repay portions ofoutstanding borrouings under the 2012 Credit Faciliry and (4) pal related l'ees and expenses. In June 2021. the Cornpany used a portion ofthe
net proceeds liom the 2.500%o senior unsecurcd notes oll'ering due July 203 I to repay in whole the Series 20 I 5- I Notes.

ln July 2018, the Company issucd $1.0 billron aggregate princrpal amount of Senror Secured 'l'owcr Revcnue Notes ("2018 Tower Revcnue Notes").
which wcre issucd pursuanl to thc cxlsting indenture and havc similar tcmrs and sccuritl' as the Compan]"s then outstanding Tower Rcvcnue Notcs. The 201 8

Tower Rcvenuc Notes onginally consistcd of(l) $250 million aggregate principal amount of3.720% senior secured tower revenue noles with an anticipated
rcpayment date of'Ju11'2023 and a final maturity ofJu11,2043 l"Series 2018-l Notcs") and (2) $750 million aggrcgate principal anrounl of4.24l7o senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of July 2028 and a final maturit-v ol'July 2048 ("Scries 2018-2 Notes"). 'fhe Company used the
nct proceeds ofthc 201 8 Towcr Rcvenuc Notcs. togethcr \\'ith cash on hand. to repal,all ofthe prevrousll outstanding Tower Revcnue Notes. Serics 2010-6 and

to pay related fees and expenses. In addrtron (o thc 20ltl'louer Revenue Notes described above. in connection u'ith Exchange Act risk retention rcquirerncnts
("RiskRctentronRules").anindircctsuhsidiaryoftheCompanf issuedandamajority-ownedafl'iliateoftheConrpanypurchascdapproximatcly$53rnillionof
the Senior Secured'fou'er Revenue Notcs. Series 2018-1. Class R-2028 to re(ain an eligible horizontal residual interest (as defined in (he Risk Retcntion Rules)
in an amount cqual to at least 57o ol the I'air value ol'thc 2018'lowcr Rcvenuc Noles. In March2022. the Conrpanl'prcpaid the Series 2018-l Notes.

Thc Socuritized I)cbt is paid solell, liom the cash llows gcneratcd by the operation ol'the lowers held direclly and indirectly bv the issuers ol'the
respective Securitized Debt The Securitized Debt is secured b1'. among other things. ll) a sccuritl interest in substantiall)'all ofthe applicable issuers'

assignable personal propert-v. (2) a pledge o( the equiq, in(erests in each applicablc issuer and (,1) a security interesl in the applicahle issuers' leases with tenan(s

to lcase toi\cr spacc (space
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liccnscs). Thc govcrning instrumcnls ol'trvo indircct suhsidiarics ("Crown nllantic" and "Crown (iT") ol'thc issucrs ol'thc Towcr Rcvcnuc Notcs gcncrally

prevent them l'rom issuing debt and granting liens on their assets without the approval of a subsidiary of Verizon Communications. Consequently. whilc
dtstributions paid by Crown Atlantic and Crown GT will sen'ice the'lbwer Revenue Noles. the-[ouer Revenue Notes are not obligations ol. nor are the'l'ower
Revenuc Notcs securcd by the cash flows or any o(hcr asscts of, Crown Atlantrc and Crown GT. As of December 31,2024. the Securitized Dcbt was

collateralized wilh pcrsonal propertl, and equipment uith an aggregate net book value ol'approximatel\'$667 million. exclusive ol Crown Atlantic and Crown
(iT personal propen) and cqurpmcnt.

Thc exccss cash flows from the issucrs ol'the Securitized Debt. after the pa-v-rnent of prrncipal. inlerest. resen'es. cxpenscs and managcment fecs. arc

distributcd to the Company in accordancc with the terms ol'the indentures. II'the Debt Scn,icc Coverage Ratio ("DSCR") (as delincd in the applicable
governrng loan agrecnrenl) as ofthe end ofany calendar quarter falls to a cenain lcvel. thcn all cxcess cash flow ofthc issucrs ofthc applicable dcht instrument

will be dcposited inlo a reserve account inslcad ol'being released to the Compan1,. 'fhe funds in the reserve accoun( will not be released to the Companv untrl
the DSCR exceeds a certain level for tu'o consecutive calendar quarters. Ifthe DSC'R falls below a certain lcvcl as ol'the end ofany calendar quarter. then all

cash on deposit in Lhe reserve account along with future exccss cash flows of the rssucrs will he applied to prepay the debt with applicablc prcpayment

consideration.

Thc Cornpanl, may rcpay thc Securitized Debl in wholc or in parl at any time. providcd in cach case tha( such prepa)'rnent is accompanied by any

applicablc prepa)'mcnt considcration. The Securitized Debt has covenants and restrictions cusloman'f<rr rated secuntizations. including provisions prohibiting
the issuers liom incurring additional indebtedncss or lurthcr encumbering thcir assets. Thc Company is currcntlf in compliance with these linancial
maintenance cov(]nants.

Bonds Senior Noles

In August 202.1. the Company issued $550 rnillion aggregate principal amount of4.9007o senior unsecured notes due 2029 and $700 million aBgregate

principal amount of5.2007o scnior unsecured notes due 2034 (collectively. "August 2024 Scnior Notes"). The Companl used the nct proceeds fiom the August

2024 ScniorNotcs oll'cring to rcpay a por(ion ol'thc outstanding indcbtcdncss undcr thc C'P Prograrn and pa_'- rclatcd I'ccs and cxpcnscs.

In December 2023. the Company' issued $750 mrllion aggregate principal amounl ol'5.6007o senror unsecured notes due June 2029 and $750 millron
aggregatc principal amounl of5.800% scnior unsecured notes due March 2034 (collcctivell,, "Deccmber 2023 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net

proceeds from the December 2023 Senior Notes offering lo repav a portion of the outslanding indcbtedncss under its conrmcrcial paper program and pay

related fces and cxpenses.

In April 2023. lhe Companl issued $600 mrllion ageregate principal arnount of 4.8007o senior unsecurcd notes due September 2028 and $750 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.1007o senior unsecured notes due May 2033 (collcctively. "April 2023 Senior Notes"). 'fhe Company used the net proceeds

from the April 2023 Scnior Notes offering to repav a ponion of the outstanding indcbtedncss under the 20 I 6 Revolver and pay related fees and expenses.

In January 2023. the Companf issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount o1 5.0007o senior unsecured notes due January' 2028 ("January 2023 Senior
Notes"). The Companl'uscd the net procccds from the January 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portron ofthe outstanding indebtedness under the 2016

Revolvcr and pay related fbes and expenses.

In March 2022.the Company issued 5750 rnillion aggrcgate principal amount of 2.900o/o senior unsecured notes due March 2027 ("March 2022 Senior
Notes"). The Company used the net procceds from the l\4arch 2022 Scnior Notes offering to rcpa),a ponron ofthe oulstanding indebtedness under the CP

Program and pay related lees and expenses.

Each ofthe outstanding senior notes listed rn thc table above (collectively, "Senior Notes") are scnior unsecured obligations ofthe Company and rank

equatly with all ofthc Cornpanl,'s existing and tuture scnior unsecurcd indcbtedness. including obligations under the 2016 Credit l:aciliry, and senior to all ol'
the Company's future subordinated indebtedness. The Senior Notes are structuralll, subordinated to all eristing and future liabilities and obligations of the

Companl-'s subsidiarics. 1-he Companl"s subsidiaries are not guaranl()rs ol'the Senior Notes.

The Compan-v-. may redeem any of the Senior Notes in whole or in part at any time at a price equal to I 00% of the princrpal amounl to be redeemed. plus a
make whole premium. if applicable. and accrued and unpaid interest. if any. 10 the dale of redemption.
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P rev ious h Outstand ing I nde bte dne ss

Bottds Senior Aore.r. ln September 2024. the Company repaid in full the previousll outstanding 3.200% senior unsecured notes due September 2024.

Scheduled Prtncrpal Paymenls and Frnal lllalurrlies

The follou'ing are the scheduled principal pa),ments and final maturities ofthe total debt and other long-term obligatrons ofthe Company outstanding as

ol'December 31.2024, which do not consider the principal pa)'ments that \ ill commence Ibllowing the anticipated repa)'ment dales on the Tower Revenue

Notes. If the Tower Revenue Notes are not paid in full on or prior t<.r their respective anticipaled repa)/menl dates. as applicable, then the Excess Cash Flow (as

delined in the indenture) o('the issuers o1'such notes u'ill be used to repa)' principal ol'the applicable series and class of the Tower Revenue Notes and

additional interest (ofan additional approximately 57o per annum) will accrue on the Tower Revenue Notes.

Totrl D.bt rnd
Tol.l Clsh linrmortizsd Orhtr Obligetions
Obligetions Adjustmcnts. N.t Oursrrndihg

Ieers f,nding Dmember 31,

2025 20!6 2n21 2028 2029

S.ndueop.ncrPap"ra"ro 

-

od
final marurtrcs S 1.951 

(') 
$ 2.?87 $ 3.258 S 2.635 $ 2,478 S il.130 S 24,239 $ (158) $ 24.081

(a) PredoD)lnatclr consrsts ol outstildrng rndebtedncss udcr rhe ('P Progranr ud tl:e I ll-5091 senror unsecucd noles due Julr l0l5

Purc'hases and Redemptrcns o/ Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary ofthe purchascs. pa),ments and redemptlons oflong-ternr deht during the years ended December 31.2024,2023 and2022.

Principrl Amounl Cash Paidr'' (iains

-l l()0oo Scnror llnsecured Notcs

Total

3. I 509'6 Senior Unsecured Notes
'lirtal

'Iowcr Rcvcnuc Notes. Series l0 I 8- I

3.849o,'o Secured Notes

l0 l 6 Revoh'er

Total

750 750

750 7s0 $

lear Ended Decembcr 31.2023

750 750

lcrr Unded l)ecember 31. 2U22

750 5 $750

s251t50 S (3)

(23)1.000 'I,022

(a) Exclusrve ofaccrucd rntercst
(b) Inclusrve of the wite-off of the respectr!e defered finecrng costs

8. Fair \alur Disrlosurcs

The lbllowing table shows the estimated lair values of the Company's financial instruments. along wrth thc carrying amounts of the related assets

lliabilities). See also note 2.

Level in Fair \hlue
Il ierarchy

l)cccmbcr 31.2(12{ l)cccmbcr 31,2023

w *1*c*-
Assets:

('ash and cash equrvalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents. current md
non-curent

L iahi I ities

Total debt and other obligatrons

.$

Iil

$ 1,250 $ 1.274

2

lt9 S

176

24,08 I

lle $

't76

22,398

105 s

176

22.921

105

176

2t,201

\t,ar l nrlcd l)tcenr bcr 3 I, 2(12.1

S

.$
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9. lncome Taxes

Income (loss) belbre income taxes by geographic area is summarized in the table below.

Domestic

Foreign'''

Total

$

(a) Inclusrre of rncome (loss) before rncomc taes from Pueno Rrco

l'he bcnefit ( provision ) for incomc ta\cs consists of the follou rng

$ (3.879) S I.528 $

l'rars l-nded Decemhrr 31,

Ycars Ended December3l

2021 l0tl 7022.

(3.904) $ I,499 $ 1,661

30l925

I,691

7021 2021 2072

Curent:
Fedcral

Foreign

State

Total curent
Delerred:

Federal

['ore i gn

Total defened
'I otal ta\ henclit { provision )

Benefit (proYision ) for rncome taxes at statutory rate
'[il\ ad-iustnrcnt related to REI'l operatrons

Valuation allou'mces

Statc'tar lprovisiun) bcnctit. nel ol li-dcral

Foreign tax
'l otal

S (9) S

(6)

( l0)

17)

(9t

(6)

(e)

2

5

(j)

t2)
( l8) ( l3)

I
(5

(4)

(8)

(8) (3)
(l'l ) $ (26) S (16)

A reconciliation belween the benelit (provision) fbr income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rale to the
income (loss) before income taxes is as follows:

Years Ended December 31.

202{ 2021 2|22

(rlr ) $

$

s 815 $

(822)

(l)
{5)

(il)

--il3

( 355)

i4q
(l)

t2t
( l6) (lt)

S (2.1r $ {26) S (16)
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The components ol'the net del'erred income tax assets and liabilities are as lbllows:
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s

l)ecember 3l
202.r 1.O1.3

Delerred incomc tax habilities:
I)ropcrt\ and equlprncnt

Defencd site rental receivables

Srtc rcntal contrac[s and tcnant rclatronshrps. net

Total defened income tax liabilities

Deli'rred rnconrc ta\ asscts

Other intangible assets, net

Net opratrnt loss cam lirnvards "
Straighl-line rent expense liabil ity

Accrucd lrabrlrtres

Other

Valurlron allorvanccs

Total deferred income tax assets. net

tl
7

t9

s l0
9

t9
47 .l tl

29

I

5

5

6

1j])

29

5

5

5

(l)
43 17

Net deferred income tax asses (liabrlities) j_____!l j_L]_t
(a) Balmc€ rcsulr from the Compmy's lbreign NOLs Due to the Compuy's REIT stats, no fcdcral or slatc NOLS result rn thc Compoy rccording a dcfened income ta asset Sec funher

drscussron sunoudrng thc Compmy's NOL baluccs bclow

The Company operales as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The components ofthe net defened income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

l)uembcr 31. 2l)2,1 Dcccmbcr 31, 2023

Classificetion

Federal

State

Foreign
Total

Gross
\hlu ation
Allowance l.. et Gross

\ aluation
Allorance \et

(2) s S 26$ (l) $ 2:5

(l) (31 ) (26) (l)
(3) S (4) $ r$ (2)

The Company recorded valuation allowances totaling $3 million and $2 million. as ol'December 31.2024 and2023 respectively, related to cenain
deferred tax assets as management believes that rt is not "more lrkely lhan not" tha( the Company will realize the assets.

At December 31.2024. the Compan)'had LJ.S. lederal and state NOI-s of approximatel)'$1.5 billion and $0.4 billion, respectively. which are avarlahle to
ollset future taxable income. These amounts includc approximately S237 millron ol'losses related to stock-based compensation. As footnoted above. thc

Company's federal and state NOLs are valued aI a tax rate of 0o/o for dcfened income tax purposes due to the Companl,'s REIT status. As a result. any

expiratrons ol' these NOI-s r.l'itl not have anv impact on the Compan).''s Consolidated Balance Shcet or the Consolidated Statement o[ Operations and
Comprehensive Inconre (l-oss) The Company also has foreign NOI-s of 53 million. If not utilized. the Companv's U.S. federal NOLs cxpire starting in 2025

and ending in 2036. the remaining state NOLs expire starling in 202-5 and ending in 2043. and the lbreign NOI-S stan expiring in 2028 and ending in 2036 The
federal NOLs potentially expiring in 2025 are $128 million. and the s(ate NOLs potentially exparing in 2025 are $52 million. The utilization of the NO[-s rs

subJect to certain limilations. The Companl,'s IJ.S. federal and state income tax returns generall) remain open to examination by taxing authorities until three
years after the applicable NOl.s havc been used or erpired.

As ol'December 31.2024. tltere were no unrecognized tar henelits that would impact the e|'ective tar rate. il recognized.

From time to time. the Company is subject to examinations by various tax authorities in jurisdictrons in whrch the Company has business operations. At
thistinre.thcCompanl isnotsub.jecttoanlntcrnal Rcr,enucSeniceexamination

The C'ompanl regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessnrents in each of the tax Jurisdictions in which it has business operations. The
Company has no uncertain tax positions as ofDecembcr 31,2024. Additionally, the Company does
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I

(30)

S

$ (l) $

I

(27\
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not believe an),such additional assessments arising fiom examinations or audits will have a material effect on the Company's Iinancial statements.

As ofDecember 31,2024, the Company's deferred tax assets are included in "Other assets, net" and the Company's deferred tax liabilities are included in
"Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

10. Equity

202l "Arthe-Market" Srock Olfering Program

'[he Company previously maintained an "at-the-market" stock offering program through which it had thc right to issue and sell shares ol'its common
stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $750 million 1"2021 ATM Program"). The Company terminatcd its previously outstanding 2021 ATM
Program in March 2024 with lhe entire gross sales price ol'$750 million remaining unsold.

2024 ".4r-the-IIarker" Srock OlJermg Progrom

In March 2024. the Company established a neu'"at-the-market" stock offering program through uhich it may issue and sell shares of its common stock

having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $750 nrillion ('2024 AIM Program"). Sales under the 2024 ATM Program nray be made b1' means ol'ordinary
brokers'transactions on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") or otherwise at market prices prevailing at the time ofsale, al prices relaled to prevailing

markel prrces or. subject to the Company's specilic rnstructions. at negotiated prices. The Company intends to use lhe net proceeds fiom an1' salcs under the

2024 ATM Program for general corporate purposes, which may include (l ) the funding offuture acquisitions or investments or (2) the repayment or repurchase

ol' any outstanding indebtedncss. 'Ihe Company has not sold any shares ol'common stock under lhe 2024 ATM Program.

During the year cnded December 31.2024. the fbllowing dividendsidistributions were declared or paid:

Equitl Type Dcclaration Date Rmord Drtc Pa1'ment Date
Dividends Per

Share

AgBreBate
Paymcnl

Am ount('r

Common Stock

Conrnron Stock

Common Stock

Comnron Stock

Uquit)''lvpc P{yment Datc
( ash Distribution

(per share)
0rdinary Tarable

Dividend (per share)

Qualificd'farablc
I)ividend,(pcr sharc) Section l99A

Dividend (per share)

Non-Taxable
Distribution (pcr

share)

February 21,2024
Ma1'22. 102.1

August 7,2024
Novcnrber 6. l()l-{

1565 $

1565 S

r565 $

t565 S

March 15,2024
June l.l 2014

September 13,2024
December 13.2014

March 28.2024

Junc lll. l0l.l
September 30. 2024

Decenrber i l. l(ll4

s

S

$

S

683

68{

683

682

(a) Inclusrvc ofdrvrdods accrucd for holders ofunvcsted RSUs. whrch wrll bc pard whm md rfthc Rstls vcst

See also note l7 for a discussion of the Company's common stock dividend declared in March 2025

Tax Treatment oJ Divrdends

The following table summarizes, for income tax purposes, the nature of drvidends paid during 2024 on the Company's common stock

Common Stock

Common Stock

Common Stock

Common Stock

March 28,2024
June 18. l0?4

Septcmber 30,2024

December 3l . l0l.l

$

S

s
S

1.565000 $
I 565000 S

l 565000 s
I 565000 S

0.884582 $

0 884581 $

0 884582 S

0 88458t S

0.0t 8596 S

0 0t 8596 $

0.018596 S

0 0t 8596 S

0.865985 $

0 8659E6 S

0 865986 s
0 865986 S

0.6804 I 8

0 6tt04I tt

0 6804I8
06804t8

(a) Qualrfred taxablc drvrdcnd md sectron l99A dn'rdend mouts are rncluded rn ordrnary taable dn'rdend mouts
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\oTES TO CO\SOLtI)ATED FI\..t\CtAL ST.{TEME\TS - 
(Oonrinued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, excrpt pcr share amounts)

Purchases oJ the Compary,'s Common Stock

Durrng the 1,ears ended Deccmber 31.2024.2023 and 2022, the Company purchascd 0.3 million,0.2 million and 0.4 million shares ol its common stock,

rcspectively, utilizing $33 million, $30 million and $65 million rn cash. respectively'. The shares of common stock purchascd relate to shares wilhheld in
connection with the paymcnt ol'withholding taxes upon vesling of RSI-ls.

ll. Stock-based (-ompensation

Stoc k C onrpe nsal ton P lans

Pursuant to stockholder approved plans, the Company has granted s(ock-based awards to cerlain emplolees. consultants or non-emplol'ee directors ofthe
Companl and rts subsidiaries or alfiliatcs. Following the slockholder approval of the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2022 LflP"), no further awards can be

made under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2013 LTIP"). As of December 31,2024. the Companl'had approximately 0.4 million and 0.1 million shares

available {br issuance underexisting and future awards, respectively,, pursuant to the 2013 LTIP and approximately 2.2 million and I 1.9 million shares available
for issuance under erisling and fulure awards. respectively. pursuant to the 2022 t-TIP

Restricted Stock LJnts

'ilre Company issues RS(Js to certain executives and employees. Each RSLJ represents a conlingent right to receive one share ol'the Company's common
stock subjcct to satisfaction ofthe applicable vesting lerms. The RSIJs granted lo cerlain executives and cmployees includc (l ) annual awards that contain only
senice-based conditions, (2) annual perlbrmance awards lhat vesl subject lo the achievement ofcertain stock perlbrmance-based metrics (as lu(her described

below). (3) annual performance awards that vest sub-lect to the achievement ofthe Company's performance relaled to its average relurn on invested capital (as

f'urther described below), (4) ner,l hire, promotional or relocation arvards that generalll conlain only sen'ice-based vesling conditions and (5) olher awards

relaled to specific busrness initiatives or compensalion ob.jectives including retention and merger integration. Generally. such auards vest over periods of
approx imatel-v three vears.

The following is a summary of the RSIJ activity during the year ended Decembcr 31.2024.

RSlrs

Outstanding at the beginning ofyear
Grantcrl

Vested

I- orlc'itcd

Ou(standing at end ofyear

'l'he Company Branted approximately 1.4 million RS(ls to its executives and certain other employees fur the year ended December 31.2024.
approximately 1.6 million RSlls for the year ended December 31.202.1 and approximatell 0.9 rnillion RSUs for the ),ear ended Deccmber 31" 2022. The
ueighted-average granCdate fair value per share ofthe grants for the years ended December 31.2O24.2023 and 2022 was S107.9E. $126.56 and $146.52 pcr
share. respectively. 1'he weighted-average requisitc service period lbr the RSUs granted during 2024 was approximately 2.2\'ears.

Of the approximatell, 1.4 million RS[Js granted during the year ended December 31.2024. (l) approximately 1.2 million RSLIs were granted to the

Company's executivc and ccnain othcr emplol'ces and generalll'werc sub.ject to lime-based vesting conditions. vesting over a three-)'ear period 12)
approx imale ly 0. I million RSt.ls we re granted to the Company's executives and cerlain other employees and may vest on the third anniversary of the granl dale

based upon the Company's total stockholder return compared 1rl that ofthe conrpanies in the Standard & Poor's 500 Index and 13) approximately 0.1 million
RSL.ls were granted to the Company's executives and certain other employees and may vesl on the third anniversary ofthe grant date hased upon the Company's
average return on invested capital ldefined as Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in thc Restricted Stock Unrt Agreemcnl l'or 2022 I-ong-'ferm Inccntive Plan
(effective August 1.2022)) less cash taxes paid. divided by the Company's historical gross investment in (a) property and equipment lexcluding the impact of
construclion in proccss). (b) site rental contracts and tcnant relationships and (c) good*'ill) over a three-vear perforrnance period. Certain RSU agreements

contain provisions thal result in forfeiture hy the employec of any unvesled shares in the evenl that the Compan-v's common stock does not achieve certain
nrarkct performance targets. To thc ertent that the requisite servicc is rendered. compensation cost for accounling purposes is not reversed. rather. it is

recognized regardless ofwhether or not the market performance target is achieved.
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NOTES TO CONSOI.IDATED FINANCIAt. STATEMENTS - 
(Oontinued)

(Tebular dollars in millions, excrpt per shere amounts)

The following table summarizcs the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo sirnulation to dctermine thc grant-date farr value for the RSUs with market
conditions granted during the years ended December 31,2024.2023 and2022.

lears Ended l)ccembcr 31.

2021 t{r23 2022

Risk-free rate

Erpectcd r olatiliq,
Expected drvidend rate

4.4 %
27 ',"
550h

4.5 o/o

4.6 9;

1 .7 0/o

3l'/o
3.0 o/o

The Companl, recognized aggregale stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs of $lll million, $139 million and $134 million for the ),ears
ended December 31.2024.2023 and 2022, respectively. The aggregale unrecognized compensation (net of estimated lbrleitures) relatcd to RSUs at
Decembcr 3l . 2024 is S? I million and is cstimated to be recognized over a u'eighted-average period of less than one year

1'he following table is a surnmary of the RSI-IS vested durrng thc 1,ears ended December 31.2024.2023 and2022.

Totrl Shares
Vested

l'air Veluc, on
\ears Ended December Jl. \ esting Date

2024

2023

2022

Stock-based compensalion expense, net:

Srte rcntal costs of operatrons

Serviccs md other costs of operations

Scllrng. general and a.lmlnrsl.rarvc c\pen5cs

Total stock-bascd compensation cxp€nse, net

(ln millkil$ ol shufts)

$

)clrs l-nded Deccmber Jl.

t02
q2

187

Stoc k-based Conlpensotion Expense,,Net

The following table discloscs the components ofstock-based compensation expense, net.

2021 2023 2022

s t9 5;

6

t06

19 li
l0

lt8

Il
l0

l]8
S l3r $ 157 S t56

12. Commitments end Contingencies

Other !t'latlers

The Company rs involved in various claims. assessments, lawsuits or proceedings arising in the ordinary course ofbusiness. While there are uncertaintrcs
inherent in the ultimate outcome of such matters and it is impossible to prescntl)' determinc the ultimate cos(s or losses that may be incurred. if any.
management believes the adverse resolution ofsuch uncerlaintres and the incurrence ofsuch costs should no( have a material adverse ellecl on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Cornpany and certain of its subsidiaries are also contingently liablc lor commitments or
performance Buarantees arising in the ordrnan'course ofbusincss. including cerlain letters ofcredit or sureN bonds.

See note l3 for a discussion ofoperating lease commitments. In addition. as mentioned in note 4. the Companl' has the option to purchase approximately
54% of'its towers al the end ol'their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options.

13. Leases

I.essor Tenanl Leases

See nole 3 for further information regarding the contractual amounts owed to the Company pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as ofDecember 31,2024
and othcr inlirrmation.
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\oTES TO CO\SO|.rI)At'LD F-rN.r\CI.r L ST.\'l'E\r E\TS - (Conrin ued)
('l ahular dollars in millions. rrcrpt prr sharr amounts)

Lessee Operating Leases

The components ofthe Company's operatinB lease expense are as follows

Yeers [nded l)acemhrr 3l
202{ 2023 2t)22

[,ease cost
( )pcratrng Iease e\pcnse ''
Variable lease expense,r')

Total leasc c\pcnse ''

s 706

209

5 708 S

205

660
't75

915 S ql3 $ 835

(a) Represents thc Company's operatlnB lrce cxpmsc rclated to rts ROU assets

6set) Such contingcncres ac recognizcd as expcnsc in thc perrod they ue resolvcd
(c) ExcludestrosedirectoperatrngexpensesaccoutedforpuswttoaccoutingguldaccoutsldethescopeofASC842

Lessee Finance l-eases

The l'ast majority of the Company's finance leases are related to the towers subjecl to prepaid master lease agreements with AT&T and T-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). and are recorded as "Property and equrpment. net" on the consolidated balance sheet. See

note 4 for further discussion ofthe Company's prepaid master lease agreements.

The components ofthe Company's finance leases are as follows:

As of Decem ber 31. 2024 .{s of Decrmher.Sl. f02.}

(iross Carrying \hlue
Accum ulated
,{mortization Net Book lhlue Gross Carrying Velue

.{ccu nr ulattd
tm ortizAtion r.-et Book \ilue

Master Prcpaid Lcases

Finance L.eases

Total

s 4,234 $ (3.007) s
(,18 )

1,227 $

_.i8

4.243 $

1t
(2.832) $

(49 i

t.4 il
l2,{6

$ 4.320 $ (3,055) $ 1.265 $ 4.314 S (2.881) S 1.433

For the year ended December 31"2024. the Company recorded $l9l million to "Depreciation, amortization and accretion" related to finance leases and
recorded $ I 82 million in each of the years ended December 3l .2023 and December 31,2022.

Othe r Le ssee lnlormatton

As ol'December 31,2024, the Company's weighted-average remainrng lease term and weighted-average discounl rate lbr operating leases were l5 years

and 4 .9o/o, respectively.

The following table rs a summary of the Companr/s maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31.2024.

Ycrrs Ending Dcccmbcr Jl

Thereeftcr
Total undisrountcd

lerse prvments
l,cs:: Imputcd Tolel opcrrting lcrsc

int€rcst lirbiliticr202S 2026 2021 2024 2079

Operatingleases'"' $ 558 S 551 $ 547 $ 543 $ 538 S 5,682 $ 8.419 $ (2.887) $ 5,532

armqemenls are excluded liom the ('ompanv's operatrnr leue lrabrlrry* Such contrngencres ae rccognrzed as expensc rn lhc penod rhey ae resolvcd

14. Opcreting Segments and Concrntretions of Credit Risk

Reportable Segnenls

'Ihe Company's operaling segments. which are also its reporlable segments. consist of ( I ) 
'Iowers and (2) Fiber. The Towers segment provides access.

including space or capaciry.'. to thc Company's more than 40.000 towers geographicall),dispersed throughout the tJ.S. The Towers segment also reflects certain
ancillar-1' servlces relating to the Compan)''s torrcrs. predominately consisting of site development serviccs and installatron services. See note l6 to the
Cornpany's consolidatcd financial staiements for a discussion of the C--ompan1,'s 2023 Restructuring Plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a

Towers product offering and note l7 for a discussion ofthe sale ofthe Fiber segment which is cxpec(ed to close in the first halfof2026. The Fiber segment
provides access. including space or capacis', to the Compan),'s approxirnatell'( I )
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\O'I-ES TO CO\SOLII),I'I-EI) FI\.tr.-('lAl. ST.tTl.\tE\TS - 
(('ontinued)

(-Iahular dollars in millions, rx(cpt per sharr amr)unts)

105.000 small cells either currently gencrating revenuc or under contract and 12) 90.000 route milcs offiber primarrly supporting small cells and fiber solutions
gcographicall-v dispersed throughout thc [J.S.

The Company's President and Chief Executive Officer functions as the chief operatin8 decision makcr ("CODM"). 1-he measuremcnt of profit or loss
pnmarily used by the CODM to cvaluate the perlbrmance ol'the Cornpanl,'s operating segrncnts is scgment operaling profit lloss). The CODM uses scgmcnt
operating profit (loss) to evaluale budget-to-actual variances to assist in deciding whether (o ( I ) reinvest capital into the Company's operating segments by

constructing new assets. acquire new assets or land interests (which primarily relate to land assels under towers). or make improvements and struclural
enhancements to our existing infrastructure, (2) rcturn cash generated to stockholders in the lorm ofdividends. (3) purchase shares ofour common stock. or (4)
repurchase, repay. or rcdeem the Company's debt.'fhe CODM also uses scgment op€rating prolil (loss) in tlte evaluation o1'pricing ol'new pro.jects and new
lenant agreements. Additionally, thc Company CODM revieu's segment adjusted site rental gross margin and segment adjusted services and other gross margln.
-lhe CODM uses segment adjusted site rental gross margin and segment adjusted services and other gross margin to ( I ) evaluale the economic productivify" ol'
the Conrpany's operating scgmenl.s. (2) identi$ underlying business trends that are impacting the Company's segment performancc. (3) assist in making
resource allocation decisions and (4) aid in thc preparation ofthe annual operaling budgct for the Compan),'s operaling seBmcnts.

The Company delines segment operaling prolit (loss) as segmenl site rental revenues plus scgment services and other revenues. lcss segmenl sile renlal
costs ofoperations. segment sen'ices and other costs ofoperations. and segment selling. gcneral and administrative expenses. each ofwhich excludes stock-
based compcnsation. nct, and prepaid lease purchase pnce adjuslmenls, which are recorded in the respectrve consolidated figures.'Ihc Company defines
segment ad.justed site rcntal gross margin as segment site rental revcnues less scgment site rental cos(s of operations. excluding stock-based compcnsat.ion

expense. net and amortization ol prepard lease purchase price ad.justments recorded in consolidated site rental costs of operations. The Company defines
segment adjusted sen,rces and other gross margin as segment sen,ices and other revenues less segment sen,ices and other cos(s ofoperations. excluding stock-
based compensation expensc, nel recorded in consolidated scrvices and other costs of operations. All oi these measurements are exclusive of deprccration,
arrlonization and accretion. which are shown separatel),.

Costs that are drrectll attributable to Towers and I'-rbcr arc assigncd to thosc respective seqnrcnts. Additionally. certain costs are sharetl across scgments
and are reflccted in the Ctrnrpany"s segmcnt measures through allocations thai managemcnt believcs to be reasonable . 'fhc "Other Non-Scgment Itcms" column.
which does not mcct the crilcria to be classified as a rcportablc segment. ( I ) rcprcscnts amounts excludcd liom spccilic segnrents. such as restructuring charges
(credits). assct writc-doun chargcs. gooduill impairment. acquisition and rntegratron costs. depreciation. amortization and accretion. amortization ofprepaid
lcase purchasc price adjustnrents. inlcrcst cxpense and amortizalion ol'delerred linancing costs. nel. gains (losscs) on rctiremenl ol'long-term obligations.
intcres( income. other income (cxpense). stock-based compsnsation expense. nst and ccnain selling. gcneral and administrative expenses. and (2) reconciles
segment opcrating prolil (loss) to income (loss) befbre income taxcs. as the amounts are nol utilized in assessing each segmcnl's perlbrmance. The "Othcr Non-
Scgment ltems" total assets balance includes corporatc asscts such as cash and cash equivalcnts and restrrctcd cash and cash equivalents uhich have not bcen

allocatcd to specilic segments. For both the'lowers and []ibcr segments. othcr segmenl cosls ol'operations primarily consists of( I ) utilities, (2) properl)- laxes.
(3) third-part) costs rclated to ancillarl'sen,ices performed and (4) various othcr insignificant cxpcnses. Other segrncnt selling. gcncral and administratrve
expcnscs primarily contains an allocation ofcorporate lacilities expense relating to employces opcrating lbr cach respcctivc segment and extcrnal selling costs
in the Fiber scgment. l-hcre are no significant revenues resulting liom lransaclions betwcen thc Companl"s operalinB segmenls.
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\OTES TO ('ONSOLIDATED r-1.\A\(-lAL ST.{T}-}IENTS - (Continued)
('Iahular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2014 ,Segment Results and Stgntfcont Seg,nent Expenses

Segnrenl slte rental revenues

Scgmcnl sr'rylces and 0lhcr revenucs

Segnrent revenues

Segment srlc rcntal costs ol opcralrons

Segn)ent services and other costs ol'operations

Scgmcnl costs o1'operatr0ns "'r'

Segmcnt adlusted srte rental gross nrargrn

Scgmcnt adJusted sen rces and othcr gross nrargrn

Segnrent selling. general and administmtive expenses'r')

Scgmcnl opcratrng prolit t loss)

Other selling, general and administrative expenses'r')

Stock-bascd conrpcnsatlon e\pensc. net

Dcprccration. amortizatron and accrction

Restructunng chargcs

Intcresl expense md amonization ofdefened tinancing costs. nel
(irrrdrvrll lmpalrmcnt

Other (income) expenses to rcconcile lo incomc (loss) bcfbre incomc t&xes(')

Incomc (loss) belirrc rncomr tares

Capital crpcnditurcs
'li>tal asscts (at lear entl)

Total goodwrll (at year end)

Segment costs of operations

l.easc ctpcnsc

Employee compensation expcnse

Rcparrs and nrarntcnancc c\pcnsc

Othcr segment costs of operatrons expcnse
'lotal scgment costs ol ()pcralrons "r"

Segment sellrng. gcncral and admtnrstratr\ e e\fEnscs

I impltrl ee conrpcrrsa(ion c\pcnsc
Other segment sellrng. general and administrative e\penses

'll)tal sc(mcnl sc'llrng- gcneral and admrntstrirltvc ctpcttscs'r'

Ycar Ended December 3t ?021

Towers l iber
Other \on-Segment

Itcms 'lotal

s 4,266 S

t9l
2,092

l8
S 6,158

II0
14,458

959

l0l
I .060

3._107

It0
734

t2

5,568

I ^69-1

lt3
1.806746

t.358 4.665

97

252

9I

76 t76

3.322

r33 $

l().8t4 5

5.r27 S

r.188

t,0,t5
I1.183

348

l3l
l,738

| ()')

932
.l.95lit

t73

4.5 10

348

l3l
1,738

t09

932
.1.958

t73

S

$

s

$

s

5

$

$ rl 87qt

.l.l s | .lll
6le S il.7l('

- s 5.117

Year Endcd Dcccmhcr Jl 2021

lbwers
Other Non-Segmcnt

Itemsl iher 'lbta 
I

369

95

t20

t62

S 745 S

90

't7l

S 5 l.lt4
185

174

333

r .060 716 1.806

r 60 325

I 88 275

6l
l3

t0l
74

t76 S

(a) Exclusrvc of dcprcc,anon. mofirzatron md accrctron shom scpaarcly

cxpcnsc. net of$106 mrllron
(c) See consolrdatcd statcment ofoperatrons and comprehensrle lncome (loss) for l'urthcr rnfomration
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\OTtls TO ('ONSOLID,\TED FI\A\(-IAl. ST.{TIiMf,NTS - (Oontinued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2023 Segment Results and Sigtttficant Segment Expenses

Segment sile rental revenues

Scgment serurccs and oth!'r rcvenucs

Segnrent revenues

Scgnrent srte rcntal costs ol-()peratrorrs

Segnrent services and other costs of operations

Segnrent costs ()l operatrons '' t'

Segnrent adlusted site renul g,ross nrargrn

Scgnrent atJ;usted sen rccs and othcr Bross nrar[rn

Segnrent selling. general and administrative expenses't')

Scgnrcnt operatrng prolit { loss }

Other selling, general and administrative expensesrr')

Stock-bascd c()nrpensatlon c\pensc. net

Depreciatron. amonizauon and accretron

Restructurrng chargcs

lntcrest expensc and amortization ol def'ened tinancinB cosls, nel

Other (rncome) c\penscs to rcconcilc to incomc (l0ss) hctbrc'rncomc ta\cs'''
Income ( loss) belbre income taxes

Caprtal crpcnditures

Total assets (at vear end)

Total good$rll (al vcar cnd)

Segment costs of operations:

I case erpensc

Employee compensation expense

llcprrrs and marntenance c\Pcnsc

Other segment cosls ot'operations expense

Total sc'grnent c(,s(s ol'opcratrons "l"
Segment selling. general and admrnrstratlve expenses.

I:rnplor cc c()mpensrtron c\pcnsc

Other segment selling. general and administrative expenses

Total segmcnt scllrng. gcneral and rdmrnrstralrlc crpcnscs'"

Yrar Lndcd l)ccember Jl 2021

lirsers l'iber
Other Non-Segment

Itcms Tota I

$ 4.313 $
.12 I

2,219

2{t

$ 6,532

4{9
4,734

943

294

2.247

69tt

6lt6

6,98t

| .629

306

1.237 I .935

3,370
127

104

1,533

l6
le4

4,903

t.l-'1

2S8

l.3e-1

194 $

21,550 $

5.r27 $

1.355

t .175 $

r 6,308 S

.1.958 ti

333

r57

I,754

{r5

850

4t

"t.7{rJ

333

157
't.751

85

850

4l

S

(
| .518

s

$

$

55

669

s
g

s

1.424

38,527

I 0.085

liar l,nded f)ecember 3l 202J

Towers Fibcr
Other Non-Segment

Items Total

S 73? S

122

58

325

34'7 S

98

to'7

146

| .079

220
t65

47t

S

t.t37 698 I .9i5

8l
22

ll7
77

171

t62
t70
261

l0.l S t9.r s 333 S 6,1 I

(a) Exclusrve of dcpreciation. mortiztron md accretron shom sepeately

cxpcnsc. net of$128 mrllron
(c) See consolrdatcd statcmcnt ofoperatrons od comprehcnsrve rncomc (loss) for funher rnfomatron
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('Iabular dollars in millions, except per shrre emounts)

2022 Segrnent Results and Srgntficant Segment Expenses

Segnrent srte rental revenues

Scgnrenl scn'rccs and other rcr cnucs

Segmcnt revenues

Segnrent srte rcntal costs ol opcratrons

Segnrent servrces and other costs ofoperations

Segnrent costs ol oferalrons''r'r"

Segnrcnt ad;usted srte renul gross nralgrn

Segn:ent adlusted scn rccs and othcr Sross nrargrn

Segnlent selling. general and administrative expensesir't

Segnrcnt operatrng prolit 1loss1

Other selling, general and administrative expenses'r'r

Stock-hascd cl)mpcnsatlon e\pensc. nct

Dcprcciatrorr. amonization and accrction

Intcrcst crpensc arld amonlzatlon ol'dcltncd linancing costs. nct

Othcr (income) expenses to rcconcile lo income (loss) before income taxesr")

lncome lloss) bclirrc incomc (arcs

Capital cxpendrturcs
'l'otal asscts { at \ car end )

Total gmdu'ill (at _vear end)

Segment costs of operatrons

I.ease crpense

Employee compensation expense

Rcpairs and maintenance erpensc

Oth€r segment costs ofoperations erpense
'lolal segnrent cosls ol'operations"' 1"

Segment sellrng. general and admrnrstratrte expenses

[:rnplol ce c0mpcnsation !-\pensc

Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses
'Iotal segnrent sellint.t. tcneral and adminrstrative cxpenses'r"

Towcrs

Ycar Ended Deccmber 2022

t ibcr
Othcr \on-Segment

Itcms

1,967

ll
1.s79

I.3 t7
_l

t90

I.I_10

3t't
156

1,707

fr99

87

1,058 s
t6 010 s

4,958 $

Ycar Ended l)ecembcr 3l, 2022

'litral

$ 4,322 S $ 6,18c

697685

5,007
ql8

447

6,986

1.568

456

650

I
| .365 659 2.024

3,404

2i8
il5

i s)7

4,72t
l.1l
305

4.657

317

t56

I,707
699

87

s

1.028

259
t53

584

s I 6r)l

s

s

$

185 $

22.2t0 S

5,127 $

67

701

$

S

$

r,3t0
-18.921

I 0,085

lbscrs Fibcr
Other Non-Segment

Items Total

$ $ s321

100

97

l4l

707

159

56

443

5

t.365

9-1

27

659 2.014

il8
72 134

394

228

190 s 3t7 $

(a) Exclusrve of deprccratron. monratlon &d accretron shom scpaately

cxpensc, ncr of Sl 28 m rllron
(c) See consolrdatcd statenrent ofoperations md comprehensive rncome (loss) for f'urthcr infomatron
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Major knanls

'the lbllowing table summarizes the percentaS,e of the consolidated revenues lbr those tenants accounting lbr more than l0% ol'the Company's
consol idated rcvcnues.

\tars Ended December 31,

202.1 202J 2022

T-Mobile

Al&I
Verizon Wireless
'l-ota 

I

35 q'o

I9 oo

lg oA

38 96

l9 oo

I I 9,i,

38 o/o

t8%
18 o/o

73oo 74 o/o

(:oncentratiotls of Credit Risk

Financial inslruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations ofcredit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
cash equivalents and trade recetvables. The Cornpany mitigates its risk with respecl to cash and cash equivalents b1'maintaining such deposits at high credit
qualify financial instilutions and monitoring the credit ratings ofthose institutions. The Company's restricted cash and cash equrvalents are predominately held
and directed by a trustee (sce note 2).

-fhe Companl derives the largest portion ol'its revenues fiom tenants in the wirelcss industry. The Companl also has a concentration in its volunre of
business with T-Mobile. AT&T and Verizon Wirelcss or their agents that accoun(s for a significant porlion ofthe Companl,'s revcnues, reccivables and deferrcd
sile renlal reccivables. The Company mitigates its concentrations ol'credil risk wrth respect to trad€ receivables by activel5, monitoring the crcdilworthiness o1'

its tenants, thc use ol'tenant lcases with contraclually dcterminablc pa)'ment tcrms or proactive managcment ofpast due balanccs.

15. Supplementel Cash Flo*' Information

Thc lollowing tablc is a sunrmary ol'thc supplcmcntal cash llow inlbrmation during thc ycars cndcd Dcccmbcr 31.2024.2023 and2022

Years Ended December 31,

2074 1023 2M,2

Supplemental disclosure of cash tlorv inforn:ation:
Cxsh pa\ mcnts rclated 10 opcratrng lcasc lrahrlitres''" $ 566 S

lnterest paid 895

Income tarcs pard 17

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investrng and tinancing activitres.

R(XI asscts rccorded rn crchange tbr opcratrnq leasc lrahrlrtres .l

Increase {decrease) in accounls payable for purchases ofpropert-v and equipment (33)

Caprtalrzcd stock-based eorlpcnsatron ll
Purchase ofproperw and equlpment under llnance leases and installment land purchases 69

The reconciliation ofcash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents reponed within various lines on thc consolidated balance sheet to
amounls reponed in the consolidated stalement ofcash flows is shown below.

As of Dccem her 31,

2021 202J 2[22

571 $

800

t8

560

684

1(l

t2

36

lq
62

t9l
(5)

ll
28

Cash and cash cquivalens
Restricled cash and cash equivalenls. current

Restricted cash and cash equivalens reported within othcr assets, net

Cash and cash equir alents and restricted cash and cash equi\ alents

s lr9 s
tlt

5

105 s
t7t

5

156

166

5

s 295 $ 281 S

92
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16. Rrstrutturing

2023 Reslruauring Plan

In July 2023, the Company initiated the 2023 Restructuring Plan as part ofits efforts to reduce costs to better align the Company's operational needs with
lower tower activir)*. The 2023 Restructuring Plan included reducrng the Companl's total employee headcount b1'approximatell, l5%. disconrinurng
installation services as a Towers product offering while continurng to offer site development services on Company towers, and consolidating office space.

Thc 2023 Restructuring Plan included chargcs related to the ( I ) employee headcount reduction, including severance, slock-bascd compensation and other
one-titne (erminatron benelits and (2) ollice space consolidation. which included remarning obligations under l'aciliry- leases and non-cash chargcs for
accelerated depreciation. The actions associated with thc 2023 Restructuring Plan were substantially completed and related charges were recorded by June 30,
2024.'l'he payments tbr the cmployee headcount reduction were completed in 2024. while pavmenls lbr the oflice space consolrdation are expected lo be

completedin2032 Thefollowingtablessummarizetheactivitiesrelatcdtothe2023 RestructuringPlanfortheyearsendedDecember3l.202land2023:

\ter Endcd Drccmbcr ll
202{ 202.1

Employee
lltadrount Offict Spacc

Consolidrtion

tlmploy..
lleedcount

Rrduction 'l'otrl Rrduction
Oflicc Sp.cG
Consolidrlion Totrl

Lrabilrty as of the beginning of the respective year

Charres (crcdrtsl

Payrnents

Non-cash rtLIns

Lrabrlrry as ofrhe end ofthe respectrve vear

S t6 s

( l4)

12 $
g

{12)

t8s
9

(26)

-s
63

\46)

s

ll
(4)
(6)

s 2$
({) (.1) (l)
ss 7$ 16 s 12 S

20 2 4 Re structur ing P lan

ln June 2024, the Company initiated the 2024 Restructuring Plan as pan of its efforts to drive opcrational elllciencies and reduce operating costs and
capital expenditures. with a primary focus on the Company's Fiber segment. As a result. the Companl'announced a reduction of the Company's total emplol,ee
hcadcount by more than l0% and the closing ofcertain ofTices.

The 202:l Restructuring Plan includes charges related to the (l) employee headcount reduction, including severance, slock-based compensation and other
one-1ime lermination benelits and (2) o|ice closures, whrch includes remaininB obligalions under lacilit_v leases and non-cash charges lbr accelerated
depreciation. The actions associated u'ith the 202.1 Restrucruring Plan were substantiallv completed and the related charges were recorded by December 31.
2024, while the payments are expected lo be completed for the emplol'ee headcount reduction in 2025 and ofilce closures in 2033. The Company may incur
other charges or cash expenditures nol currently contemplated due to unanticipated cvents that ma), occur. including in connection with the implementation of
the 2024 Restructurrng Plan.

The following table summarizes the aclrvities relaled to the 2024 Restructuring Plan for the year ended Dccember 31,2024.

l.rr End.d D.ccnb.r 31. 2024

Employcc Hcrdcount
Rcduclion Offic. Sprr. Consolidrtion Tol el

Liabrlit-v as of December 31. 2023
('hargcs lcrcdrtsl
Payments

Non-caslr rtems

Liabiliqv as of December 31. 2024

S s s

3C

(34)

4

6l
(r0) $
(ll) S

100

(44)

,18$ 9$ 39S

As of December 31. 2024, the liability for restructuring charges is included in "Other accrued Iiabilrtiss" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the
consolidated halancc sheet. and the corresponding erpense is included in "Restructuring charges" on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income ( loss).
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The Cornpanl' does not allocatc restructuring charges betw€en its opcrating segmenls. Il'charges relaled to the Restructuring Plans were allocaled to
opcrating segments. for the year cnded December 31,2024. $13 million and $64 million ofthe aforementioned charge would have becn allocatcd to the
Companl's Towers anrl I:iber segmcnls. r{.'specliveh. uith the remaining $-32 million allocated to (Jther. Similarll', lbr the year ended l)ecember 31.2023.
$44 millitrn and Sl8 million oI the aforemenlioned charge would havc been allocated to thc Conlpany's Towcrs and Fiber scgment. rcspectively, with the
renraining $23 million allocated to O(hcr.

11. Subsequent [-vents

Conmon Stock Di'rdend

On February 26,2025. thc Company's hoard ofdirectors declared a quanerly cash dividend of$1.565 per common share. The quarterly drvidend will he
pal"ahf e on March 3 I . 2025. to common stockholdcrs o{'record as o l' March I 4. 2025.

Strutegtc f'tber Tt an.sactrcn

On March 13.2025, lhe Company signed the Strategic Fiber Agrcement lo sell rts Fiber Business. r,l'ith Zayo acquinng the fibcr solutions business and
EQTacqurring the snrall cell business. Under thc Strategic Fiber Agrccment. th€ Company will rcceive $8.5 billion in aggregate. sub.ject to ccrtain closing
adjustments.'[he Fiber Business did not mcet thc criteria for asseis held for sale as ofDecember 31.2024, and therefore remains presented as a component of
continuing operations. In subsequent periods. the Fiber Business will be prcsented as a discontinucd operation. and rts net assets will be classificd as held for
sale and comparable prior periods will be recast to reflcct this change. lJpon classification as hcld for sale in the first quarter ol'2025. the Company expects to
recognize a loss ol'betwecn $700 million and $800 nrillion. inclusive ol'eslimated transaction f'ees. This Stralegic []iber transacliorr is expected to closc in the
first halfof2026. subject to certain closing condrtions and regulatury approvals.

9.1
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Cautionary Language Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form l0-K ("2023 Form l0-K") contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management's

expectations as of the liling date ol'this report rvith the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SF,C"). Statements that are not historical

facts are hereby identified as fom'ard-looking statements. In addition, words such as "estimate." "anticipate." "project," "plan," "intend."

"believe." "expect." "likely." "predicted." "positioned." "continue," "target." "seek." "focus" and anv variations ofthese rvords and similar

exprcssions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board ol[)ircctors and Stockholders of
Crou'n Castle Inc.

Opinions on the Finon('ial Stulemenls ond lnlernol Conlrul over Financiol Reyrrling

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balancc sheet ol'Crorvn Castle Inc. and its subsidiaries (thc "Company") as ol'
Deccmber 31.2023 and2022. and the related consolidated statemcnts of operations and comprehensive income (loss). of cquitl.'and ol'
cash llolr's lbr each o1'thc three years in the period ended December 3l- 2023. including the related notcs and llnancial statement

schedules listcd in the index appcaring under Item I5(aX2) (collectivell,rcl'erred to as thc "consolidatcd frnancial statements"). Wc also

havc auditcd the Company's internal control over financial rcporting as of Deccmber 31.2023. based on criteria established in lnternal

Control - Intcgrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ol'the l'readu,a),Commission (COSO).

In our opinion. the consolidated l'inancial statements rcl'erred to above present lairly. in all matcrial rcspccts, thc financial position o[the
Company as of Dccember 31,2023 antl 2022, and thc results ol'its operations and its cash l1ou.s lor each of thc lhree years in the pcriod

ended December 31. 2023 in conformit;* rlith accountin_e principlcs gencralll acceptcd in thc L.lnitcd States of America. Also in our

opinion. thc Ciompany maintaincd. in all material rcspects. cfl'ective internal control over llnancial rcportinS as of Dccember 31.2023.
bascd on criteria established in Intcrnal Control - Integrated Iramer.r'ork (2013)issued b1'the COSO.

Basis.for Opinions

'fhc Company's managcnrcnt is rcsponsiblc lirr thcsc consolidatcd llnancial statcmcnts. lbr maintaining clicctivc intcrnal control ovcr
llnancial reportin-q. and lor its assessment ol'the el'l'ectiveness ol' internal control over llnancial reporting. included in Management's

Report on Internal Control O'r,cr Financial Rcporting appearing under ltem 9A. Our responsibility'is to exprcss opinions on the

Companl''s consolidated llnancial statcments and on the Conrpany's irrternal control over tlnancial reporting based on our audits. We are

a public accounting Iirm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (tlnited States) (PCAOB) and arc required to

be independent'rvith respcct to the Company in accordance uith thc (J.S. l'ederal securitics laus and thc applicable rules and regulat.ions

of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance rvith thc standards ol'the PCAOB.'l-hose standards require that \\'e plan and pcrform the audits to

obtain reasonable assurance about rvhether the consolidated flnancial statements are liee olmatcrial misstatement. rlhether due to crror

or fraud. and rvhcthcr ell'cctive internal control over Ilnancial rcporling rvas maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of'the consolidated linancial statemcnts included per{trrming procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement ol'the
consolidatcd llnancial statements. r.r'hether due to error or liaud. and perlorming procedures that respond to those risks. Such proccdures

included examining. on a tesl basis, evidencc rcgarding the amounts and disclosures in thc consolidated llnancial statements. Oul audits

also includcd evaluating thc accounting principles uscd and signiticant estimates made bl management. as u'ell as evaluating the overall
prescntalion ol' the consolidated llnancial statemorts. Our audit ol' intcrnal control over l'inancial reporting included obtaining an

understanding ol'intcrnal control over financial reporting. asscssing the risk that a rnaterial weakness cxists. and testing and evaluating

the dcsign and operating ct-lectivcness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
proccdures as r.le considered neccssary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

DeJinition and Limilalions of lnternal Control over Finonciol Reporting

A companl"s internal cnntrol ovcr financial rcporting is a process designed to providc reasonable assurancc regarding the reliability ol'
financial reportin_e and the preparation of financial statements lor cxternal purposes in accordance u'ith gencralll' accepted accounting

principles. A company's internal control over financial repo(ing includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the

maintcnancc ol'records that. in reasonable detail. accurately and lairll' rcflect the transactions and dispositions ol'the assets o1'the

companv: (ii) provide reasonablc assurance that transaclions are rccorded as neccssary to permit preparation of financial statemcnts in

accordance with gcnerally' accepted accounting principles. and that rcceipts and expenditures of'thc compan)' are being made onll in
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accordance with authorizations o[ management and directors ol the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect

on the llnancial statements.

Because ol'its inhcrcnt limitations. internal control o'uer llnancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also. pro.iections ol'

any cvaluation ol'e tl'ectiveness to f uture periods are sub.iect to the risk that controls may become inadcquate because of changes in

conditions. or that thc degrec of compliance u,ith the policies or proccdures may deteriorate.

5l
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Critical Audit Motters

-[-he critical audit nlattcr communicated bclow is a matter arising liom the current period audit of the consolidated financial statemenl.s

that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) rclates to accounts or disclosures that are

matcrial to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) invoh'ed our especially challenging. subjcctivc. or complex judgments. The

communication ol'critical audit nratters does not alter in anv \\'av our opinion on the consolidated llnancial s[atements. taken as a rvhole.

and rve are not. by cornmunicating the critical audit matter below'. providing a scparate opinion on the critical audit matter or on thc

accounts or disclosures to which it relatcs.

Re't'enue Recognilion - Tov,ers Segment - Site Rental Ret,enues

As described in Notes 2and l4 to the consolidated financial statements. the Companl,recognizcd $4.3 l3 million in site rental revenues

Iiom the'lbwcrs scgment lirr the year endcd Dccember 31. 2023.'l'he Company gcnerates site rental levcnues liom its corc husiness by

providing tenants rvith access to its sharcd conrmunications inliastructure Yia long-terrn tenant contracts in various lbrms. including

lease. liccnsc. sublease and sen,ice agrecments. Providing such acccss or,er the length of thc tenant contract term represenLs the

Company's sole pcrlbrmance obligat.ion undcr its tenant contracts. Site rental revcnues lrom thc Company's tenant contracts are

recognizcd on a straiBht-line. ratable basis over the lrxed. non-cancelable term ofthe relcvant tenant contract.

1'hc principal considerations lbr our determination that perfornring proccdurcs relating to revenue recognilion lor thc sitc renul revenues

lrom the Towers segment is a critical audit matLer are a high degree ol'auditor effort in performing procedures and cvaluating audit

evidence relatcd to revcnue recognition lbr the site rental revenues fiom the lbuers segment.

Addressing the matter involved pcrforming procedurcs and evaluating audit cvidcncc in connection u'ith lorming our ovcrall opinion on

the consolidatcd financial statemcnts.'l-hcse procedures includcd tcsting the el-fectivencss of controls relating to revenue recognilion for
the site rcntal revcnucs (iom thc lbwers segment. 1-hese procedures also included. among others (i) testing the completencss and

accuracy ol'management's identilication <lf thc contractual terms by cxamining tenant contracts on a test basis and (ii) testing the

appropriateness ol-the amount of'revenue rccognized based on contractual terms Ior the selected tenant contracts.

/s/ PricewaterhouscCoopers I-LP

Pittsburgh. Pennsl'lvania

February 23.2024

We have servcd as the Company's auditor since 201I

52
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND STIBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BAI,ANCE SHEET

(ln millions of dollars, except par values)
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ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalens

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Receivables. net ofallowance of$19 and $19. respectively

Prepaid expenses

Current portion ofdeferred site rental receivables

Other current assets

Total current assets

Deferred site rental receivables

Property and equipment. net

Operating lease right-oluse assets

Goodwill

Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net

Other intangible assets, net

Other assets. net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQTIIT}'

Cunent liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued interest

Deferred revenues

Other accrued liabilities

Current maturities of debt and other obligations

Current portion of operating lease liabi Iities

Total current liabilities

Debt and other long-term obligations

Operating lease liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (see note l2)

CCI stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $0.0 I par value; I ,200 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding: December 3 I ,

2023-434 and Dccembcr 3l .2022-433

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Dividends/distributions in excess of earnings

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Sec accompanving nol.cs to consolidated llnancial statements.

Decemher Jl.

2023 2022

$ r05 $

t7t

481

103

il6
5(r

156

t66

593

t02

t27

73

r.032

2.239

r 5.666

6.1 87

I 0.085

3.122

57

139

l.2l'7

t.954

15.407

6.526

10.085

3.535

6t

136

s 38.527 $ 38.92 t

$ 252 $

219

605

342

835

332

236

r83

'736

407

8t9

350

2.585

22.086

5.561

1.9t4

2.73t

20.9 t 0

5.88 t

1.950

32. | 46 31.172

4

t8.270

(4)

( r 1.889)

4

t8. r t6

(s)

( r0.666)

6.38 t '1.149

38.92 I
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND STlBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCO]\IE (LOSS)

(ln millions of dollars, except per share amounts)
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Ne[ revenues:

Site rental

Services and other

Net revenues

Operating expenses:

Costs of operations:(u)

Site rental

Services and other

Selling, general and administrative

Asset u'rite-down charges

Acquisition and integration costs

Depreciation, amortization and accretion

Restructuring charges

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense and amorlization ofdefened financing costs. net

Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations

Interest income

Other income (expense)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

Benefit (provision) for income taxes

Income (loss) liom continuing operations

Discontinued operations (see note 9):

Net gain (loss) from disposal ofdiscontinued operations. net oftax

Income (loss) from discontinued operations. net oftax

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adj ustments

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss)

Net income (loss), per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations, basic

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, basic

Net income (loss!-basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations. diluted

Income (loss) Irom discontinued operations, diluted

Net income (loss!-{iluted

Wei ghted-average common shares outstanding:

Basic

Diluted

(a) Exclusive ofdepreclation, amortization and accretion shown separately.

(l)

(l)

$ 1.503 $ l.(,74 $ t.oe6

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Ycars Ended l)eccnrber Jl.

2[23 2022 2021

s 6,532 $

449

6,289 $ 5.719

621697

6.98 r 6.986 6.140

|,554

439

680

2t

I

1.644

1,664

3t6

759

33

I

| "'154

85

t.602

466

750

34

2

1.707

4.61? 4.-561 4.339

2.369

( 850)

t5

(6)

2.425

(699)

(28)

J

( l0)

2.001

(6s7)

(l4s)

I

(21 )

t.528

(26)

r .691

( l6)

t.179

(2t)

r.502 t.675 1. t58

(62 )

t62)

$ 1.502 s 1.675 $ 1.096

t; 3.46 $ 3.87 $ 2.68

(0. r 4)

s 3.46 $ 3.87 $ 2.54

$ 3.46 $ 3.86 $ 2.67

(0.14)

$ 3.46 $ 3.86 $ 2.53

434

434

433

434

432

434
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Scc accompanving noLcs Lo consolidated Ilnancial staLcmcnts
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND STIBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(ln millions of dollars)
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Cash flows from operating activities:

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing operations to net cash provided by

(used for) opcrating activities:

Depreciation. amortization and accretion

(Gains) losses on retirement of long-term obligations

Amortization oldefened linancing costs and other non-cash interest

Stock-bascd compensation expense. net

Asset. u.rite-down charges

Deferred income tax (benefit) provision

Other non-cash ad.justmenls. net

Changes in asseb and liabilities. excluding tht: effects ofacquisitions:

Increase (decrease) in accn:ed interest

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

Increase (decrease) in olher liabilities

Decrease (increase) in receivables

Decrease (incrcase) in other assets

Net cash provided by (used lirr) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures

Payments for acquisitions. net ofcash acquired

Other investing activities. nct

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds liom issuance ol'long-term debt

Principal paymenls on debt and other long-term obligations

Purchases and redemptions ollong+enn debt

Borrou,ings under revolving credit laciIit1

Payments under revolving credit facility

Net issuances (repayments) under commercial paper progr,rm

Payments lor financing costs

Purchases olcommon stock

Dividends/distributions paid on comrnon stock

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash

equivalents - continuing operations

Discontinued operations (see note 9):

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Net increese (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash

equivalents - discontinued operations

Effect ofexchange rate changes on cash

Cash and cesh equivalents and rcstricted cash and cesh equivalents at beginning ofperiod

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at end ofperiod

https://investor. crowncastle.com/node/26996/html

Ycars Ended l)ccemher 31.

2023 2022 2021

$ t.,502 $ t.675 $

t.751 1.644

145

t3

t29

2t

4

2t

(-s )

(28r )

(49)

(1r2)

(t7)

l5

(il8)

( il3)

( il3)

l.l5tr

29

t5'7

JJ

8

t4

1.70'7

28

t7

t56

34

J

5

36

(14)

(265)

il5
(213\

i.r26 2.878 2.789

( 1.424)

(e6)

I

(r,3r0)

(3s)

(7\

( 1.229)

(llt)
8

(1.5 l9) ( 1.352) ( 1,332)

3,843

(7e)

(750)

3.61 3

(4.248)

( r.24t )

(3e)

(30)

(2.723\

748

(74\

(1.274\

3.495

(2,85s)

976

(14)

(65 )

(2.602\

3,985

( r.076)

(2,089)

1.245

(870)

(20)

(42)

(70)

(2.3',73)

( r.654)

147 )

(t.665)

( lje)

( 1.3 r0)

t4'7

(62)

3)7 166

(62)

38r

$ 28t $ 327 $ 466

95t226
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See accompanving notes to consolidatcd financial statcments.
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Balance. December 31. 2020

Stock-based compensatiul related activit)'. net ot'

lbrl'eitures

Purchases and retircment of common stock

Conrnron stock dividends/disu'ibutions

Net income (loss)

Balance. December 3 l. 2021

Stock-based compensation related activitl'. net o1'

Ibrfeitures

Purcha-ses and retircnrent ol'common stock

Other comprehensive inconre (loss)(')

Common stock dividends/distrihutions

Net inconre (loss)

Balance. December 3 l. 2022

Stock-based compensation rclated activitl'. net ol'

forl'eitures

Purchases and retirement ol'common stock

Other cornprehensive income (loss)(o)

Common stock dividends/distributions

Net income (loss)

Balance. December -31. 2023

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

(Amounts in millions)

( ommon Sto.k

{drl i tional

Shrrcs (50.01 Par) Peid-ln Cspitsl

A(cumulated

( )ther

('omprchcnsivc

lncomc (l,oss)

("A(X l")

l)ividends/l)istrihution$

in Excess of Earnings 'lirtal

.l3r $ r $ 17.933 S (1) $ (8.172) $ 9.46r

148

( 70)

(2..3'77 |

t.096

t.l8

(70)

(2.377\

1.096

.13 2 l r8.0l t (l) ( e.7s3 ) 8.258

r70

(65 )

(2.5{r8 )

t.675

l'70

(65 )

(l)

( 2.588)

1.675

(l)

433 .l t8. I l6 (5) ( I 0.666) 7.119

l8l
(30 )

(2.725)

r.502

184

(30)

I

(2.72s\

1.502

431 $ -l s 18.270 $ (1) $ (1r.889) $ 6.38r

(a) See the consolrdated statcment ofoperations and comprehensive income (loss) for the components of"total other comprehensive incomc (loss)."

See accompanving notes to consolidatcd financial statemcnts.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

l. Basis of Presentation

The consolidatcd financial statements include the accounts ol'Crou,n Castle Inc. and its prcdeccssor. as applicable (k)gether.

"CCI"). and their subsidiarics. collcctively rcl'erred to herein as the "Company'." All signilicant intercompany balances and transactions

havc bcen climinated in consolidation. As used hercin. the tcrm "including." and any variation thereol. means "including without
limitation." l'he use ol'the word "or" hercin is not exclusive. Unless the context suggests othcrwise. r'ei'erences to "U.S." are to thc United

Statcs ol'Amcrica and Pucrto Rico. collectively.

Thc Company o\\'ns. opcrates and leases shared communications infrastructurc that is geographically dispcrsed throughout the

U.S., including (l) towers and other structurcs, such as rooliops (collectively. "t<lwcrs"). and (2) liber primarily supporting small ccll

ne[vorks ("small cells") and fiber solutions. '[he Compan)''s towers. small cells and fiber assets arc collectivell- refcrred to hcrein as

"communications infrastructurc." and the Company"s customers un its communications infi'astructure are rcf'errcd to hercin as "tenants."

The Company's core business is providing access. including space or capacitl'. to its shared communications inliastructure via long-

term contracts in various forms. including Iease. license. sublease and service agreements (collectivell,. "tenant contracts").

Thc Companl 's operating segmcnts consist ol'( l ) 'lbu'crs and (2) F iber. Sce note 1 4.

Approximatcly 53% ol'the Company's to!\'ers are leased or subleased or operated and managed undcr master leascs. subleases. and

othcr agreemcnts vr,ith AT&T and T-Mobile (including those rvhich T:-Mobile assumed in its merger rvith Sprint). The Companl'has the

option to purchase these towers at the end ol'their rcspective lease ternrs. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase

options. See notes 4 and I3.

As part of the Companv's eflirrl to provide comprehensive communications inliastructure solutions. as an ancillary busincss. the

Company' also oll'ers certain scn iccs primarily relating to its 
.li)wers 

segment. For thc periods presentcd. such serviccs predominatcly

consisted o{'(l) site development services relating to exisl.ing ()r new tenant equipment installations. including: site acquisition.

architectural and engineering. or zoning and permitting (collectivell,. "site development services") and (2) tenant equipmen( installation

or subsequent augmentations (collectively. "installation sen,ices"). See note l6 to our consolidated Ilnancial statements lbr a discussion

o1'thc Cornpany's Jull' 2023 restructuring plan. which included discontinuing installation sen ices as a Torvers product oli'ering.

Thc Company' operatcs as a REI-| for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, the Ciompany has cerlain taxable RIiIT
subsidiaries ("'fRSs"). See note 9.

The preparation of tlnancial statenrents in conlbrmity with GAAP requires managenlent to make cstimates and assumptions that

affcct the reported amounl.s ol'assets and liabilities. the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as ol'the date of the financial

statcments. and the reported amounts ol'revenucs and expenscs during the reporting period. Actual results could differ liom those

estimates.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalenls

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less

Reslricted Cash and (.'ash Equivalents

Restrictcd cash and cash equivalents rcprescnts ( I ) the cash hcld in rcservc by the indenture trustees pursuant to the indenturc

Boverning certain of the Company's debt instruments. (2) cash securing perlilrmance obligations such as letters of credit and (3) any

othcr cash uhosc use is limited bv contractual provisions. The restriction ol'rental cash receipts is a critical feature of certain of the

Companl"s dcbt instruments due to the applicablc indenture trustec's ability to utilize thc restricted cash lor thc payment of (l) debt

service costs, (2) ground rents. (3) real estate or personal property taxcs. (4) insurance premiums relatcd to to\\'ers. (5) other assessments

bv governmental authorities and potcntial environmental remediation costs or (6) a portion of advancc rents from tenants.'l-he rcstricted
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cash in excess of required rescrve balances is subscquently released to the Company in accordance with the terms ol'the indenturcs. See

notc I 5 lbr a reconciliation ol'cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Rece itab les A I I ovanc'e

An allorvance lbr credit losscs is recorded as an oll:set to accounts receivablc. The Company uscs judgnrent in cstimating this

allou'ance and considcrs historical collections. current crcdit status. or contractual provisions. Additions to the allowance lbr credit losses

are charged either to "Site rental costs oloperatiorrs" or to "Sen'ices and other costs ofoperations." as appropriate. and dcductions liom

lhe allorvance are rccorded u,'hen specific accounts rcceivable are u'rittcn ofT as uncollectible .

Lease -lccoun!ing

General. The Company'evaluates rvhether a contract mcets the dcl'inition ola lease u'hencver a contract grants a party the right to

conlrol thc use of an identified asset lirr a period ol'time in exchange lor consideration.'lb thc extcnl thc identilled asset is able to be

sharcd anrong multiple parties, lhe C]onlpany has determined that one party does not have control ol'the identil'ied asset and the contract

is not considercd a lcase. The Company accounts lor contracts that do not meet the dcllnition ol'a lcase under other relevant accounting

guidance (such as ASC 606 for revcnue l'ronr contracts u.ith customers).

Lessee. For its Touer scgment. lhe Cornpanl"s lcssee arrangements prinrarilv consist ol'ground leascs lbr land undcr lowers.
(lround lcases lbr land are spccilic to each site. gencrally contain an initial lcrm bctrvcen lrve to l5 years and are renerr''ablc (and

cancellablc alter a notice period) at the Companl''s option. The Conrpany also entcrs into tcrm ground leases. such as ternl eascnrents. in

rvhich it prepa),s the entire term. F-or its Fibcr segment. thc Companl"s lessce arrangcments primarilf include leascs of fiber assets to

support the Company's small cclls and llber solutions.

'l-he majority ol'the Company's leasc agreements have certain tcrmination rights that provide {irr cancellation a{ter a notice pcriod

and multiple rcnewal options exercisable at the Compan)''s option.'fhc Company' includes renewal option periods in its calculation ol'the

estimated lease term u'hcn it determines the options arc reasonabll' cerlain to be cxercised. Whcn such t'eneu'al options are deemed to be

reasonablv cefiain. the estimated lease term determined under ASC ll42 rvill be greater than the non-cancelablc term ot'the contlactual

arrangement. Although ccrtain renen'al pcriods arc included in the estimated leasc term. thc Companl'llould have the ability to terminatc

or elect to not renew a particular lease il'business conditions \\'arrant such a decision.

'l-he Companl'classifies its lessee arrangements at inception as either operating leascs or llnance lcases. A lcase is classificd as a

financc lease if at lcast onc of the follorving criteria is met: ( I ) thc lease transl'crs ou,ncrship of the underlying assel kr thc lessce. (2) thc

leasc grants the lcssec an option to purchase the underlling asset that the lessee is reasonabll' certain to excrcisc. (3) the lcase tcrm is for

a major part ol'the remaining economic lilc of the undcrly'ing assct. (4) thc prcsent valuc ol'the sum ol'the leasc pa)'ments equals or

cxcecds substantially all ol-the {air valuc o[the underll.'ing assct. or (5) the underlying asset is ol'such a spccialized nalurc thal it is

cxpected to havc no alternative use to thc lessor at the cnd ol'the lcase term. A lease is classificd as an operating lease iI'nclne ol'thc llve

critcria describcd above fbr financc leasc classiflcation is mct.

Right-of-use ("ROtl") assets associated rvith operating lcases are included in "Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the

Companl"'s consolidated balance shcet. Current and long-tcrm portions ol- leasc liabilitics related to operating leases are included in

"Current portion ol' opcrating lease liabilities" and "Opcrating lcase liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

respectivcll. ROU assets reprcsent the Companl"s right to use an underlf ing asset lor the estimated lease term and lease liabilities

represent the Companl"s prescnt value ol- its Iuture lease payments. In asscssing its leascs and determining its lease liabilit;" at leasc

commencement or upon modilication. the Companl, is not able to readily determine thc ratc implicit lbr its lessce arrangcments. and thus

uses its incremental borrouing rate on a collateralized basis to dctermine thc prcsent value of the lease pa1'ments. The Companl's ROU

assets are measured as the balance of the lease liability plus any prepaid or accrued lease payments and any unamorlized initial direct

costs. For both thc 'lilwcrs and Fibcr scgmcnts. opcrating lcasc cxpcnscs are rccognizcd on a ratablc basis, rcgardlcss of whcthcr thc

pa)ment terms require the Companl'to nrake pa)'ments annualll'. semi-annuall;.'^ quarterly, monthl)'. or lbr the entire term in advance.

Certain ol'the Company"s ground lease and llbcr lease agreements contain lrxed escalation clauses (such as llxed dollar or lixed

perccntage increases) or inllation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in consumer price index ('CPI")). lf thc

pa)'ment terms include flxed escalators. upfront payments. or rent-liec periods. the efl'ecl ol'such increases is recognized on a straight-

line basis. The Company calculates the straight-line expense over the contract's estimated lease term. including any rcnewal option

periods that thc Company deems reasonably certain to be exercised.
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Lcase agrcements mav also contain provisions lirr a contingent pa)'mcnt based on ( l ) the revenues derived from the

communications inlrastructure located on the leased asset. (2) the change in CPI or (3) the usage of the leased asset. The Company's

contingent pavmcnts arc considered variable lease pa.v-ments and are (l ) not included in the initial measuremcnt ol'the ROU asset or lease

liabilitl duc to thc unceflaint)' ol'the payment amount and (2) recorded as c\pense in the period such contingcncies are resolved.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

ROU assets associated with finance leases are included in "Property and equipmcnt. net" on the Company's consolidated balance

shect. Leasc liabilities associated with llnance leases are includcd in "Current maturities ol'debt and other obligations" and "Debt and

other long-term obligations" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. For both its Towers and Fibcr segments. the Company

measures thc lease liability lbr finance leases using the eflective interest method. 'Ihe initial lease liability is incrcased to rcflect interest

on the liability and decreased to rellect payments made during the period. Interest on the lcase liability is determined each period during

thc lease term as the amount thal results in a constant periodic discount. rate on the remaining balancc ol'the liability. The Company

depreciates ROtlasscts lbr llnancc leases on a ratable basis over the applicablc lease term.

Thc Company reviervs the carrying value of its ROU assets for impairment, similarto its other long-lived assets, whenever events

or changcs in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverablc. The Company could record impairments in the

future il'there are changes in (l) long-term market conditions. (2) expected future operating results or (3) the utility ofthe assets that

negatively impact the fair value of its ROU assets.

l.essor: The Companl"s lessor arrangements primarily include tenant contracts lbr dedicated space (including dedicated fiber) <ln its

shared communications infrastructure. The Company classifies its leases at inception as operaling. direct financing or sales-tvpe leases. A

lease is classified as a sales-type leasc if at least one ol'the follouing criteria is mct: (l) thc lease translers ownership of the underlying

asset to thc lessee. (2) the lease grants thc lessee an option to purchase the undcrlying asset that the lessec is reasonably certain to

exercise. (3) thc leasc term is lor a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset. (4) the present value of the sum of-

thc lease payments equals or cxceeds substantially all ol'the fair value ol'the underlying assets or (5) the underlying asset is ofsuch a

specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternat.ive use to the lessor at the end of thc lease 1erm. Furthermore, u'hen none o1'the

above criteria is met. a lease is classified as a direct Iinancing lease if both of the follolring criteria are met: (l) the present value ol'thc
olthe sum ofthe lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee. that is not already reflected in the lease pavments.

equals or exceeds the lair value ol'thc underlying asset and (2) it is probable that the lessor u,ill collect the lease payments plus any

amount neccssary to satisfy a residual value guarantee. A lease is classil'ied as an operating lease if it does not qualify as a sales-type or

direct llnancing lease. Currently. the Company classifles all ol'its lessor alrangements as operating leases.

Site rental revenues from the Company's lessor arrangements are recognized on a straight-line, ratablc basis over the fixed, non-

cancelable term of the relevant tenant contract. regardless of whether the payments from the tenant are receir,ed in equal monthly

amounts during the life of a tenant contract. Certain of the Company's tenanl contracts contain fixcd escalation clauses (such as fixed-

dollar or fixed-percentagc increases) or inflation-based cscalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in CPI). Ifthe payment terms

call for fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-tiee periods, the rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lixed.

non-cancelable term of the agreement. When calculating straight-line site rental revenues. the Company considers all fixed elcments of
tenant c()ntractual escalation pro\isions.

Certain ol'the Company's arrangements uith tenants in its Fiber seg,ment contain both lease and non-lease components. In such

circumstances. the Company has determined (l) the timing and pattern of transfer for the lease and non-leasc component are the same

and (2) the stand-alone lease component u,ould be classified as an operating lease. As such. the Company has aggregated certain non-

lease components r.r'ith lease components and has determined that the lease components (generally dedicated fiber) represent the

prcdominant component of the arrangenrent.

P ro pe rty and Liq u i pme nt

Property and equipnrent is stated at cost, net ofaccumulated depreciation. Property and equipment includes land ou'ned through flee

interests and perpetual easements. which have no definite Iife. Depreciation is computed utilizing the straight-line method at rates based

upon the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets. Depreciation lor the majority of communications inliastructure is

computed with a useful life equal to the shorter of 20 years or the term ol-the underlying ground lease (u,here applicable and including

optional renerval periods). Additions and permanent improvements to the Company's communications infrastructure are capitalized.

while maintenance and repairs are cxpensed.

Labor and interest costs incurred dircctly related to the construction o1'certain propert)' and equiplrent are capitalized during the

construction phase of projects. For the years ended Deccmbcr 31. 2023. 2022 and 2021, the Company rccorded $299 million.
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$265 million and S238 million in capitalized labor costs. respectivell.'the canf ing value olproperty and equipmcnt is revierved lilr
impairment whenevcr events or changes in circumstances indicatc that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Abandonments and writc-olfs ol property and equipment are recorded to "Asset rvrite-dou,n charges" on the Company's

consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive incomc (loss) and u,ere $40 million. $39 million and $19 million lor the 1'ears

ended December 31. 2023. 2022 and 202 l. respectively.

/l sse t Rel ire me nl Ob I igal i ons

Pursuant to its ground leasc. leased lacility and certain pole attachmcnt agreemcnts. the Company records obligations to perlorm

asset retirement activities. including requircments to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which ccrtain of
its communications inliastructurc is located.'Ihc Company'does not rccord an obligation lirr asset retircment activities related to its fiber.

as a scttlemcnt date is indeterminable and thcrefirte a reasonablc cstimation ol'l'air value cannot be made. Asset retirement obligations are

included in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company"s consolidatcd balance sheet. Thc liability accretcs as a result ofthe passagc of
time and the related accretion expense is included in "l)epleciation. amort"ization and accretion" on lhe Companl's consolidated

statenlent ol'operatiorrs and comprehensivc income (loss). -l-he 
associated asset rctiremenI costs are capitalized as an additional carrying

amount ol'the rclated long-lived asset and deprcciated ovcr the uscl'ul lil'e ol'such asset.

Goorhrill

Goodwill represents the exccss ol'the purchase price lbr an acquired busincss over thc allocated value o1'the relal.ed net assets.'l'he

Companl' tcsts good\\'ill lrlr impairment on an annual basis. rcgardlcss ol' u'hether adverse evcnts or changes in circumstances have

occurred. l'he annual test begins rvith goodrvill and all intangiblc asscts being allocated to applicable reponing units. Thc Company's

reporting units are thc same as il.s operating scgments (lbuers and Fibcr). The Companl'then perlorms a qualitative assessment to

determine rvhether it is "more likelv than not" that the fair valuc of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Companv

concludes it is "more likely than not" that the fair value ol'a rcporting unit is less than its carrying amount. it is necessary to perform a

quantitative gooduill impairment test. The quantitative goodrvill impairment test compares the estimated Iair value of the reporting unit

and the carrying valuc of the repo(ing unit. If the carrying amount o1'a rcporling unit is greater than its (air value. an impairment loss

shall be rccognized in an amount equal to such exccss. limited to the total amount o[ _eoodwill allocatcd to the reporting unit. 
.lhe

Companl' pcrformed its most reccnt annual gooduill impairment test as ol-Octobcr l. 2023. which rcsulted in no impairments.

Intangible .4ssets

Intangible assets are included in "Site rcntal c:ontracts and tcnant rclationships. nct" and "Other intangible assets, net" on the

Companl,'s consolidated balancc shcet and prcdominatcll' consist ol- the estimatcd lair value ol' sitc rental contracts and tenant

rclationships or other contractual rights. such as trademarks, that are rccorded in conlunction u'ith acquisitions. Site rental contracts and

tenant rclationships intangible assets arc compriscd ot'( I ) thc current tcrm ofthe cxisting leases. (2) the high rate oftcnant retention. and

(3) any associated relationships that are expected to gcnerate valuc lbllowing the expiration ol'all renewal periods undcr existing leases.

'l'he useful lives of intangible assets are estimated based on the period o'u'cr rn'hich the intangible asset is expected to benefit the

Companl and gives consideration to the expected useful lilc of other assets to u'hich the uselul life may rclate. Amortization expense lor
intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated uselul lil'e of cach of the intangible assets. The uselul

lives olsitc rental contracts and tcnant relationships intangible assets are limited by thc maximum depreciable lil'e of the communications

infrastructure (20;'ears), as a result of the interdependcncv of the communications infrastructure and the site rcntal contracts and tenant

relationships. In contrast^ the site rental contracts and tenant relationships are estimatcd to provide economic benefits for several decades

because ofthe lou'rate oftenanl cancellations and high ratc oftcnant retention cxperienccd to date. Thus. while site rental contracts and

tcnant relationships intangible assets are valued based upon the lair valuc of the site rental contracts and tenant relationships. which

includes assumptions regarding both (l)tenants'erercise ol'oplional rcneu'als contained in the acquired lcases and (2) rcnewals ol'the
acquired leases past the contractual term including exercisable options. sitc rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are

amortizcd ovcr a pcriod not to cxcccd 20 y'cars.

'l'he carrying value of othcr intangible asscts u'ith tlnite uselul lives u'ill be reviewed for impairment uhencver events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrling amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The Company has a dual grouping policy {or

purposcs ol'detcrmining the unit of account lbr tcsting impairmcnt of site rental contracts and tenant rclationships intangiblc asscts. First.

the Company pools sitc rental contracts and tenant rclationships intangible assets with the related communications inlrastructure assets
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into porttblio groups li)r purposes of determining the unit of account lbr impairment testing. Second and separatel)'. the Company pools

the sitc rental contracts and tenant relationships by signilicant tcnant or by tenant grouping for individually insignificant tenants. as

appropriate. lfthe sum ofthe associatcd estimated luture
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cash flou's (undiscounted) from an asset is less than its carrying amount. an impairment loss may be recognized. Measurement of an

impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset.

Deferred Credits

Deferred crcdits are included in "Del'erred revenues" and "Other long-term Iiabilitics" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet

and consist of the cstimated lair value ol'belor.rmarket tenant leases lbr contractual interests u,ith tenants on acquired communications

infrastructure that are amortized to site rental revenucs.

Fair value f<lr thesc deferred credits represents the difference betueen (l) the stated contractual payments to be made pursuant to

the in-place lease and (2) management's estimate of lair market lease rates for each corresponding lease. Deferred credits are measured

over a period equal to the estimated remaining cconomic lease term considering renerlal provisions or economics associated with those

renewal provisions. to the extent applicable. Deferred credits are amortized over thcir respected estimated lease terms at the time o1'

acquisition.

DeJerred Financing C os ts

Third-part1'costs incurred to obtain linancing, u'ith the exception ofcosts incurrcd related to revolving lines ofcredit, arc deferred

and are includcd as a direct dcduction from the carrying amount of thc related debt liability in "Deht and other lon_e-term obligations" on

the Company's consolidated balance sheet and are amortized using the elfective intcrest yield methodology to "lnterest expense and

amortization of del'erred financing costs. net" on the Companv's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss)

over the term o1'the relatcd debt liability.-l-hird paty costs incurred to obtain financing through a revolving Iine o1'credit are del'erred and

are included in "Other assets. net" on the Company''s consolidated balance sheet and are amortized using the ell'ective interest yield
methodology to "lnterest expense and amonization ol' deferred financing costs. nct" on the Company's consolidated statement ol'

opelations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the 20 l6 Credit Agleement (as detincd in note 7).

Revenue Recognition

The Company g,enerates site rental revenues liom its core business by providing tenants with access. including space or capacity. to

its shared communications inlrastructure via long-term tcnant contracts in various ibrms. including lease. license. sublease and service

agreements. Typically, providing such access over the length ol' the tenant contract term represcnts the Company's sole perlbrmance

obligation under its tenant contracts.

Site Rental Revenues. Sitc rental revenues from the Company's tenant contracts are recognized on a straight-line. ratable basis over

the fixcd, non-cancelable term ofthe relevant tenant contract. which generally ranges between five to l5 years lbr rvireless tcnants and

betu,ecn one to 20 1'ears for flber solutions tcnants (including liom organizations with high-bandrvidth and multi-location demands).

regardless ol'ra'hether the payments liom the tenant are received in equal monthly amounts during the lif'e ol'the tenant contract. Certain

ol-the Company's tenant contracts contain (l) fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed dollar or llxed percentage increases) or inl'lation-

based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the CPI). (2) multiple renewal periods exercisable at the tcnant's option and (3) only

limited termination rights at the applicable tenant's option through the current term. I1'the paymenl terms call lbr f ixed escalators. upliont
pa)ments. or rent-fiee periods. the revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis o\/er lhe tlxcd. non-cancelable term ofthe tenant

contract. When calculating straight-line rental revenues. the Company considers all llxed elements ol tenant contractual escalation

provisions. even il'such escalation provisions contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. 1-he C--ompan1"s assets related to

straight-line site rental revenues arc recorded vi'ithin "Current portion of deferred site rental rcceivables" and "Deferred site rental

receivables" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts billed or received prior to being earned are def'erred and reflected in

"Deferred revenucs" and "Other long-term liabilities" on lhe Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts to uhich the Company has

an unconditional right to payment, which are rclated to both satisfied or partially satisfied pcrformance obligations, are recorded within
"Receivables. net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Sprint Concellation Payments. Fol the ,vear ended December 3l . 2023. site rental revenues include $ I 70 million ol' payments in the

Companl"s F-iber segment to satisfy- the remaining rental obligations of'certain canceled Sprint leascs as a result of the T-Mobile US. lnc.
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and Sprint nenvork consolidation. In connection with such canccled Sprint leases, the Companl* also recognized $59 million of
accef erated prcpaid rcnt amor.tization in the Company's Fiber scgment lbr thc year ended December 31,2023.

Sen'ices and Other Revenues. As part o1'the Company's ellbrt to pror,ide comprchensive communications inliastructure solutions.

as an ancillarl'business. thc Conrpany'ofl-ers ccrtain sen'iccs primarill'relating to its To\vers segmcnt. predominalely

6l
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consisting ol'(l) site development sen'ices and (2) installation sen,ices. See note l6 to our consolidated financial statements lor a

discussion ol'the Company's July' 2023 restructuring plan, rvhich included discontinuing installation sen,ices as a Torvers product

oll'ering. Upon contract commencement, thc Companl' assesscs its sen'ices to tenants and identifies performance obligations for each

promise to providc a distinct scrvicc.

The Company mav havc multiple pcrformancc obligations for site development sen'ices. r.r'hich primarily include: struclural

analysis. zoning. permitting and construction drau'ings. For each ofthese performance obligations. services revcnues arc recognized at

completion ol'the applicable performance ohligation, which represents the point at ra'hich the Company believes it has transferred goods

or sen'ices to thc tenant. 'fhe sen'ices revenue recognizcd is based on an allocation of the transaction price among the performance

obligations in a respective tenant contract based on estimated standalone selling price.'fhe'r,olume and mix of site development services

may var] among tenant contracts and may include a combination of some or all olthe above performance obligations. Amounl.s are

billed per contractual milcstoncs, with payments generally due u'ithin 45 to 90 da1,s. and generally do not contain variable-consideration

prol isions.

The transaction price lor the Company's tou'er installation serviccs consists ol'amounts lor (l) permanent improvements to the

Company''s tor.r'ers that represcnt a lease component and (2) the perlbrmance of the senice. Amounts undcr the Companl''s torver

installation service agreemcnts that represent a lcase componcnt are recognized as site rental revenues on a straight-line basis over thc

length ol' the associated estimated lease term. For the perlirrmance ol' the installation service. the Company has one perlbrmance

obligation. u'hich is satislled at the time of the applicable installation or augmentation and recognized as services and other revenues on

the Company's consolidated statement. of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Since performance obligations are typically
satisfied prior to receiving payment lrom tenants. the unconditional right to payment is recorded within "Receivables. net" on the

Company's consolidated balance sheet. Generally. the services the Company provides to its tenants have a duration 01'one year or less.

Additional lnformation on Revenues. As ol-January 1,2023 and December 31.2023. $2.3 billion and $2.1 billion of unrecognized

revenues. respectively. were reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance

shect. During the year ended December 31.2023. approximately 563 I million ol'the January' 1.2023 unrecognized revenues balance rvas

recognized as revenucs. As of January 1. 2022. $2.6 billion ol' unrecognized revenues u'ere reported in "Del'errcd revenues" and "Other

long-term liabilities" on the Clompany's consolidated balance sheet. During thc year ended December 31, 2022. approximately $668

million ol'the Januarl, 1,2022 unrecognized revenues balance was recognized as revenues.

Scc note 3 for further discussicln regarding the Company's revenues.

C'osts of Operations

Nearly half of the Company's site rental costs oloperations expenses consist of Towers ground lease expenses. and the remainder

includes fiber access expenses, repairs and maintenance expenses, employee compensation or related benefit costs. property taxes, or

utilities. Gencrally, the ground leases for land are specific to each site and are lbr an initial term of between five to l5 years and are

renewable lbr pre-determined periods. -l-he Company also enters into ground leases. such as terrn easements. in u'hich it prepal's the

entire term in advance. I:iber access expenses primarily consist of leascs of fiber assets and other access agreements to facilitate the

Company's communications inliastructure.

Ground lease and llber access expenses are recognized on a ratable basis. regardless of $hether the payment terms require the

Company to make payments annually. semi-annually. quarterly. monthly. or for the entire ternr in advance. Certain of the Company's

ground lease and fiber access agreements contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inllation-

based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in CPI). If the payment terms include fixed escalators. upliont payments, or

rent-free periods. the cffect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis. When calculating straight-line ground lease and flber

access cxpenses, the Companv considers all fixed elemcnts ol'contractual escalation provisions. evcn if such escalation pro'"isions

contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's liability'related to straight-line expense is included in "Operating

lease right-ol'-use assets" on the Company''s consolidated balance sheet. The Company's assets related to prepaid agreements is included

in "Prepaid expenses" and "Operating lcase right-of-use assets" on the Companv's consolidated balance sheet.
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Senices and othcr costs oloperations prcdominatel)'consist of third-part1'servicc providers such as contractors and prol-essional

sen,ices l'irms and. to a lcsser extent. intemal labor costs. associated with the Company's site devclopment and installation services. See

note l6 to our consolidated financial statements Ibr a discussion of the Companr''s July 2023 restructuring plan. u'hich included

discontinuing installation serviccs as a lbwers product olt'ering. 'l'he Company's costs

62

https://investor. crowncastle. com/node/26996/html 109t226



5t14t25.11.41 AM SEC Filing I Crown Castle

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

incurred prior to the satisfaction of associated performance obligations o1'$44 million and $43 million as of December 31. 2023 and

2022. rcspectivell'. arc included in "Other current assets" on the Company's consolidated balance shcet.

A cquisi li ons and I nle grat ion C osts

Direct or incremcntal costs related to a potential or complcted busincss combination transaction are expensed as incurred. Such

costs are prcdominately compriscd of severance. retention bonuses payable to employces of an acquired enterprise. temporary employees

to assist r.lith thc integration ofthe acquircd operations. I'ccs paid for serlices (such as consulting. accounting. legal. or cngincering

rcvieu's). and any other costs dircctty associated with the transaction. 'l-hese business combination costs are included in "Acquisition and

integration costs" on the Company's consolidatcd statemenl ol' operations and comprehensive income (loss). Iror those transactions

accounted lbr as asset acquisitions. these costs arc capitalizcd as part ol'the purchase price.

St oc k- base d () om pe ns al i o n F-xpe ns e. .\' e I

Restricted Stock Units. Thc Company records st()ck-based compensation e\pense lbr unvestcd restricted stock units ("RSLls") lbr
which the rcquisite service is expected to be rendered.'Ihe cumulative ell'ect of a change in the estimated number ol'RSLJs lbr which thc

rcquisite scrvice is expected to bc or has becn rendered is recognized in the peliod o1'the changc in thc estimatc. To the extenl that the

rcquisite scn,ice is rendered. compensat.ion cost lbr accounting purposcs is not reversed; rather. it is recognized regardlcss ol'u,hetlrer or

not thc au,ards lcst. A discussion ol the Company's valuation techniques and rclated assumptions and estimates used to measure the

Companl"s stock-based compensation cxpense is as lbllows:

l/aluation. 'l-he lbir value of RSt.ls u'ithout market conditions is determined based on the number of shares relating to such RSUs

and thc quoted price ol'the Companl''s common stock at the date of grant.'l'he Companl'estimates the fair value of RSUs rvith markct

conditions granted using a Montc Carlo simulation. -fhe Company's dctermination of the lair value olRSUs with market conditions on

the date ol'grant is all'ected by its common stock price as w'ell as assumptions regarding a number of highll' complex or subjectivc

variables. '[he determinalion ol' fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation requires the input of subjective assumptions. and othcr

rcasonable assumptions could provide di lI'ering results.

Antorti:ation Method. 1-he Company amortizes the fair value of all RSI ]s on a straight-line basis for each separately vesting tranche

olthe auard (graded vcsting schcdule) over lhe requisitc service pcriods.

l'-xpected lblatilitl'. The Company estimates the volatility'ol'its common stock at the date ol'grant based on the historical volatility
oi'its common stock.

Llpected l)it'idend Rale. Thc expccted dividend rate at the date ol'grant is based on the therr-currcnt dividend yield.

Risk-|.'rce Rale. The Companv bases the risk-Iiee ratc on the implied f ield currently' available on tJ.S. 'l'reasury issues with an

equivalenl remaining term equal to the expected life ol'the au'ard.

Fotfeitures. The Company uses historical au'ard forfeiture data and management's judgment about the future employee turnovcr

rates to estimate the number ol shares for u hich the requisitc sen'ice period will not be rcndered.

lnteresl Expense and .lmorli:alion of Deferred Financing Costs, lt'et

The components of interest expense and amortization of del'erred financing costs. net are as follorvs:
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lnterest expense on debt obligations

Amortization ol'del'en'ed linancing costs and adjustments on long-term debt

Capitalized interest

Total

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Years Ended Decemher 31,

2023 2022 202 1

li 836 $

29

1t5)

685 $

26

1ll)

6-l-1

25

(12)

$ {i50 $ 65'7$699

'l'he Companl,amortizcs del'erred linancing costs. discounts and prcmiunrs over the cstimated term ol'thc related borrowing using

the el'l'ective intercst f icld mcthod. Del'crred linancing costs and discounts are gcnerall) prcsented as a direct reduction to the related dcbt

obligation on thc Company's consolidated balance sheet.

(r3
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lnconte TiLres

'[he Companl'opcrales as a Rtrll- for U.S. l'ederal income tax purposes. As a RI]IT. the Company is gencrally'entitled to a

deduction lbr dividends that it pays and thercforc is not sub.ject to LJ.S. l'cderal corporatc income tar on its net taxable incorne that is
currentll distributed to its stockholders. The Company ma1' be subjcct to certain fcderal. statc. Iocal and tbrcign taxes on its income.

including (l) taxes on any undistributed income and (2) taxes relatcd to the l-RSs. In addition. [he C-ompany could. under ccrtain

circumstances. be requircd to pay an excise or pcnalty tax. which could bc significant in amount. in ordcr to utilize one or more rclicl-

provisions under the Internal Rcvenue Code of 1986. as amended ("Code"). to maintain qualil'ication lbr taxation as a Rllll-.

Additionally. the Company' has included in TRSs ccrtain other assets and opcra(ions. I-hose'l-RS assets and operations rvill continue

to be subjcct. as applicable. to l'edclal and state corporate incomc taxcs or to lbreign taxes in thc jurisdictions in ra'hich such assets and

operations are located. The Company's Ioreign asscts and opcrations (including its Lowcr opcrations in Pucrto Rico) are subiect to foreign

inconre taxes in the.iurisdictions in which such asscts and operations are located. regardless of u'hetlrcr thcy are included in a TRS or nol..

For its Rl'llT conversion and certain subscquent acquisitions into the RFlll-. the Clompany rvill be subiect to a l'cderal corporate level tax

rate (currently 21o/o) on any gain rccognized fi'om the sale of assets occurring within a specilied period (generally 5 years) aftcr the

transl'cr date up to the amount of thc built in gain that cxistcd on the transfer date, uhich is based upon the fair market r,alue of those

asscts in cxccss ol'the Company's tax basis on the transfer date. This gain can be ollset b1' anv rcmaining l'ederal net opcrating loss

carry {bnvards ( "NOl.s").

Iror the Company's 'l-RSs. the Company accounts {irr income taxes using an asset and liability approach. rrvhich rcquircs the

recognition ol'del'elrcd income tax assets and liabilities lbr the expectcd luture tax consequences ol'events that have been recognized in

the Company"s flnancial statcments or tax returns. Del'erred income tax assets and liabilities are determined bascd on lhe tenlporary

difl'erenccs betraecn the llnancial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using cnacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is

provided on delerrcd tax asscts if it is deterrnined that it is "more likely than not" lhat the asset r.l,ill not be realized. The Companl'

records a valuation allouance against dcferred tax assets u'hen it is "more Iikely than not" that sonrc portion or all of the def'errcd tax

assct rvill not bc realized. The Company revicws the recovcrability ol'del'crred tax assets each quarter and based upon projections of
future taxable income. reversing deferred tax liabilities or other knonn evens that are expccted to afl-cct luture taxable income. records a

valuation allovvance lor assets that do not meet the "more likcly than not" rcalization threshold. Valuation allou'ances rnay be reversed il'
related del'erred tax assets arc deemed realizable based upon changes in Iacts and circumstances that impact the recovcrability of the

asset.

The Company recognizes a tax position if it is "nrore likely than not" that it u'ill be sustaincd upon examination. The tax position is

nreasured at the largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likell'ol'being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company reports

penalties and tax-related interest expense as a component of the bcnefit (provision) tbr income taxes. As ol'Deccmber 31.2023 and2022.

the Company has not recorded any material pcnalties related to its income tax positions. Sec note 9.

Per Share lnforntation

Basic nct income (loss). per common sharc. excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-

average numbcr of common shares outstanding during the period. For the lears ended Dccembcr 31. 2023. 2022 and 2021. diluted net

income (loss). per common share. is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the ueighted-average number of common shares

outstanding during the pcriod. plus any potential dilutive common share equivalents, including shares issuable upon the vesting of RSLIs

as dcternrined under the lreasurv stock mcthod.
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Income (loss)from continuing operations attributable to CCI comrnon stockholderc lbr

basic and diluted computations $

lnconre (loss) tionr discontinued operations. nct ol'tax

Net inconre (loss) atlributahle to CCI common stockholders $

riltighted-average number of common shares outstanding (in nrillions):

Basic u'eighted-average number of common stock outstanding

Effect ofassumed dilution fronr potential issuance ofcomnron shares relating to

RSLIS

Diluted ueighted-average number of common shares outstanding

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations is shown in the table below.

)'ears Ended December 31,

202f 2$22 212t

r.502 $ r.675 $ t.l,itt

(62 )

t.501 $ 1.675 $ 1.096

132.1-r34-t.t

7

,13.1 .134 13.1

Net income (loss) attributable to CCI common stockholders. per common share

Income (loss) liom continuing operations. hasic

Income (loss) Iiom discontinued operations. basic

Net income (loss) attributable to CCI comrnon stockholders-basic

Income (loss) fiom continuing operations. diluted

Incorne (loss) from discontinued operations. diluted

Net income (lossF-di luted

$ 3.46 $ 3.87 $ 2.68

(0. r 4)

$

$

3..16 $ 3.87 $ 2.51

3.16 $ 3.86 $ 2.6'7

(0. r 1)

$

$

3.46 $ 3.86 $ 2.53

I)ir itlendsrdistrihutions declarccl pcl share ol corrrnion stock 6.26 $ 5.98 $ 5.46

F'oir l'alues

'fhe C)ompan1"s assets and liabilities recorded at lair value are categorized based upon a fair value hierarchv that ranks the quatity'

and rcliability of the information used to determine lair value. Thc three levels o1'the 1'air value hierarchy are ( l) Level I 
- 

quoted prices

(unadjusted) in active and accessiblc markets. (2) Level 2 
-observable 

prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets but

corroborated by market data. and (3) Level 3 - unobservable inputs and are not corroborated b1'market data. The Company evaluates

fair value hierarchl' level classifications quarterly. and transl'ers between levels are el'f'ective at the end of the quarterly period.

l-he lair values of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equir"alents approximate the carrying values. The

C--ompany detcrmincs the lair value of its debt securities based on indicative. non-binding quotes liom brokers. Quotes from brokers

require judgment and are based on the brokers' interpretation of market information. including implied credit spreads for similar

borrowings on recent trades or bid/ask prices or quotes liom active markets ifavailable. Thcre rvere no changes since December 31.2022

in the Company's valuation techniques used to measure fairvalues. See note 8 for a further discussion of lairvalues.

Re ce n I Iy ..1 dopl ed A c c ou nl i ng P ro nounL' e me nt s

No accounting pronouncements adopted during the year ended December 31,2023 had a material impact on the Company's

consol idated fi nancial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemenls Not fbt .4dopted
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In November 2023, the FASB issued new guidancc that is designed to improve reportable segmcnt disclosure requiremcnLs.

primarily through cnhanced disclosure ol' significant scgmenl expenses. 'l'he new guidance also expands interim segment disclosure

requirements and requires disclosure of the position and title o1'the Companl"s chiet'operating decision-maker. The guidance will be

ell'cctive for thc Companl's fiscal 1'ear ending December 31. 2024 and lirr interim periods starting in the flrst quarter ol' llscal 1'ear 2025

with eirly adoption permitted. l'he guidance is required to be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented. 'l'he

Company is currently evaluating the efl-cct ol'the guidancc. including the impact on its consolidated financial statements and related

di sclosures.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

In December 2023- the FASB issued nevr guidance that enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax

disclosures. primarily through changes 1tl the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disclosures. The guidance will be effective for the

Company's fiscal year ending December 31. 2025. and can be applied prospectivelv or retrospectively" with early adoption permitted.
'fhe Company is currently evaluating the efl'ect ol'the guidance. including the impact on its consolidated Iinancial statements and related

disclosures.

3. Revenues

'Ihe Ibllowing table is a summary of the contracted amounts owed to the Company by tenants pursuant to tenant contracts in etlect

as oI'December 31,2023. As of Dccember 31.2023. the weighted-average remaining term ol'tenant contracts was approximately'six

1 ears. exclusive of renervals exercisable at the tenant's option.

Yeam l.nding Derember 31,

21t21 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter 'lbtal

Contractedamounts(n) $ 5.020 $ 4.668 S 4.523 $ 4.440 S 4.225 S 15.778 $ 38.654

(a) Based on the nature of the contract, tenant contracts are accounted for pursuant to relevant lease accounting (ASC 842) or revenue accountlng (ASC 606) gurdance

Excludes amounts related to servrces, as those contracts generally have a duration ofone year or less.

See notes 2 and 13 for further discussion regarding the Company's lessor arrangements and note 14 for further inlbrmation

regarding the Company's operating segments.

4. Property and Equipment

The major classes of property and equipment are summarized in the table below.

f,slimaled

['seful Lives

As ol'Deccmbcr 31.

2023 2022

I-and(")

Buildings

Communications infrastructure assets

Information technologl assets and other

Construction in process

Total gross property and cquipment

Less: accumulated deprcciation

Total propertl'and equipment. net

2.442 $

209

25.479

681

I.134

2.33,

22

24.35.

65.

91.

$

40 l ears

| -20 r'ears

2-7 l ears

28.47i

( r 3.07

$ 15.666 $ 15.40

(a) Includes land owned through fee interesl.s and perpetual easements

Depreciation expense tbr the year ended December 31. 2023 u'as $1.3 billion. and for each of the years ended December 31,2022
and December 31.2021. depreciation expense rvas $1.2 billion.

22o/o of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under a masLer lease or other related agreements

with AT&'f for a r,l,eighted-average initial tcrm of approximately 2{t years. \\,eighted based on towers site rental gross margin. The

Ciompany has the option to purchase the leased and subleased towers from AT&-l'at the end of the respective lease or sublease terms for
aggregate option payments o1'approximately $4.2 billion. u'hich pa1'ments. if such option is exercised. u'ould be due between 2032 and

2048.

29.945

(l-1.279)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions. except per share amounts)

3l% o1'the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, or other agreemcnts

rvith T-Mobile (including those u,hich'I-Mobile assumed in its mergcr with Sprint). Approximatell'half ol'such to\\'ers have an initial
term ol'32 years (through Ma1'2037). and the Company has the option to purchase in2rJ37 all (but not less than all)ol'such leased and

subleased towers liom GMobile for approximately $2.3 billion.'l-he remainder of such towers have a wcighted-average initial term of
approximately 28 ycals. weighted bascd on towels site rental gross mar3in. and the Company has the option to purchase such towers

lrom T-Mobile at the end of the respective terms for aggregate option payments o1'approximatel;" $2.0 billion. uhich payments. if'such

option is exercised. would be due betueen 2035 and 2049. In addition. another l7o ol thc Company's torvers under master leases.

subleascs. or other agreements with T-Mobile are sub.ject to a lcase and subleasc or other rclatcd arrangements u ith A'f&T. The Company

has thc option to purchase these towers from Al-&l'at the end ol'their rc'spective lease terms lbr aggregate option paymenLs of up to

approximatcly'$400 million as of December 31.2023. rvhich payments. if such option is exercised. u'ould be due prior to 2032 (less than

$15 million u'ould be due belbre 2029).

See note l3 fbr further discussion o1'linance leases recorded as "Property and equipment. net" on the Company's consolidated

balance sheet.

5. Goodwill and lntangible Assets

Goodv ill

Thc carrying value ol'goodu'ill was $ l0.l billion ibr each ol'the years endcd December 31. 2023 and 2022. For thc year ended

December 31.2022. additions due to acquisitions rvere $7 million. Thcre wcre no additions during the 1'ear ended Dccember 31.2023

Inrangible.4ssets

The lbllou'ing is a summary of thc Cornpany's intangiblc assets.

As of Dccemhcr 3 l. 2023 .\s of Deccmber 31.2022

Gross ('arrl ing

Value

,\ffutrrulalrd

.\ nroriizition \et Book \alue

Gross (-arrying

!hlue

Accumulatrd

Amortization r-ct Book \hlue

Site rental contracts and tenant relationships $

Othcr intangible assets

lbtal

7.8{t0 $

il3

(4.758) $

(56)

3.122 $

57

7.850 $

tli
(4.3rs) s

(82)

3-5i5

$ 7.993 $ (1.8 r 4) $ 3.t79 $ '7,993 $ (4.397) s 3.596

Amortization expense related to intangible assets is classified as "Depreciation. amortization and accretion" on the Company's

consolidated statcment of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and was $447 million. $446 million. and 5444 million for the

years ended December 31.2023.2022 and 2021. respectively.

The estimated annual amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ending December 31" 2024 to 2028 is as

follows:

Years Ending December 31,

https.//investor. crowncastle. com/node/26996/html

2027

i98 $

67

376 $

2n26

372 $

2027

288 $
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

6. Other Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

The follora'ing is a summary of the components of "Other long-term liabilities" as presented on the Company's consolidated balance

sheet. See also note 2.

As of Dccember 31.

202.3 2022

Delcrrcd rental rcr enues

I)clcrrcd credits. nct

Assct rctiremcnt obli gation

Dclcrrcd incorrre tar liabilitics

Other long-lerrn liahi I ities

'Iirtal

Balance. January I

Additions

Accretion expense

Revision in estimates

Settlenlents

Balancc. Dcccrrbcr 3l

1.3 l0 $

216

355

26

7

1.337

261

327

t8

7

S

$ t.91.1 li t.950

Pursuant to its ground lease. lcased facility. and certain pole attachment agrecments. the Companl' has the obligation to perform

certain assct rctirement activities. including rcquiremenl.s upon c()ntract termination to remove communications inlrastructure or

remediate the space on which its communications infrastructure is located. The changes in the carrying amount ol'the Company's assct

rctircment obligations were as follows:

Years Ending l)eccmber 31.

202J 2022

t; 327 $

6

21

(2t

269

4

20

^- 
(a)

5t

(3)

1; 35s $ 327

(a) Primarill, relates to ( I ) increases in estrmated undiscounted cash flows and (2) ad.tustments to estimated settlemcnt dates for lhe 1,ear ended December 31, 2022, for

certain assel retiremenl obligations and is oflset against the associated asset retirement costs rccorded within "Properry and equlpmcnt. net" on the Company's

consolidated balance sheet.

As of,Deccmber 31.2023, thc cstimated undiscounted future cash outlay for asset retirement obligations rvas approximately $1.2

billion. See notc 2.

For the years ended Decernber 31,2023.2022 and 2021. the Companl, recognized $45 million. $49 million and $54 million.

respectively. in "Site rental revenues" related to the amortization of below-markct tenant lcases. The estimated annual amounts related to

below-market tcnant leascs expected to be amortized into site rental rcvenues lor the years ending December 31. 2024 to 2028 are as

follorvs:

Years Ending December 31,

https.//investor. crowncastle. com/node/26996/html
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Other accrued liabilities included accrued payroll and other accrued compensation ol'$140 million and $210 million as ol
December 3l.2023 and 2022. respectively'.
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(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Debt and Other Obligations

The table bclou scts lbrth the Conrpany's debt and othcr obligations as ol' December 3 I . 2023

7,
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Outstanding Balance as of

December 31.

Strted lntcresl

Rale as of

December 31.
Original

Issue I)atc

Contractual

Maluritv I)1ltc
(a)

2023 2[22 2023

Secured Notes, Series 2009-1. Class A-2 July 2009

Tower Revenue Notes. Series 201 5-2 May 201 5

Tower Revenue Notes. Series 2018-2 July 2018

Finance leases and other obligations Various

Total secured debt

2016 Revolver Jan.20l6

2016 Term Loan A Jan. 2016

Commercial Paper Notes N/A

3.1500/" SeniorNotes Jan.2018

3.200o/o Senior Notes Aug. 2017

1.3507o Senior Notes June 2020

4.4500/" Senior Notes Feb. 2016

3.700% Senior Notes May 201 6

1.0507o Senior Notes Feb. 2021

4.000o/o SeniorNoles Feb.20l7

2.900% Senior Notes Mar.2022

3.650% SeniorNotes Aug.2017

5.000% Senior Notes 1n.2023

3.800%SeniorNotes Jan.2018

4.800% Senior Notes Apr.2023

4.300%SeniorNotes Feb.2019

5.600% Senior Notes Dec. 2023

3.I00%SeniorNotes Aug.2019

3.3000/" Senior Notes Apr.2020

2.250% Senior Notes June 2020

2.l00Yo Senior Notes Feb. 2021

2.500o/o Senior Notes June 2021

5.100% Senior Notes Apr.2023

5.800% Senior Notes Dec. 2023

2.900% Senior Notes Feb. 2021

4.750o/o Senior Notes May 2017

5.200% SeniorNotes Feb.20l9

4.000o/o SeniorNotes Aug.2019

4.150% Senior Notes Apr. 2020

3.250o/o Senior Notes June 2020

Total unsecured debt

Total debt and other obligations

Less: current maturities ofdebt and other obligations

Non-current portion ofdebt and other long-term obligations

(.,

(0

Aug.2029

May 2045 (b)

July 2048 {b)

(c)
vanous

Ju'ly 2027

htly 2027

N/A (O

July 2023

Sept. 2024

July 2025

Feb. 2026

June 2026

July 2026

Mar.202'l

Mar.2027

Sept. 2027

Jan.2028 (h)

Feb. 2028

Sept.2028 
(h)

Feb. 2029

June 2029 (h)

Nov. 2029

July 2030

Jan. 203 I

Apr.203l

July 203 I

May 2033 (h)

Mar. 2034 {h)

Apr.204l

May 2047

Feb. 2049

Nov. 2049

July 2050

Jan.205l

40

698

746

270

47

698

745

246

t.754

670 
("'

t.t62

t.736

t.305

t.192

|.24t

'149

'748

497

896

747

992

497

742

996

9.0%

3.7 %

4.2 0/o

(c)
vanous

6.5 Yot")

6.5 o/ol"l

N/A

N/A

3.2Yo

1.4 o/"

4.5 Yo

3.7 yo

l.t vo

4.0 Yo

2.9 yo

3.7 yo

5.0 Yo

3.8Yo

4.8 o/o

4.3 o/o

5.6 0/o

3.1 o/"

3.3 Y"

2.3 %o

2.1 Yo

2.5 yo

5.1 Yo

5.8 Yo

2.9 0h

4.8 yo

5.2vo

4.0 yo

4.2 0

3.3 0A

_G)

993

(h)

{h)

(h)

749

498

898

748

994

498

144

997

991

995

594

595

740

546

741

|.09t

990

743

743

740

1.234

344

396

346

490

890

21.t6'7

591

545

739

t.090

989

'742

(h)

(h)

1.233

314

396

346

490

890

I 9.993

22.92t

835

21.729

8r9

$ 22.086 $ 20.910
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(a) Represents the wcighted-average sl.ated interest rale. as applrcable

(b) Ifthe Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 and Serres 2018-2 (collectivel), "Tower Revenue Notes") are not paid rn full on or prior to an applicable antlcipated

repayment date, then Excess Cash Flow (as dellned in the indenl.ure goveming the terms ol'such notes) ol'the issuers ol such notes will be used to repay principal o1'

the applicable series and class ofthe Tower Revenue Notes, and additional interesl (ofan additional approxrmately 57o per annum) will accrue on the respective

'Iower Revenue Notes. As of'December 31.2023, the Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 and 2018-2 have principal amounts ol'$700 million and $750 million.

with anticipatcd rcpaymcnt datcs in 2025 and 2028, rcspcctivcly.

(c) The Cornpany's t'inance leases and other oblrgalrons relate to Iand, fiber. vehicles. and other assets and bear rnteresl rates up to l0% and mature In perrods rangrng

from less than onc vear t<l approxrmatell- 25 years

( d ) As o[ Decembcr 3 I . 2023. lhe undrarvn availabilrty under the senror unsecured revolving crcdit faciliry (" 201 6 Revolver" ) rvas $6 3 billion

(e) Both the 2016 Rc'volver and senior unsecured term loan A facilrt_v ("2016 Term Loan A" and. collectrvel-,". "2016 Credit Facilig") bear interest. at the Company's

optron. at either (l)Term SOFR plus (r) a credit spread ad.luslment of0 l0% per annum and (rr) a credit spread ranging lrom O875yoro I 750V:oper annum or (2) an

altcrnate base rate plus a credit spread rangrng from 0 000% to 0.750yo per annum, in each case, wlth the applicable credrt spread based on the Company's senior

unsecured debt ratrng The Company pays a commitment fee ranging lrom 0 080% to 0.300%, based on the Company's senior unsecured debt ratrng, per annum on

the undrawn avarlable amount under the 2016 Revolver. See lunher drscussron below regarding potenlial adJustments to such percentages

(0 The matuntres ol the Commercial Paper Notes. as delined below, when outstandrng, ma)'vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date ofrssuance

(g) ln July 2023, the Company repaid rn tull the 3 I 50% Senior Notes on the contraclual matunty date
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

( h ) See " Bords- Sentor Notes" 6elou lbr further drscussron of senior unsecured notes rssued durrng 2023

'l'he credit agrccment govcrning the Compan;"'s 2016 Crcdit lracilitl'("2016 Credit Agreemcnt") contains financial maintenance

covenants.'l-he Company is currently in compliance with these linancial maintcnance covenants. ln addition. certain of'the Companv's

debt agreements also contain restrictive c()\'cnants that placc restrictions on CCI or its subsidiaries and may limit thc Company's ability
Lo. among other things. incur additional debt and liens. purchase the Companl's securities. make capital expenditurcs. dispose ol'assets.

undertake transactions with affiliates. makc other investments. pay dividends or distribute cxcess cash llora'.

Bank Debt

2016 ('redit Fac'ili4'. In Januar1,20l6. thc Company established the 2016 Credit Facility. r.r'hich r.r'as originall;" comprised o{'(l)a
$2.5 billion 2016 Revolvcr maturing in January 2021,(2) a $2.0 billion 2016'l'erm Loan A maturing in January 2021 and (3) a $1.0

billion senior unsecured 364-da1'revolving credit lacilitl ("364-Da1'Facilitl") maturing in January 20 17.'l'he Company used the net

procecds fiom the 2016 Credit [racility (l) to repay the thcn outstanding senior credit facility originalll'established in January 2012 and

(2) lbr gencral corporate purposes. In Februar1 20l6. the Company used a portion of'thc net proceeds I'rom the February 2016 Scnior

Notes (as dellned belou') oi1'ering to repay in full all outstanding borrou'ings undcr the then outstanding 36,1-Day' Facility.

ln Fcbruarl'2017. thc Companv entcred into an amendmcnt to the 2016 Credit Facilitl'to (l) incur additional term loans in an

aggrcgate principal amoun( of $500 million and (2)cxtend the maturity ol'hoth thc 2016'l-erm Loan A and the 2016 Revolver to January

2022.

In August 2017. the C)ompanl'cntercd into an amendmcnt to the 2016 Credit Facilitl'to (l) increase commitments on the 2016

Revolvcr to 53.5 billion. and (2) extcnd thc maturity of the 2016 Credit Facilitv to August 2022.

In Junc 2018. the Companl'entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (l) increase commitments on the 2016

Ro,olver to $4.25 billion. and (2) extend thc maturity ol'thc 2016 Credit Facility to June 2023.

In.lune 2019. the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (l) increase commitments on the 2016

Revolver to $5.0 billion. and (2)extend the maturity ol'the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2024.

In Junc 202 l. the Company entered into an amendmcnt to the 2016 Credit Agrecment that provided lbr. among othcr things. (l ) the

cxtension of'the maturity date ol'thc 2016 Credit Faciliq'to June 2026.(2) reductions to the interest rate spread ("Spread") and unused

commitmcnt fee ("Commitment Fee") perccntage upon meeting specified annual sustainability talgets ("'fargets") and increases to the

Spread and Conrmitment lree percentage upon the lailure to meet specilied annual sustainabilitr,thresholds ("1'hresholds") and (3) the

inclusion ol'"hardu'ired" l.lBOR transition provisions consistent uith those published by theAlternative Rel'erence Rate Comnrittee. The

Spread and Commitment Fee are subject to an upward adjustment ol'up to 0.05% and 0.01o/o. respectively. il thc Company fails to
achieve the Thresholds. Thc Sprcad and Cornmitment Fee are subject to a downu,ard adjustrnent ol'up to 0.05% and 0.01%. respectivell'.

il'the Conrpany aclrieves the Targets. ln Januarl' 2022. Ianuary' 2023 and January 2024. the Company submitted the required

documentation and rcceived conllrmation liom its administrative agent that all Targets were met as of the respective prior fiscal year

ends. and. as such. thc Spread and Commitnrent Fee percentage reductions rvere applied in January 2022 and maintained for both 2023

and2024.

In Jul1, 2022. the Company entered into an amendment to the 20 l6 Credit Agrecment that provided lbr. among other things. ( l) the

cxtension ot'the maturity date of thc 2016 Credit Facility to .luly 2027. (2) an increase to the commitments on thc 20 l6 Rcvolver to

S7.0 billion. (3) certain modit'ications to the specifir:d sustainability metric and (4) the replacement of the I-IBOR pricing benchmark

with a1trm SOI"R pricing benchmark.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Commerc'ial Paper Progran. In April 2019. thc Company'established a commcrcial papcr program ("CP Program"). pursuant to

which thc Company may issue shorl-tcrm. unsecured commercial papcr notes ("Commercial Paper Notes"). Commercial Paper Notcs

ma1' be issued. repaid and rc-issucd from time to timc. with an aggrcgatc principal amount olCommercial Paper Notes outstanding under

the CP Program at an1'timc originally not to exceed $1.0 billion.'['he net procecds ol'the Commercial Paper Notes arc cxpccted to bc

used fbr general corporate purposcs.'fhe maturities ol'the Commercial Paper Notes. r.l'hen outstanding. may vary but may not cxceed 397

days liom the date of issue. 
-Ihe 

Commercial I'apcr Notes arc issued under customarJ' terms in the commercial paper markct and arc

issucd at a discount iiom par or. alternal.ivell'. can be issued at par and bearvarying intcrest rates on a I'ixed or l)oating basis. At anv point

in time. the Company intends to maintain available commitments under its 2016 Revolver in an amount a[ least equal to thc amount of
C-ommercial Paper Notes outstanding. While any outstanding commercial paper issuanccs generally have short-term maturitics. the

Company classifies the outstanding issuances as long-term based on its ability and intent to rcllnance the outstanding issuances on a

long-term basis.

In March 2022. lhe Companf increased the size ol'thc CP Program to permit the issuance ol' Commercial Paper Notes in an

aggrcgate principal amount not to exceed S2.0 billion at any time outstanding. As ol'Dccember 31. 2023. the Company had no net

issuances undcr the CP l)rogram.

Securili:ed Debt

'l-hc'lower Rcvenue Notes and the Secured Notes. Series 2009-1. Class A-2 ("2009 Securitizcd Notcs") (collcctivcly, "Securitizcd

Debt") are obligations ol'spccial purpose entities and thcir dircct and indirect subsidiaries (each an "issuer"). all ol'which are \vholly-

owncd. indirect subsidiaries of CCll.'l-he'lbuer Revenue Notcs and 2009 Sccuritized Notes are govemed by separate indentures. The

2015 Touer Revenue Notes and 201[i Torver Revcnue Notes (each as dellned belorv) are governed by one indenture and consist ol'

multiple series ol'notes. cach with its ou'n anticipated repa)'ment date.

In May 2015. the Company issucd $1.0 billion aggregatc principal amount ol'Senior Secured lbrver Revenue Notcs ("2015'lbwer

Revenue Notcs"). nhich ucre issued pursuant to thc existing indcnturc and have similar terms and securitl,as the Companv's then

outstanding Tuu'er Revcnue Notes. Thc 2015 Tou,er Revenuc Notcs originally consisted ol'(l) $300 million aggregate principal amount

of 3.222o/o senior securcd tower re\,enue notes u,ith an anticipated repa)'ment dale ol-May 2022 and a final maturity date ol-May 2042
("Series 2015-l Notes") and (2) $700 million aggregatc principal amount of 3.663V, scnior secured lower revenuc notcs u'ith an

anticipatcd repa)'mcnt date ol-Ma1 2025 and a linal maturity date ol'May'2045 ("Series 2Ol5-2 Notes").'[hc Company primarily'used

the net proceeds ol'the 20 l5'l-ower Revenue Notes. togcther with procceds received liom the Company's sale ol'the lbrmcrll'77.6%
ou,ncd subsidiary that operated towcrs in Australia ("CCAL"). to (l) repay $250 nrillion aggregate principal amount ol'prer,'iously

outstanding August 20 l0lbuer Revcnue Notes. (2) repal'all ol'the thcn outstanding WCP Sccurcd Wireless Site Contracts Revenue

Notes. Scries 2010-l ("WCIP Securitizcd Notes"). (3) repal portions ol'outstanding borrorvings undcr the 2012 Clrcdit Facility and (4)

pay relatcd l'ees and expenscs. In June 202l. the Conrpany used a portion olthc neL proceeds from the June 2021 ScniorNotes (as

defincd belorr') ofi'cring 1cr rcpa) in uhole the Scries 2015-l Notes.

In Jull' 2018. the Companv issucd $1.0 billion aggrcgatc principal amount of Senior Securcd Torver Revcnuc Notcs ("2018 Tower

Relenue Notcs"). u'hich rverc issued pursuanl to the existing indenture and have similar terms and security'as the Company's existing
'lou,er Revenue Notes. The 2018'lbr.r,er Revenue Notes originally consistcd ol'(l) 5250 million aggregalc principal amount

ol'3.720'h senior securcd tower rcvenue notes with an anticipatcd repa)men1 date ol'July 2023 and a linal maturity ol'July 2043 ("Series

20lti-l Notes") and (2) $750 million aggregatc principal amount <tl'4.241%o senior secured to\\'er revenue notes uith an anticipated

repa),ment date ol'Jul1'2028 and a t'inal maturitl'ol'July 2048 ("Scries 2018-2 Notes"). The Company used the net procccds o1'thc 2018

Touer Revenuc Notes. togethcr uith cash on hand. to repay all ol'the previously outstanding Torver Rcvenue Notes. Series 2010-6 and to

pa1'relatcd l-ccs and expenscs. In addition to the 2018 -lou'er Rerenue Notcs dcscribed above. in connection rvith Exchange Act risk

retention requirements ("Risk Retcntion Rules"). an indirect subsidiary, of the Company issued and a majority-owned affiliate ol the

Company purchased approximatcly $53 million of thc Senior Secured Tower Revenuc Notes. Series 2018-1. Class R-2028 to retain an

cligible horizontal residual interest (as defined in the Risk Rctention Rules) in an amount equal to at least 5% ol'the lair value of thc

2018'[ouer Revenue Notes. ln March 2022. the Companl' prepaid the Scries 2018-I Notes.
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-fhe 
Sccuritized Debt is paid solcl)- from thc cash florvs gencratcd b1,the opcration of the tou'ers held directly and indirectlv by the

issuers ofthe respective Securitized Dcbt. The Securitized Debt is secured by. among other things. (l) a security interest in substantially

all ol'the applicable issuers'assignablc personal propert), (2) a pledge ofthe equity' intcrests in each applicable issuer and (3) a security

interest in the applicable issuers' leases r.l'ith tenants to leasc tower space (spacc liccnses). 'Ihe governing instruments of tu'o indirect

subsidiaries ("Crown Atlantic" and "Crown GT") ol'thc issuers ol'the

7t
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

louer Revenue Notes gencrally prevent them from issuing debt and granting liens on their assets without the approval ol'a subsidiary ol
Verizon Communications. Cunscquently. u,hile distributions paid b1 Crorvn Atlantic and Crorvn CT will scrvice the 'lorver Rel'enue

Notes. the'lbwer Rer,enue Notes are not obligations o1. nor are thc'lorver Rcvenue Notcs secured by thc cash llorvs or any other assets

of. Crown Atlantic and Crou'n G'I- As ol'Deccmber 31.2023. the Sccuritized Debt rvas collatcralized with personal property and

equipment with an aggregate nct book value ol' approximalely $73 I million. exclusive ol' Cru.r'n Atlantic and Crown GT personal

propcn) and equipmcnt.

-l-he 
excess cash llows liom the issucrs of the Sccuritized Debt. alter the payment o1- principal, inLerest. reserves, expenses and

management fees. are distributed to thc Company in accordance \\'ith the terms of the indentures. If the Debl Sen,ice Coverage Ratio
("DSCR") (as dellned in thc applicable governing loan agreement) as ol-the end ol-anv calendar quarler l-alls to a ccnain level, then all

crcess cash florv olthe issucrs ol'the applicable debt instrument uill be deposited into a rescn,e account instcad of being released kr the

Companl'.'l-he Iunds in thc resen'e account will not be released to the Companl'until the DSCR cxceeds a ccnain level for tu'o

consecutive calendar quarters. Ifthe DSCR lalls below a certain level as ofthe end o1'any calendar quarter. then all cash on deposit in the

reserr,'e account along with luture excess cash llou,s ol'the issuers u'ill bc applied t() prepay the dcbt u'ith applicable prcpavment

considcration.

-l-he 
Company mav repay the Securitized Dcbt in uhole or in part at any time. provided in each casc that such prepavmcnt is

accompanicd by any applicable prepayment consideration. The Securitized Debt has covenants and restrictions customary for rated

sccuritizations, including provisiorrs prohibiting thc issucrs liom incurring additional indebtedness or Iurrher cncumbcring their assets.

Bonds -Senior Noles

In December 2023. the Company issued 5750 million aggregate principal amount ol'5.600% senior unsecured notcs due June 2029

and $750 million aggregate principal amount of 5.800% senior unsecured notes due March 2034 (collectively. "December 2023 Senior

Notes"). Thc Company used the net proceeds from the Decembcr 2023 Senior Notes ot-fering to repay a portion of the outstanding

indebtedness undcr its commcrcial papcr program and pay' related lces and expenses.

In April 2023. the Company issued $600 million aggregatc principal amounl ol'4.800% senior unsecured notes due Septcmber

2028 and $750 million agBrcgate principal amount of 5.100% senior unsecurcd notes due May 2033 (collectively. "April 2023 Scnior

Notes"). The Company' uscd the net procceds liom the April 2023 Senior Notes ol1'ering to rcpa)' a portion of the outstanding

indebtcdness undcr thc 2016 Revolver and pay relal.ed I'ccs and expcnses.

In.lanuary 2023.the Companv issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amounl of 5.000% senior unsecured notcs due January 2028

(".lanuaD'2023 Scnior Notes").'Ihe Compan,v uscd the net proceeds ftom thc.lanuary' 2023 Senior Notcs offering l.o repa) a portion of
the outstanding indebtedness under the 2016 Revolver and pay related fees and expcnses.

ln March 2022.the Companv issucd $750 million aggregatc principal amount of 2.900o/o senior unsecured notes due March 2027

("March 2022 Senior Notes"). 1-he Company used the net proceeds iiom the March 2022 Senior Notes ol1'ering to repay a portion ol'the
outstanding indebtcdness under the CP Program and pay relatcd fees and expenses.

In June 202 I. thc Company' issued $750 million aggrcgate principal amount ol'2.500% scnior unsecured notes due July 203 I

("Junc202l SeniorNotcs"). lnJune202 l.thcCompanyusedaportionol-thcnetproceedsliomtheJune202l SeniorNotesoll'ering(l)
to rcpa)'outstanding Commclcial PapcrNotcs and (2) firr gcncral colporatc purposcs. In Jull'2021. thc Company uscd a portion of thc

net proceeds to rcpay in tull the previousll' outstanding Series 20 l 5- l Notes.

In Februarl'202 l. the C-'ompany issued $3.25 billion aggregatc principal amountol'senior unsecured notes ("F'ebruary 2021 Senior

Notes"). u'hich consisted ol'11) $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount ol 1.050% scnior unsccured notes due.luly 2026.(2) $.I.0 billion
aggregate principal amount of 2. I 00% scnior unsecured notes due April 203 I and (3 ) $ I .25 billion aggregate principal amount of 2.9(\0%o

senicrr unsecured notes due Apri I 2041 .'lhe Company used the net procecds liom the February 202 I Senior Notes o(lbring to ( I ) redeem

all o1'the outstanding 5.250o/o Scnior Notes. (2) repal' a portion ol'the outstanding C--ommercial Paper Notes and (3) repay a portion ol'

outstanding borrorvings undcr the 2016 -ferm l,oan A.
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In April 2020. thc Company issued !i1.25 billion aggrcgate principal amount ol'senior unsecured notes ("April 2020 Senior Notes").

rvhich consisted of (l) $750 million aggregatc principal amount of 3.300% scnior unsecured notes due.lull 2030 and (2) $500 million
aggregate principal amount of 4.l50Yo senior unsecured notes due July 2050. Thc Company' used the net procecds ol- the April 2020

Senior Notes ollering 1ct repay outstanding borrowings undcr the 2016 Revolvcr.

In June 2020. thc Companv issued $2.5 billion aggregate principal amount ol'senior unsccured notes ("June 2020 SeniorNotcs").
rvhich consisted ol( l) $500 million aggrcgate principal amount o{' I.350% senior unsccured notes due July 2025. (2)

72
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

$l.l billion aggregatc principal amount ctl'2.250%o senior unsecurcd notcs duc January 203 I and (3) $900 million aggregatc principal

amount ol'3.250Yo senior unsecured notes duc Januan' 205 l. Ihe Companl used the net procecds ol'the .lunc 2020 Senior Notes

ofl'ering. together with available cash. to redeem all ol'the previously outstanding 3.400% Scnior Notes. 2.250% Senior Notes and

4.875o/o Senior Notes.

In Fcbruary 2019. thc Conrpany issued $1.0 billion aggrcgate principal amounl. ofscnior unsecured notes ("Fcbruary 2019 Scnior

Notes"). r.r'hich consistcd ot'(l) $600 million agSregate principal amount of 4.300% senior unsecured notes due Februaq' 2029 and (2\

$400 million aggregate principal amount ol 5.200% scnior unsecured notes duc February 2049. l'he Company used the net proceeds o1'

the Fcbruary 2019 Scnior Notes oflering to repay a portion of thc outstanding borrou ings under the 2016 Rcvolvcr.

ln August 2019. the Company issued $900 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsccurcd notcs ("August 2019 Senior

Notes"). ulrich consisted ol'(l) 5550 million agBregatc principal amount ol'3.100% senior unsccured notes due Novcmber 2029 and(2)

$350 million aggregatc principal amount ol'4.000% senior unsecured notes due Novcn.rbe r 2049.1-he Company used the nct proceeds of
thc August 2019 Scnior Notes oli'ering to repay outstanding borrorvings under the 2016 Rcvolver and the CP Program.

In January 20ltt. thc Company' issued $750 million aggregate principal amount ol 3.150% senior unsecured notes duc July

2023 and $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount ol'3.800% senior unsccured notes due February' 2028 (collcctivcl;". "January' 2018

Scnior Notes"). 'l-hc Compan-v used the net proceeds o1-the January 20ltl Scnior Notcs offering to repay (l) in full the previously

outstanding Januarl' 2010'lbwer Revcnue Notes and (2)a portion ol'the outstanding borrowings undcr the 2016 Revolver. In Jull 2023.

the Compan;" rcpaid the Januarl' 20 l8 Senior Notes on the contractual maturity date.

In Fcbruarv 2017. the Company issued 5500 million aggregate principal amount ol 4.000% senior unsecured notes due March

2027 ("4.000% Senior Notes"). 't'he Companv used the nct proceeds lrom the 1.000% Senior Notes ot1'cring to repay a portion of'the
outstanding borrorvings under the 2016 Revolver.

In May 2017. the Companf issued $350 million aggregate principal amount ol'4.750o/o senior unsecured notes due May

2047 ("4.750o/o Senior Notes"). Thc (lompany used the net proceeds tiom the 4.750% Scnior Notes otl'ering to partialll' t'und the 2017

acquisition o1'Wilcon lloldings LI-C and to repay a portion cll-thc outstanding borrorvings under the 2016 Revolver.

In August 2017.the C)ompany issued $1.75 billion aggregate principal amount ol'senior unsecured notes ("August 20 l7 Scnior

Notcs"), u'hich consisted of (l) S750 million aggregate principal amount of 3.200olo senior unsecured notes due Scptember

2024 ("3.2007o Senior Notes") and (2) $1.0 billion aggrcgate principal amount ol'3.650% senior unsecured notes due September

2027 \"3.6500/o Senior Noles"). 'Ihe Companl, used the net proceeds lrom thc August 2017 Senior Notes ol1-ering to parlially lund the

2017 acquisition ol'LlS Group Iloldings l.l.C and pay,related l'ces and erpcnses.

In February, 2016. thc Company issued Sl.5 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes 1"February 2016 Scnior

Notes"). u,hich consisted of (l) the previously outstanding $600 million aggregate principal amount ol 3.400%o senior notes due Februarv

2O2l ('3.4(lO% Senior Notcs") and (2) $900 million aggregate principal amount of 4.450oh senior unsecured notes due l-'ebruary 2026

("4A50% Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds fiom the lrebruary 2016 Senior Notes offering. together rvith cash on

hand. to (l) repay in full all outstanding borrou'ings under the then outstanding 364-Day Facility and (2) repay $500 million of
outstanding borrorvings under the 20 I 6 Revolvcr.

In Ma1'2016. thc Company'issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of scnior unsecured notes ("May 2016 SeniorNotcs").
rvhich consisted of 1l) the previousll'outstanding $250 nrillion aggrcgate principal amount ol-additional 3.400% SeniorNotes pursuant

to the samc indcnture as the 3.400% Senior Notes issued in thc February 2016 Senior Notes oll'ering and 12) $750 million aggregate

principal amount. of 3.700V, senior unsecurcd n()tes due June 2026 ("3.700% Scnior Notcs"). The Companl' used thc net procccds lrom

the May 2016 Senior Notes ofl-cring to repay in lull thc prer,iouslv outstanding-lbn'er Revcnue Notes. Series 2010-2 and Series 2010-5.

each issued by ccrtain of its subsidiaries. and to rcpay a portion ol'the outstanding borrora'ings under the 2016 Revolver.

llachofthe3.700VoSeniorNotes.4.4500 SeniorNotes"August20I7SeniorNotes.4.750%SeniorNotes.4.000%SeniorNotes.
January' 20 l8 Senior Notes. August 2019 Senior Notes. February 2019 Senior Notes. June 2020 Senior Notes. April 2020 Senior Notes.

June 2021 Senior Notes. |ebruary 2021 Senior Notes. Malch 2022 Senior Notes. January 2023 Senior Notes. April 2023 Senior Notes.
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and Dccembcr 2023 Senior Notes (collectivel;-. "Scnior Notes") are senior unsecured obligations of the Companl,and rank equally rvith
all of the Company's existing and future senior unsecurcd indcbtedness. including obligations under the 2016 Credit Facility. and senior

to all ofthe Companl"s luture subordinated indebtedness. The

l-)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCTAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of the Companl,'s subsidiaries. 'fhe

Companl"s subsidiaries are not guarantors o1'the Senior No1cs.

Thc Company may redecm any ol'the SeniorNotcs in u,hole or in part at any time at a pricc cqual to 100% ol'thc principal amount

trl be redeemcd. plus a make r.r'holc prcmium. ilapplicable. and accrued and unpaid intcrest. il'an;". to the date o1'redemption.

P ret i ous ly Ou t.s tand i ng I nde b t e d ne.s s

Bonds Senior Notes. In July 2023. the Company repaid in lull the previously outstanding 3 .150o/o senior notes due 2023

Scheduled Princ'ipul Pa1'nrcnts ond l"-inal lvlaluritic,t

The lbllouing are the schcduled principal pavmcnts and linal maturities ol'the total debt and other long-tenn obligations ot'the
Companl' outstanding as of Decernber 31, 2023. uhich do not consider the principal pa)'rnents that will commence lbllou,ing the

anticipated rcpa)'ment dates on the Torvcr Rcvenue Notes. Il-the Torver Revenuc Notes are not paid in llll on or prior to their respccti!'c

anticipated repa)-ment dates. as applicable. then the Ilxcess Cash Flo* (as dellned in the indenture) olthe issuers oIsuch notes will be

used to rcpay principal of the applicable series and class of the Tou,er Rcvcnue Notes and additional interest (ol an additional

approximately 5Vo pcr annum) will accruc on the Tou'er Revenue Notes.

)eam l.nding f)ecember Jl. I namortized

.tdjusfmcnts.

Nct

Total DGbt end

Other

Obligations

Outsaanding2[21 2025 2026 2021 202n

lirtal ( ash

Thcrcafter Obligations

Scheduled prrncrpal

pavments and

tlnal maturrties $ 835 $ 599 S 2.777 S 3.918 $ 2.628 $ 12.3i5 $ 23.092 $ (l7l) $ 22321

Purc'hases and Redemptions of l,ong-Tbrm Debt

The following is a summary of thc purchases. payments and redemptions of long-term debt during the vears ended December 31.

2023.2022 and 2021.
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3.150o/" Secured Notes

Total

Tower Revenue Notes. Series 2018-l

3.849" Secured Notes

2016 Revolver

Total

5.250% Senior Notes

2016 Term Loan A

Tower Revenue Notes. Series 2015-l

Total

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Principal Amount Cash Paid(') Gains (lossrs)(h)

\bar t.nrled l)ecembcr 31.2023

750 750

$ 7s0 $ 7_s0 $

\tar t-nded l)ecrmber J1.2022

$ (3)

r.250 $ 1.271 $ (2lt)

Year Ended December 31.2021

$ r.650 $ I.78e $

250 $

t.000

25? $

1.022 (23 )

(2)

$

300-300

( l.l-3)

(l)

(l)

$ r.950 $ 2.()8e $ ( H5)

(a)

(b)

Exclusrve of accrued rnterest

Inclusive olthe write-offolthe respectrve delerred financrng cosl.s

74
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

8, Fair Value Disclosures

1'he lbllowing table shows the estimated l'air values of the Company's financial instruments, along with the carry'ing amounts of the

related assets (liabilities). See also note 2.

l.eyrl in lairYalur: Deccnrber 31. 2023 December 31. 2022

llierarchy Carrling Amount Iair Value ( arn'ing,\mount l'air \ilue

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalenLs.

current and non-current

Liabilitics:

'lotal deht and other ohligations

t05 $ 105 $ 156 $ t56

t76 t76 r7t t7t

22.92t 2 1.20 r 2t.729 t9.,554

9. Income Taxes

Income (loss) from continuing, operations before income taxes by geographic area is summarized in the table belou'.

l'ears Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

s

2

Domestic

Foreign(u)

Total

(a) Inclusive ofincome (loss) from continuing operatrons before income taxes from Puerto Rrco

The benefit (provision) for income taxes consists of the following:

Current:

Federal

Foreign

State

Total current

Deferred:

Foreign

Total deferred

Total tax benefit (provision)

(7) $

(9)

(2)

(s)

(8)

(l)

$ 1.499 $

29

r.66 r $

30

1.t44

35

$i t.528 s r.69 r $ t.t79

)'ears Ended Deccmber 31.

2023 2022 2021

$ (6) $

(e)

2

( l8) ( l3) (17)

(8) (-3) (4)

(8) (3) (4)

(26) $ ( l6) (2tl

A reconciliation betwecn the benelrt (provision) lbr income taxes and the amount computed by applying the l'ederal statutory

income tax rate to the income (loss) from continuing operations belbre income taxes is as follorvs:

$ $
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Benelit (provision) for incorne taxes at statutory rate

Tax ad.justment related to RLI'[ operations

Valuation allorvances

State tax (provision) benetit. net ol'lbderal

Foreign tax

Total

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Yean Endcd DecemherJl,

2023 2022 202t

$ (321) $

il3
(355) $

349

(l)

2

(ll)

(211r )

l-l-l

(2)

( l6)

(4)

( l2)

$ (26) $ ( l6) $ (21)

75
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Del'erred inconre tax liabil ities:

Propert-v and equipment

Deferred site rental receivables

Site rental contracts and tenant relationships. net

Total deferred income tax liabilities

Del'erred income tax assets:

Other intangible assets. net

Net operating loss carrylbru'ards(")

Straight-line rent expense liability

Accrucd liabilitics

Other

Valuation allowances

Total deferred income tax assets. net

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities)

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2023

The components of the net delerred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Drcembrr 31.

2022

$ r0 $

9

29

8

I
29

{8 J6

29 30

t)
4

6

4

(2)

5

)

5

)

(2)

17 5"1

(l) s

(a) Balance results fiom the Company's fbreign NOLs. Due to the Company's REIT status. no l'ederal or state NOLs result in the Company recording a def'erred income

tax asset. See funher discussion surroundrng the Company's NOL balances below.

1'hc Companl, operatcs as a Rlrll- for LJ.S. ll'deral income tax purposes.

'l'he componcnts ol'the net delbrred income tax assets (liabilities) are as li)llou,s:

DeccmherJl.202J Drcember 3l, 2{)22

It$

(iross

Valuation

,lllot'ance (iross

Valuation

Allowance\el \ctClassification

Federal

State

Foreign

'Iotal

li )6$

(26)

(l) $

(l)

(l) $

(l)

25

(u)

25$

()7)

26$

( l7)

$ l$ (2) $ (l) $ r0 $ (2) $ 8

During 2023, the Company maintained previously recorded valuation allowances totaling $2 million related to ccrlain deferred tax

assets as management believes that it is not "more likcly than not" that the Compan;' will realize the assets.

At December 3l-2023. the Company had tJ.S. l'ederal and state NOLs of approximately $1.5 billion and $0.5 billion. respectively,

which are available to offset future taxablc income. l-hese amounts include approximately $237 million of losses related to stock-based

compensation. The Compan)'also has foreign NOLs ol'$13 million. ll'not utilized. the Company's U.S. I'ederal NOLs expire starting in

2025 and ending in 2036. the state NOLs starled expiringin2022 and end in 2036. and the foreign NOLs started expiring in2023 and

end in 2036. The utilization of the NOI-s is subject to certain limitations.-l-he Company's LJ.S. fcderal and state income tax retums

gcnerall) remain opcn to examination by taring authorities until three years aller the applicable NO[,s have been used or expired.
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As of December 31,2023. therc u erc no unrecognized tax benellts that would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized.

From timc to timc. thc Company is subicct to cxaminations by various tax authoritics in jurisdictions in which thc Company has

business operations. At this time. the Company is not subject to an Internal Revenue Sen,ice examination.

On April 26,2021 , the Company entered into an agreemcnt in principlc with the Australian Taxation O1lice ("ATO") to pay

A$83 million to scttle the previously disclosed outstanding, audit of the Australian tax consequences of the Company's 2015 sale of
Crou,n Castle Australia Holdings Pty l.td ("CCA[-"). lbrmerly a 77.60/o ou,ned Australian subsidiary of the Company ("AIO
Settlement").'fhe sale ol'CCAI- generated approximately $1.2 billion in nct proceeds to the Company'. and resulted in a gain liom the

disposal of discontinued operations o{'$979 million lbr the 1'ear ended Deccmber 31. 2015.

76
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

On Junc l6,2O2l . the Company entered into a dellnitive settlement agreement u'ith theAl-O evidencing theATO Settlement. On

Jul1 l.202 l.theCompanypaidapproximately$62million(A$S3million).bascdonthcexchangeratcineflectonthatdate.pursuantto
thc AT0 Scttlement. The Company recognizcd the Al-0 Settlemenl as a charge u,ithin discontinued operations in its consolidated

statemcnt of operations and comprehensivc income (loss) Ibr the vear ended f)ccembcr 31. ?021 . as this amount represented a reduction

t() the gain liom the disposal ol'discontinued operations previously rcported during the year ended December 31.20 15. The Company

rcflcctcd thc pa1'mcnt pursuant to thc AIO Scttlcmcnt r,rithin discontinucd opcrations in thc Companl's consolidatcd statcmcnt of cash

l'lorvs lbr thc vear cnded December 3l. 202 l.

1'he Company regularly assesses the likclihood of additional assessmcnts in each of the tax jurisdictions in which it has business

operatitrns.'Ihe Companl'has no uncertain tax positions as of Dccember 31.2023. Additionally. the Companl'docs not believe any such

additional asscssments arisine from examinations or audits rrill have a material cllect on thc Company's llnancial statements.

As of December 31.2023. the Companl''s del'erred tax assets are included in "Other assets. net" and the Conrpany's dcl'erred tax

liabilities arc includcd in "Olher long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balancc sheet.

10. Equity

202 I ".1t-the-\lorker" Stock {).[/bring Pntgrant

In March 202,l. thc Conrpany cstablished an "at-the-market" stock ol1'ering program through u'hich it may issue and sell shares of
its common stock hal'ing an aggrcgate gross sales price of up to 5750 million ("202 I Al-M Program"). Sales under the 2021 ATM

Program may be made by means olordinary brokers'transactions on the NYSII or othen'ise at market prices prevailing at the time ol'

salc. at prices related to prevailin-e markct priccs or. subicct to the Company's specillc instructions. at negotiated priccs. The Companl'

has not sold an1' shares ol'common stock under the 2021 AI-M Program.

Declaration and Paymenl o/ Dividends

[)uring thc y car cnded l)ccemhcr 31. 2023. the lirllos'ing dividcnds/distributions u'cre dcclarcd or 1'raid:

Equitr'-I.vpe Drclaration Date Rrrord I)atc Pal mrnt I)ate

l)ividends Per

Share

,{ggrcgatr

I'$ymcnl

Amoun l(')

Conrnron Stock

Conrnron Stock

Conrnron Stock

('onrmon Stock

Fehruarl' 7. 2023

Ma1 l. 202-3

Jull 21.2023

October 17.202i

N4arch 15.2023

.lune 15. 2023

Septernber I 5. 2023

l)ccemher 15. 202-j

March 31.2023 $

June 30.2023 $

Septernber 29.2023 $

December 29-2023 $

r.565 $

1.565 $

r.565 $

r.565 $

681

(r8 I

681

68 I

(a) Inclusive ofdividends accrued for holders ofunvestcd RStis. *'hich will bc'paid when and rfthe RSUs vest

See also note I 7 lbr a discussion of the Company's common stock dividend declarcd in February 2024

Tax Trealment of Ditidends

'l-he follovving table summarizes. lor income tax purposes. the rrature oldiridends paid during 2023 on the Compan-v's common

stock

https://investor. crowncastle.com/node/26996/html 137 t226



5114125.11:41 AM

Equitl Tl'pe Pal"ment Datc

Srction l99A

I)ividend (per

share)

Non-l'arable

Distrihution (per

share)

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Ordinan Taxable Qualified Taxatrle

( ash I)istribulion Dividend (per Ditidend (per

(per shere) share) share)('l

Comnron Stock

Cornmon Stock

Conrnron Stock

Cornmon Stock S

(a) Qualrfied taxable divrdend and sectron l99A drvrdend amounts are rncluded rn ordrnary tarable dtvidend amounts

Purc'hases oflhe Company's Common Stock

During the 1'ears ended Decenrher 31.2023.2022 and 202 I, the Company'purchased 0.2 million.0.4 million and 0.4 million shares

of its common stock. respectivcly, utilizing 530 million. $65 million and $70 million in cash. respectively. The

77

March 31. 2023

June 30. 2023

Septemher 29.2023

December 29.2023

t.565000 $

1.565000 $

I.565000 $

t.565000 li

t.032 t_s I $

r.03215 r $

t.032ls r s

t.03215r $

0.0 r 5327 $

0.0 r5327 l;

0.0 | 5327 $

0.0 t5327 $

I.0r6824 $

I .016821 $

r.0r6824 $

|.0t6824 $

t;

$

$

0.5328.19

0.5328-19

0.532849

0.532849
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

shares of common stock purchascd relate to sharcs rvithheld in connection vr,ith thc pa)'ment o1'ruithholding taxes upon vesting of RStts.

I l. Stock-based Compensation

St oc' k (' ompe nsol i on P luns

Pursuant to stockholdcr approvcd plans, thc Company has grantcd stock-bascd awards to ccrtain cmployccs. consultants or non-

employce directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or al'llliates. Follou'ing the stockholder approval ol'the 2022 Long-'ferm

Incentive Plan 1"2022 UllP"). no furthcr auards can be made under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2013 LTIP"). As o1'

December 31.2023. the Company had approximately I million shares available lirr issuance undcr cxisting arvards pursuant to thc 2013

I-TIP and approximately I million and l3 million shares availablc lor issuance under existing and luture au'ards. rcspectively. pursuant to

the 2022 L]'lP.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company issues RSlls to certain cxccutives and enrployees. Each RStJ rcpresents a contingcnt right to rcccive one share ofthe
Companl"s common stock subjcct to satisl'action ol'the applicahle vesting ternrs.'l'hc RSUs grantcd 1o certain exccutives and employees

include (l ) annual ar,'ards that contain only scn,ice-based conditions, (2) annual pcrlbrmancc auards that vest subjcct to the achicvcment

of certain stock perlbrmance-bascd metrics (as fu(her describcd below). (3) ncrv hire, promotional or relocation au'ards that gcncrally

contain onll'sen'ice-based vcsting conditions and 141 other auards related to specific busincss initiatives or c()mpensation objectives

including rctention and mergcr integration. Generally. such auards vest over pcriods of approximatcl) three )'ears.

The lbllouing is a surnnrary,olthe RStl activity during the 1,car ended [)cccnrber 31.2023

RSt s

(ln nilltons)

Outstanding at the beginning of 1'ear

Granted

Vested

Forl'eited

Outstanding at end ofyear

)

2

(l)

The Company granted approximately tuo million RStls to its executives and certain other employees lor the year ended

December 31.2023 and approximately one million RStJs lbr each of the years ended Decembcr 31. 2022 and 202 l. The weightcd-

average grant-date lair value per share ol the grants for the 1'cars ended Decemher 3 l. 2023. 2022 and 2021 rvas $ I 26.56. $ I 46.52 and

$155.01 pershare.respectivelv.'lherveighted-averagerequisitcsen'iceperiodlirrthcRSUsgrantedduring2023wasapproximatcly2.2
ycars.

Ol'the approximately trvo million RSUs granted during thc year ended December 31. 2023. (l) approximately, l.l million and

0.1 million RSLIs rvere subject to time-based vesting conditions. \'esting or,er a three-year period and a one-year period. respectivcll'. and

(2) approximately 0.3 million RSLIs were granted to the Company's executives and certain other cmployees and may vest on the third

anniversary ofthe grant date based upon (a) thc Company's total stockholder returns (defined as share price appreciation plus the value

of dividends paid during the perltlrmance period) and (b) thc Company's total stockholder return compared to that of the companics in

the Standard & Poor's 500 Index. Cenain RSIJ agreements contain provisions that result in lorleiture by the employee of any unvested

shares in the event that the Companl"s common stock does not achieve certain performance targets. To the cxtent that the requisite

service is rendered. compensation cost for accounting purposes is not rerersed: rather. it is recognized regardlcss ofrvhether or not the

market perlbrmance target is achieved.

The tbllowing table summarizes the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo sirnulation to detcrmine the grant-date lhir value Ibr the

RSLJs u ith market conditions granted during the years ended December 31. 2023. 2022 and 2021 .

-l
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Risk-free rate

Expected volatilitl'

Expected dividend rate

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Ycars Ended Decenrber J l.

2023 2022 202t

1.5 y"

27 o/o

4.6 o/o

1.7 0/o

3t%

3.0 o/o

0.2v;

30%

3.4%

78
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

The Companl,recognized aggregate stock-based compensation cxpense rclated to RSUs ot'$139 million. $134 million and $ll0
mitlion lirr the years cnded Deccmber 31,2023.2022 and 202l. rcspectivcly. Thc aggregatc unrecognized compensation (net ol
estimated fbrfeiturcs) relatcd to RSUs at December 31.2023 is $74 million and is estimated to be recognized over a weighted-average

pcriod ol'less than one year.

The lolloruing tablc is a sunlmary of the RSUs vested during the 1,ears endcd December 31. 2023. 2022 and 2021 .

Years Ended December 3l

Total Sharcs

\/csled

Fair Value on

Vesting I)ate

1 I n mrl I rons rsf shuresl

2()23

?022

202 |

Stock-based compensation expense. net:

Site rcntal costs ol'operations

Sen,ices and other costs of'operations

Selling. general and adrninistratile expenses

'[otal stock-hased compensation expense. net

r1; 92

I87

t99

St oc k- bose d (' om pe ns at i on F-x.pe ns e,,Ne t

The lollow'ing table discloses the components of stock-bascd compensation expense. net.

202J

Years Ended l)ecember Jl.

2022 2021

$ 19 $

l0

r28

t8 $

l0

r28

t4

8

t09

$ r57 $ t-56 $ l3r

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Other Motlers

fheCompanf isinvol'"edinvariousclaims.assessments. lavvsuitsorproccedingsarisinginthcordinarycourseof business.While

thcre are uncertainties inherent in the ultimate outcome of such mattcrs and it is impossiblc to prcsently determine the ultimate costs or

losses that may be incurred. if any'. management believes the adverse resolution olsuch uncertainties and the incurrence ol'such costs

should not have a material adverse ell'ect on the Company's consolidated llnancial position or results ol'operations. 
-fhe 

Company and

certain <ll' its subsidiaries are also contingently liahlc lbr commitments or perlbrmance guarantces arising in the ordinary coursc ol'

business. including certain lctters ol-credit or suretl' bonds.

See note l3 lor a discussion of operating lease commitments. In addition, as mentioned in note 4, the Company has the option to

purchasc approximately' 53'Y, of its towers at the end ol'their respective lease terms. 'fhe Companl' has no obligation to exercise such

purchase options.

13. Leases

Lessor Tenanl l,eases

Sce nol.e 3 lbr t'urther inlbrmation regarding the contractual amounts orved to the Company pursuant to tenant contracts in etlcct as

ol'December 31.2023 and other inlbrmation.
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[,ea-se cost:

Operating lease expense(o)

Variable lease expenselb)

Total lease expense(')

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions. except per share amounts)

Lessee Ope rat i ng l-eases

The components of the Company's opcrating lease expense are as lbllorvs:

Years Ended Derenrber 31,

2023 2022 2021

$ 708

205

$ 660 $

t'7 5

646

t64

$ 9r3 $ 835 $ tt l0

(a) Represents the Company's operating lease expense related to its ROU assets for the years ended December 3 I , 2023, 2027 and 2021

(b) Represents the Companlrs expense related to contingent pa),ments lor operatrng leases (such as payments based on revenues denved from l.he communrcations

infrastruclure located on the Ieased asset) for the years ended December 3l , 2023. 2022 and 202 I . Such contingencies are recognrzed as expense rn the period they

are resolved.

(c) Excludes those direct operating expenses accounted fbr pursuant to accounting guidance outside the scope oIASC 842.

Lessee Finance Leases

The vast majority of the Compan)-'s llnance leases are related to the tou'ers subject to prepaid master lease agreements with A1-&T

and T:Mobile (including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). and are recorded as "Property and equipment. net" on

the consolidated balance shect. Sce notc 4 for further discussion ofthe Company's prepaid master lease agreements. Finance leases and

associated leasehold improvements related to gross properly and equipment and accumulated depreciation were $4.3 billion and $2.9

billion. respcctively. as ol'December 31. 2023. F'inance leases and associated leasehold improvements related to gross property and

equipment and accumulated deprcciation \\'ere $4.3 billion and S2.7 billion. respectivel)'. as olDecember 31.2022. F-or each of the years

cnded Deccrnber3l.2O23 and2022. thc Company recorded $,l82 million to "Depreciation. amortization and accretion" related to finance

leases. and lbr 202,l recorded 5200 million.

( ) t he r Le s.saa I nfttr nrut i on

As ol'December 31. 2023. the Company's weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate for operating

f eases were l5 years and 4.2o/o, respectively.

The following table is a summar)' of the Company's maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31.2023

l'cars Ending Decembcr 31,
Tohl

undiscounted

lcasc pa1'mcnts

l,ess: lmpuled Totsl opersting

2o21 2025 2lJ26 2[21 202It 'l hercafter interast lcsse liabilifies

Operatingleases(u) $ 570 $ 557 S 548 $ 542 $ 510 S 5.172 $ 8.229 $ (2.336) $ 5.893

(a) Excludes the Company's contingent payments for operatrng leases (such as payments based on revenues derived from the communications infrastructure located on

the leased asset) as such arrangements are excluded from the Company's operating lease liability. Such contingencies are recognrzed as expense in the perrod they are

resolved

14. Operating Segments and Concentrations of Credit Risk

Operating Segments

The Companl"s operating seg,ments consist of (l) Torvers and (2) Fiber. Thc Towers segment provides access. including space or

capacity. to the Ciompanyrs more than 40.000 towers geographically dispersed throughout the 11.S. The To'w'ers segment also rellects

ccrtain ancillary sen,ices relating to the Company's towers. predominately consisting of site development sen'ices and installation

senices. See note l6 to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the Company's July 2023 restructuring plan. which
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included discontinuing installation services as a 'lowers product offering. The Fiber segment provides access. including space or

capacity. to thc Company's approximately ( I ) I I 5.000 small cells on air or under contract and (2 ) 90.000 route m iles of fibe r primarily
supporting small cells and fiber solutions geographically dispersed throughout the U.S.

'l-hc measurement olprollt or loss used bv the Cornpany's chicf operating decision maker ("CODM") to evaluatc the perl-ornrance

ol'its operating segments is segment operal.ing prolit (loss). Additionally. the Company CODM also reviews segment site rental gross

margin and segment sen'iccs and other gross margin. -fhe Companv deflnes segment operating prolit (loss) as segment site rental gross

nrargin plus segment sen,ices and othcr gross margin. and segment. other operating (income) cxpense, lcss segment selling. gencral and

adnrinistrative cxpcllscs. Thc Company defines segment site rental gross margin as

80
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions. except per share amounts)

segment site rental revcnues less segment site rental costs o1'operations. excluding stock-based compensation expcnse, net and

amortization of prepaid lcase purchase price adjustments recorded in consolidatcd site rental costs o1'operations. Thc Companl'defines

segmcnt serviccs and othcr gross margin as segmcnt scrviccs and other rcvenues lcss segment services and other costs of operations.

excluding stock-based compcnsation expense. nct recordcd in consolidated services and other costs ol'operations. All of these

measurements are exclusive ol'depreciation. amortizati()n and accrction. which ale shou'n separatcll.

Costs that are directly attributable to Towers and I-ibcr arc assigned to those respective scgmcnts. Additionally, certain costs are

sharcd across segmcnts and are reflected in the Conrpany's segment measures through allocations that managemcnt believes to be

reasonable. Thc "Other" column (l) represents amounts excluded lrom specific segmcnts. such as restructuring charges (credits), asset

rvritc-doun charges. acquisition and intcgration costs, depreciation, amortization and accrction, amortization ot'prepaid lease purchasc

pricc adjustmcnts. intercst cxpense and amortization of dclerred financing costs. net. gains (losses) on retircment ol long-tcrm

obligations" interest income. other income (expensc). stock-based compensation cxpcnse. net and certain selling. general and

administrative cxpenses, and (2)rcconciles scgment opcrating prolit iloss) to income (loss) befrrre income taxes. as the amounts are not

utilizcd in assessing each segment's perlbrmance. '[hc "Other" total assets balance includes corporate assets such as cash and cash

equivalents r,r,hich have not bccn allocated to specific scgmcnts.'l'here are no significant re\renues rcsulting liom transactions between

thc Company"s opcrating scgmcnts.

Year l.nded Deccmbcr J l, 2023

'li)lr ers I ihcr Othrr -lbtal

Segment site rental relenues

Segment sen,ices and other revenues

Segment revenues

Segment site rental costs ol'operations

Segment services and other costs ofoperations

Segment costs of operationslo)(b)

Segment site rental gross margin

Segment services and other gross tnargin

Segment selling. general and administrative expenses(b)

$ 4.313 $ 2.2t9

421 28

s 6.532

449

6.98 |

1.629

306

t.9-i5

1.'731

943

294

).21'.7

(rtl6

l2

1.237 (r98

3.3 70

t2'7

104

t.9()-l

r-13

298

1.533

t6

t9.1

Segment operating profit (loss) 3.393 1.355 4.748

Other selling. general and administrative expenses{b) $ 333 333

Stock-based compensation L'\pense. net l5'7 l5'1

Dcprcciation. amonization and accrction 1.754 l.'754

Restructuring charges 85 85

Interest expense and amortization ofdet'ened financing costs. net 850 850

Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) from continuing operations

before income taxes(') 41 4l

Income (loss) fronr continuing operations before income taxes j 1.518

Capitalexpenditures $ 194 $ 1.175 $ 55 $ 1.424

Total assets (at year end) $ 21.550 $ 16,308 $ 669 $ 38.527

Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5.127 $ ,1.958 $ - $i 10.085

(a) Exclusive of depreclation, amonization and accretlon shown separately.

(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 3 I , 2023 excludes ( I ) stock-based compensation expense, net of $29 milhon and (2) prepaid lease purchase

priceadjustmentsof$l6million FortheyearendedDecember3l,2023,segmentselling^generalandadministrativeexpensesandotherselling.generaland

adminrstrative expenses exclude stock-hased compensatlon expense, net ofSl 28 milllon.
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(c) See consolrdated statement ofoperatrons and comprehensrve rncome (loss) for further informatron

Iil
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Segment site rental revenues

Segment services and other revenues

Segment revenues

Segment site rental costs ol'operations

Segment sen,ices and other costs ofoperations

Segment costs ol' operations{u)(b)

Segment site rental gross margin

Segnent services and other gross rnargin

Segment selling. general and administrative expenses(b)

Segment operating profit (loss)

Other selling. general and administrative expenses(b)

Stock-based compensation expense. net

Depreciation. amonization and accretion

Interest e\pense and amonization oldeferred financing cosls. net

Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) from continuing operations

belbre income taxes(')

Inconre (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

Capital expenditures

Total assets (at year end)

Total goodwill (at year end)

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions. except per share amounts)

I'car l]nded Deccmhcr 3l , 2022

'fowcrs Fihcr Other 'lirta I

$ 4.,122 $ 1.967

l2

5 6.289

697685

_5.()07

9llt

11'7

1.9'79

650

9

6.98(r

t.568

156

l.-365 659 2"024

3.404

238

il5

1.721

21t

305

t.317

-1

190

-j.527

t8_s $

22-2t0 $

5-127 s

1.130

r.058 $

r6.0r0 $

4.958 $

1.657

3t'/

156

t.707

699

s 317

156

t.707

699

67

7() I

t.3 t0

3{t.92 |

10.085

{t7 87

$ l.69r

$

$

$

$

$

$

(a) Exclusive ol'depreciation. amonlzatron and accretron shown separatelv

( b) Segment costs of operations lbr the ycar ended December 3l , 2022 excludes ( I ) stock-based compensation expense, net of' $28 mill ion and (2) prepaid lease purchase

pnce adjustments of'$16 million. F'or the year ended December 31,)022, segment selling. general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and

administratrve expenses exclude stock-based compensation expense, net ol $l 28 mrllion

(c) See consolrdated statement ofoperations and comprehensive rncorne (loss) for further rnformatron.
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Segment site rental revenues

Segment services and other revenues

SeBment revenues

Segment site rental costs ol'operations

Segment services and other costs ofoperations

SeBment costs oloperations(ul(bl

Segmenl site rental gross margin

Segment services and other gross margin

Segment selling. general and administrative expenses(b)

SeBment operating profit (loss)

Other selling. general and administrative expenss5{b)

Stock-based compensation expense, net

Depreciation" amonization and accretion

Interest expense and amonization ofdeferred financing costs. net

Other (inconre) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) from continuing operations

before inconre taxes(")

Income (loss) from continuing operations belbre income taxes

Capital expenditures

Total assets (at year end)

'lirtal goodrvill (at yetr end)

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

Year Ended Deccmber 31, 2021

lirwrrs I ibrr Othcr

$ 3.801 $

60t

t.9r5

20

.1..105

tt89

lt1

r.935

633

t7

t.-r03 65()

'Iirtal

$ 5.719

6)t

6.-r40

r.522

.13 |

r.953

2.91 5

r87

t07

1.t97

t90

281

I "282

-1

171

2.995

22t $

22.3 r8 $

s^t27 $

290

l3l

1.644

657

1.1 06

290

l-jt

1.6.14

65'7

t.il l

.$

20-i 205

$ l" 179

$

$

$

956 $

15.876 $

4.95 t $

52$
846 $

$

1.229

39.040

I0.07tt

(a) Exclusrve ofdepreciation. amortization and accretion shou,n separately.

(b) SegmentcostsofoperationsfortheyearendedDecember3l.202l excludes(l)stock-basedcompensationexpense.netof$22millionand(2)prepaidleasepurchase

pnce adlustments ol-$18 million For lhe year ended December 31.2021. segment selling. general and adminrstratrve expenses and other sellrng. general and

administratrve expenses exclude stock-based compensatron expense. net of $ I 09 million

(c) See consolrdated statement ofoperations and comprehensrve income (loss) for further rnlormallon

82
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

llt$or Tbnanls

'l'helblloraingtablesunrmarizesthepercentageol'theconsolidatedrevenueslbrthosetcnantsaccountingtbrnrorcthan l0%rol'thc

consol idatcd rcvenucs.

Years Ended Dcccmber 31,

702J 2022 2021

T-Mobile

AT&'I

Verizon Wireless

Total

3{t %

19 "/o

l9 o/o

38%

18,'h

t8%

35 Yo

20%

20%

"16 iio 1t o '75 o;"

(l once ntralions of (- redi t Ris k

Financial instruments that potentially subjcct the Companl,to concentrations of'credit risk arc primarily cash and cash equivalents.

restricted cash and cash equivalcnts and trade receivables. The Companl'mitiSates its risk rvith rcspect to cash and cash cquivalcnts bv

maintaining such deposits at high credit qualitr- financial institutions and monitoring the credit lal.ings oi' those institutions. 'l'he

Companl''srcstrictedcashandcashequi\alentsarcpredominatell,heldanddircctedbl atrustce(seenote2).

'l'he Company derives the largest portion ol' its revenues lionr tenants in the u'ireless industry. The Company' also has a

conccntration in its l'olume of business with T-Mobile. AT&T and Verizon Wirelcss or their agents that accounts lor a significant portion

of the Company's rcvenues. receivables and deferred site rental receivables. 1-he Company mitigates its concentrations of credit risk with

respect to trade rcccivables by actively monitoring the crcditu'orthiness of its tenants. thc use ol tenant leases n,ith contractually

determinable paym(]nt terms or proactive management of past due balances.

15. Supplemental Cash Flow lnformation

The follou'ing table is a summary o1'the supplemental cash flou' inlormation during the years cnded December 31. 2023. 2022 and

2021

Itars Endcd December 3 l.

2023 2022 2071

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash payrnents related to operating lease liabilities(") $ 571 $ 560 $

Interest paid 800 684

Inconre taxes paid 18 l0

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

ROLI assets recorded in exchange for operating lease liabilities 12 l9l

Increase ldecrease) in accounts payable for purchases ofpropeq' and equipment 36 (5)

Capitalized stock-based compensation 29 2l

Purchase ofpropert)'and equipment under finance leases and installment land purchases 62 28

(a) Excludes the Company,'s contingent payments pursuant to operating leases, which are recorded as expense in the period such contingencies are resolved.

550

661

20

573

3

2t

25

The reconciliation ol- cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents reported rvithin various lines on the

consolidated balancc sheet to amounts reported in the consolidated statement ol'cash llons is shoun belorv.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents" cutrent

Restricted cash and cash cquivalents reported within other assets. nc(

('ash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash cquivalents

SEC Filing I Crown Castle

As of Deccnrber 3 I ,

2023 2022 2021

$ r05 $

t7l

5

156 S

166

5

292

169

5

S 28r $ 327 5 166

tt3
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

16. Restructuring

In July 2023. the Cornpany initiated a restructuring plan ("I'lan") as part ol'its efltrrts to reduce costs to better align the Company's

operational needsuithlou'ertoueractivitl,. l'hePlanincludesreducingtheCompanl''stotal employeeheadcountb1'approximatell l5%.

discontinuing installation sen ices as a Towers product ofl'cring uhile continuing to offer site development sen ices on Company tou,ers.

and consolidating office space.

ln2023. the Company rccordcd approximatelv $85 million in charges in connection with the Plan. $62 mitlion ol'which represcnt

cash palments that have becn or will be made in conncction with emplol'ec sc!'erance and other one-timc termination bencllts. An

additionat $l million ol'non-cash charges relate to share-based compensation. In connection with the otlice space consolidation. the

Companl, recorded a $16 million charge related to remaining obligations under lacility' leascs and $6 million ol'non-cash chat'ges

representing acccleratcd dcprcciation.

'l'he actions announced in July 2023 associatcd ruith the Plan and related charges are expected to be substantiall.v.' completed and

recorded by June 30,2024, rvhile the payments are expected to be completed for the employec headcount reduction and office space

consolidation in2024 and2032. respectivel)'. We expect to incur an additional approximatcly $14 million of related charges during the

first half ol-2024. primarily related to the olllce space consolidation.

The lollouing lable summarizes the activities related to the rcstructuring lor 1'ear ended Dccember 3,l. 2023:

Employce Ilcadcount

Reduction

()ffice Space

( onsolidation Total

Charges

Payments

Non-cash items

Liahilitl as of December 31. 2023

$ 63$
(+6)

(l)

22$
(-1)

(6)

ti5

(50 )

('7 |

t; 2ttli 16 $ t2

As of December 31,2023. the liability Ibr restructuring charges is included in "Other accrued liabilities" on the consolidated

balance sheet. and the corresponding expcnse is included in "Restructuring charges" on the consolidated statements ol- operations and

comprehensive incomc.

The Company docs not allocate restructuring charges betr.lccn its opcrating segments. Il'such charges were allocated to

operating segments. lbr the ycar endcd 2023. $44 million and $18 million of the aforementioned charge would have bccn allocated to lhe

Company's To*ers and Fiber segment. respectively. rvith the remaining S23 nrillion allocated to Other.

17. Subsequent Events

(- omnton Stoc k l) it,ide nd

On February' 2l .2024. the Company's board of dircctors dcclared a quartcrly cash dividcnd ol- $1.565 per common share. fhc
qua(crly'dividend will be pal"able on March 28.2024. to common stockholders of record as of March 15.2024.

https ://investor. crowncastle. com/node/26996/html
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Report of lndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To rhe Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Crown Casde Inc.

Opinions on the Finoncial Statements ond Internol Control over Finonciol Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Crown Castle Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31,2022 and 2021,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), of equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31,2022, including the related notes and financial statement scheduleslisted in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred
to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2022, based on

criteria established in lnternol Control - Integroted Fromework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(coso).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31,2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,2022 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2022, based on criteria establishedinlnternol Control - lntegroted Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Bosis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and

for its assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company's consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
intemal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the

applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reponing was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
sratements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and

significant estimares made by management, as well as evaluaring the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reponing included obtaining an undersranding of internal control over financial reponing,, assessing (he risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Deftnition onil Limitotions of Inlernal Control over Financiol Reporting

A company's intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of rts inherent limitations, internal conrol over financial reporting, may not prevent or derect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Criticol Audit Motters

The critical audit maner communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements

and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below. providing a separate

opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition - Towers Segment

As described in Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognized $4,322 million in site rental revenues and $685 million in
services and other revenues from its Towers segment for rhe year ended December 37,2022. The Company B,enerates site rental revenues from its core business
by providing tenants with access to its shared communications infrastructure via long-term tenant contracts in various forms, including lease, Iicense, sublease

and service agreements. Providing such access over the length of rhe tenant contract term represents rhe Company's sole performance obligation under its
tenant contracts. Site rental revenues from the Company's tenant contracrs are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, noncancelable term of
the relevant tenant conract. The Company also offers certain services primarily relating to its Towers segment! predominately consisting of (i) site

development services and (ii) installation services. The transaction price for the Company's tower installation services consists of amounts for (i) permanent

inrprovemenrs ro the Company's towers that represent a lease component and (ii) the performance of the service. Amounts under the Company's tower
installation service agreements that represent a lease component are recognized as site rental revenues on a straight-line basis over the length of the associated

estimated lease term. For the performance of the installatron service, the Company has one performance obligation, which is satisfied at the time of the

applicable installation or augmentation and recognized as services and other revenues.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition for the Towers segment is a critical audit matter
are the signifjcant auditor subjectrvity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained related to tenant contracts and installation
service agreements.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to revenue recognition for Towers. These procedures also included,
among others (i) tesring the completeness and accuracy of management's identification of the contractual terms by examining tenant contracts and installation
service agreements on a test bas'is and (ii) testing the appropriateness of the timing and amount of revenue recognized based on contractual terms and estimated
lease term for selected tenant contracts and installation service agreements.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 24,2023

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2011.
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CROWN CASTLE TNC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(In millions of dollars, except par values)

December 31,

2022 2021

ASSETS

Ctrrent assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Rosrricred cash

Receivables, net of allowance of $19 and $17, respectively

Prepaid expt'nses

Defened site rental receivables

C)ther current assots

Total current asses

Delerred site rental roccivables

Property and equipment, net

OperatinB lcase right-of-use assets

Goodwill
Si(e rental contracts and tenant rclationships, net

Other intangible assets, net

Other assel.s. net

Total assets

Current liabilities:
\rc0unts 1;aVable

Accrued interest

I)e[r'rred rcvenrres

Other accrued liabilities
(lurrl'n( nraturitios of d0bt and other ollligirtions

Current ponion of operating lease I iabilities

Ioral cunenr Iiirhilitios

Debt and other long-term obligations
( )perating leasc liabilities

other long-term liabilities
Iotal liabilities

Conrmitnrents and contingencies (see note I 2)
(i( l stuckholders' equity:

\rlditional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

l)ivadends.dislrihutions in oxcrss ol earnilgs
Total equity

ll)tal lial)ilities and equity

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

See accompanying, notes to consolidated financial statements.

19

$ 292
r69

543

r05

92

S3

$156

r56

593

102

r27
73

1,277

r,95.1

15,407

t,52ii
10,085

6l
I 3r,

r,2s4
r,588

15,259

6,682

10,078

3,982

u
123

$ 38,921 $ 39,04t)

$ 246

182

//o
401

72

349

$236

183

736

407

8r9
3s0

1,73 I

20,91 0

ir,B81

r,950

2,026

20,557

6,031

2,168

Common stock, $0.0 I par value; I ,200 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding: December 31, 2022-433 and
December 31, 2021-432

31,472 30,782

4

r tt,0 il
(4)

4

18.t6
(s)

(10,666) (9,7s3)

7,449 8,258

$ 38,92r $ :]9,040



CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Net revenues:

Site rental

Services and other

Net reverues

Operating expenses:

Costs oi operations:('1

Site rental

Seruices and other

Selling, general and administrative
\sset write-down charges

-{cquisition and integration costs

Depreciation, amortization and accretion

Total operating expenses

Other operating (incomc) expense (seo note I 5)

Operating income (loss)

lnterest expense and an)onization of defened financinB costs

Gains 0osses) on retirement of long-term obligations
Intcrcst inc0me

Other income (expense)

lncrnrr (loss) lrom continuing operations lrfore income taxcs

Benefil (provision) for income taxes

ln( rnre (loss) froln cr:ntinuing ')perailr)r]s
Discontinued operations (see note 9):

Ne( gain (loss) frorn disposal of discontinued operations. nct ol tax

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of nx
Net rnconrc (loss) attributable to C(ll stockholders

Dividends/distributions on preferred stock

Net incomr' (loss) attriburahle to (.(ll common stockholders

Net income (loss)

C)thrr conrprehensive income (loss):

Foreign cunency ranslation adjustments

Total othcr conrprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to CCI stockholders

Nct inconre (loss) attributablc to (l("l cornmon sLockholdem, per common share:

lncome (loss) from conlinuing operations, basic

lnconre (loss) from discontinued operations, basic

Net income (loss) anribuuble to CCI common stockholders-basic

lnconre (loss) from continuing operations, dilutc,d

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, diluted
Ne( inconre (loss) attribu(ahle to (,Cl common stockholders-diluted

Weighted-average common sharcs ouB€nding:
Basic

Dilured

(a) tr\clusive of dcpreciation, amonizrtion and accrction shohn separately

$ 6,2tt9 $

6,986

1,602

465

7fi
34

2

1,707

4,561

I,ri9l
(1 6)

I,675

1,675

$ I,t75

$ 1.675 $

(r)
(l)

$ 1,574 $

s,

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

50

520697

5,719 $

621

5,320

6,340

1,554

4:t9

680

2l
1

I,611

5,840

1,521

u8
678

74

10

r ,608

4,339 4,339

( 362)

1,863

(689)

(ss)

..1

(s)

2,001

(6s7)

(l4s)
I

(21 )

2,425
(6ee)

(2ti)

l
( 10)

1,179 I .07ti

(20)(21)

r,r5u

( (r..1 )

| .056

(62)

I ,096,

$ r ,096

| .055

(s7)

S 999

r,096 $ r,056

5

$ 3.87

$

3.87 $

l,096 $ 1,057

2.68 $ 2.36

$ 2.36

2.67 $ 2.:t53.86 $
(1. l 4)

3.86 $ 2.s3 $ 2.35

423

425

43)
434

.133

4:34



CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions of dollars)

Yeam Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
lnCotttr, {loSs) [r(,il] C,)IlilrIrn8, (,lx'ralrons

.{djus(men6 to reconcile income (loss) from continuing, operations to net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities:

I )cprtc iarion, anx)fl ization and dccrct i()n

(Gains) losses on retirement of long-term obligations
.\nroni/-ati(nr ol dt'lcrred linarrcing costs and o(hcr non-(ash rrrcrc\t. rL'l

Srock-based compensation expense

\ssct writc-down rlrurges

Deferred income tax (benefit) provision
( )ther non-cash adiustn'rents. net

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisirions:

lncreasc (decrcasr) in ac(rued intercst

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

ln(rcase (deLreas(,) in othcr liabilitirs
Decrease (increase) in receivables

l)ecrcast (inrrcase) in othrr assets

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activi(ies

Cash flows Ircm investing activities:
Capital expenditurcs

[)ayr]ents lor acquisitiorts, nct ol cash acqrrired

Other investing activities, net

Nrt cash p()vided bv (usrd lrl) ir)vestinB activities

Cash florrr hom financing activities:
I)roceeds lrom issuancr ol lring-ternr drbt

Principal payments on debt and o*rer long-term obligations
['urchases and redcnr;.rtions ol long-tenr debt

Bonowings under revolving credil facility
I)aynren(s under rt'volving credit facility

Net issuances (repayments) under commercial paper program

[)ayn]enls lor financing costs

Purchases of common stock

I)ividends,distributaons paid on comrnon stock

Dividendsldistributions paid on preferred stock

Nct cash provided by (used krr) financing activirirs

Net increase (decrrase) in cash, cash equivalen6 and restricted cash - continuing operations
Discontinued operations (see note 9):

Net cash provided by (used foo operating activiries

Net inrrease (decrtase) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - discontinued operations

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalenq and restrict€d cash at end of period

See accompanying, nores to consolidated financial statements.

5r

$ r,675 $ I,158 $

1,644

145

l3
129

21

4

21

(17)
15

(118)

(113)

2,789

(1,229)

(il r)
8

| ,0:,6

1,60t

95

6

138

74

3

5

1,707

28
't7

t55
34

3

(s)
(2U1 )

(4s)

(4121.

3l
(77)
(6s)

165

l5
2,878 3,055

(1,310)

(:15)

(7)

(1,624)

(107)

(10)

( r ,3s2) ( l,332) (1,741)

748
(74)

(1 ,)7 4)

3,495

(2,8ss)

976
( l4)
(6s)

(2,602 )

3,98t,

(1,076)

(2.089)

1,245

(870)

(20)

(42)

(70)

(2,373)

3.733

(10s)
(2,49{))

2,430
(2,f*is)

r30
(38)

(76)
(2,1 0s)

(8s)

( 1 ,665)

(r 3e)

( r ,310) (t ,271)
147 43

(62)

338.166

3nl327

(52 )

3Ul

$ $ 466 $



Balance, December 31, 2019

Stock-based compensation related activiry, net of
forfeitures
Purchases and relirement of common stock

Other comprehmsive incorne (loss)(')

Common stock dividendsrdistributions

Prefened stock dividends/distributions
Curversiolr of preferred stock to common stock

(see note l0)
Net income (loss)

Balance, Decelnber 31, 2020

Stock-based compensation related aoiviry net of
forfeitures

Purchases and retirement of common stock

Common stock dividends/distributions
Net iDconre (loss)

Balance, December 31, 2021

Stock-based compensation related activity, net oI
forfeitures

Purchases and retirement of common stock

Otber comprehensive irrcome (loss)(")

Common stock dividendVdistributions
Net income (loss)

CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

(Amounts in millions)

Accumulaled

(lommon Srock
6.81srh Mandatory cunv.rtibl.

Prefrrrcd Stotk
lncom. (l..os!)

("AOCr')
For.itn

Curratrry
Additionrl Tlanllation

Sharcs ($0.01 Par) sharcs ($0,0f Pa.) Peidln Capital Adju6tmcnc

416 $ 4 2$
- $ 17,8515 $ (s)

t.1

431 4 17.9:t3 (41

Othrr
(lomprehch6ivc

I 154

'3 ,l

Divid.ndiDiirriburiohs
ih F-xc66 of Earhinls Tolal

$ o365) $ 1o/8'

154

(76)

I

(2, r 06)

(s7)

1,056

(8,47 2)

r,056

9.45 r

(2, i06)
(s7)

(2)

1 r48

,,:

170

(6s)
(1)

(2,588)

1.675

17t)

(6s)

(2,377)

148

(70)

(2,377)

432 4
_ _ r,096 |,096

r8,0r r (4) (9,7s3) 8,258

(1)

(2,S88)

1.675

Balance,December31,z}22 433$ 4-------=$ -$ 18Jr5$ (5)$ (10$66)

(a) see the comolidated statemenl of oour"uun, "no.ur]iJIIIl-.r* (,r*X* *."r0*r", ., "*r,"*r""** **",,.r+"

See accompanying nores to consolidated financial statements.

52

7



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular dollars in nrillions, except per share amounts)

1. Basis o{ Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Crown Casde Inc. (formerly, Crown Casde International Corp.) and its predecessor, as

applicable (together, "CCI"), and their subsidiaries. collectively referred to herein as the "Company." AJI significant intercompany balances and transactions

have been eliminated in consolidation. As used herein, the term "including," and any variation thereof, means "including without limitation." The use of the
word "or" herein is not exclusive. Unless the context suggests otherwise, references ro "U.S." are to the United States of America and Puerto Rico, collectively.

The Company owns, operates and leases shared comnrunications infrastructure that is geographically dispersed throughout the U.S., including (l) towers
and other structures, such as rooftops (collectively, "towers"), and (2) fiber primarily supporting small cell nefworks ("small cells") and fiber solutions. The
Company's towers, small cells and fiber assets are collectively referred to herein as "communications infrastructure," and the Company's customers on irs
communications infrastructure are referred to herein as "tenants."

The Company's core business is providing access, including, space or capacity, to its shared communications infrastructure via longterm contracts in
various forms, including lease, lrcense, sublease and service agreements (col)ectively, "tenant contracls").

The Company's operating segments consist of (l) Towers and (2) Fiber. See note 14.

Approximately 53% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, and other agreements with
AT&T and T-Mobile (including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). The Company has the option to purchase these towers at the end of
their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options. See notes 4 and I 3.

As part of the Company's effort to provide comprehensive communications infrastructure solutions, as an ancillary business, the Company also offers
cenain services primarily relating to its Towers segment, predominately consisting of (l) site development services relating to existing or new tenanr equipment
installations, including: site acquisition, architectural and engineering, or zoning and permitting (collectively, "site development services") and (2) tenant

equipment irrstallation or subsequent augmentations (collectively, "installation services").

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, the Company has certain taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs"). See

note 9.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and Iiabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a discussion of the Company's significant accounting policies in effect for the year ended December 31,2022.

Restricted Cosh

Restricted cash represents (1) the cash held in reserve by rhe indenture trustees pursuant to the indenture governing certain of the Company's debt
instruments, (2) cash securing performance obligations such as letters of credit, as well as (3) any other cash whose use is limited by contractual provisions.
The restriction of rental cash receipts is a critical feature of certain of the Company's debt instruments, due to the applicable indenture trustee's ability to utilize
the restricled cash for the payment of (1) debt service cosrs, (2) ground rents, (3) real eslate or personal property taxes, (4) insurance premiums related to
towers, (5) other assessments by govemmental authorities and potential environmental remediation costs, or (6) a portion of advance rents from tenants. The
restricted cash in excess of required reserve balances is subsequently released to the Company in accordance with the terms of the indenrures. See note l6 for a

reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.
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Receivobles Allowonce

An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. The Company uses judgment in estimating this allowance and

considers historical collections, current credit status, or contractual provisions. Addirions to the allowance for doubtful accounts are charged either to "Site
rental costs of operations" or to "Sewices and other costs of operations," as appropriare, and deductions from the allowance are recorded when specific
accounts receivable are written off as uncollectible.

Leose Accounting

General. The Company evaluates whether a conract meets the definition of a lease whenever a conract grants a party the right to control the use of an

identified asser for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To the extent the identified asset is able to be shared among multiple parties, the Company
has determined that one party does not have control of the idenrified asset and the contract is not considered a lease. The Company accounts for conrracts that

do not meet the definition of a lease under other relevant accounting guidance (such as ASC 606 for revenue from contracts with customers).

Lessee. For its Tower segment, the Company's lessee arrangements primarily consist of ground leases for land under towers. Ground Ieases for land are

specific to each site, generally contain an initial term of five to 10 years and are renewable (and cancellable after a notice period) at the Company's option. The

Company also enters into term easements and ground leases in which it prepays the entire terTn. For its Fiber segment, the Company's lessee arrangements
primarily include leases of fiber assets to support the Company's small cells and fiber solutions.

The majority of the Company's lease agreements have certain termination rights that provide for cancellation after a notice period and multiple renewal

options exercisable at the Company's option. The Company includes renewal option periods in its calculation of the estimated lease lerm when it determines tle
options are reasonably certain to be exercised. When such renewal options are deemed to be reasonably certain, the estimated lease term determined under ASC
842 will be greater than the non-cancelable term of the contractual arrangement. Although certain renewal periods are included in the estimated lease term, the

Company would have the ability to terminate or plect to not renew a particular lease if business conditions warrant such a decision.

The Company classifies its lessee arrangements at inception as either operating leases or finance leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if at least

one of the following criteria is met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease Brants the lessee an option to purchase

the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably cenain to exercise, (3) the lease rerm is for a major part of rhe remaining economic life of the underlying asset,

(4) the present value of the sum of rhe lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset, or (5) the underlying asset is

of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no altemative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. A lease is classified as an operating lease if
none of the five criteria described above for finance lease classification is met.

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets associated with operating leases are included in "Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance

sheet. Current and long,-term portions of lease liabilities related to operating, leases are included in "Current portion of operating, lease liabilities" and
"Operating lease liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet, respectively. ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for
the estimated lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's present value of its future lease payments. In assessing its leases and determining its lease

liability at lease commencement or upon modification, the Company is not able to readily determine the rate implicit for its lessee arrangements, and thus uses

its incremental borrowing rate on a collateralized basis to determine the presenr value of the lease payments. The Company's ROU assets are measured as the
balance of the lease Iiability plus any prepaid or accrued lease payments and any unamortized initial direct costs. For both the Towers and Fiber segments,

operating lease expenses are recognized on a ratable basis, regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make payments annually, semi-
annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire term in advance. Certain of the Company's ground lease and fiber lease agreements contain fixed escalation

clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in consumer price index
("CPf")). If the payment terms include fixed escalators, upfronr payments, or rent-free periods, the effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis.
The Company calculates the straight-line expense over the conrract's estimated lease term, including any renewal option periods that the Company deems

reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease agreements may also contain provisions for a contingent payment based on (l) the revenues derived from the communications infrastructure
located on the leased asset, (2) the change in CPI or (3) the usage of the leased asset. The Company's contingent payments are considered variable lease

payments and are (l) not included in the initial measurement of
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the ROU asset or lease liability due to the uncenainty of the payment amount and (2) recorded as expense in the period such contingencies are resolved.

ROU assets associated wirh finance leases are included in "Properry and equipment, nel" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Lease liabilities
associated with finance leases are included in "Current nraturities of debt and other obligations" and "Debt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's

consolidated balance sheet. For both its Towers and Fiber segments, the Company measures the lease liability for finance leases using the effective interest

method. The initial lease liability is increased to reflect interest on the liability and decreased to reflect payments nrade during the period. Interest on the lease

liability is determined each period during the lease term as the amount that results in a constant periodic discount rate on the remaining balance of the liability.
The Cornpany depreciates ROU assets for finance leases on a ratable basis over the applicable lease term.

The Company reviews the carrying value of its ROU assets for impairment, sinrilar to its other long-lived assets, whenever cvents or changes in
circumstances indicate rhat the carrying amounts may nor be recoverable. The Company could record impairments in the future if there are changes in (1) long-

rerm market condirions, (2) expected future operating results or (3) the utility of the assets that negatively impact the fair value of its ROU assets.

Lessor: The Company's lessor arrangements primarily include tenant conuacts for dedicated space (including dedicated fiber) on its shared

communications infrastructure. The Company classifies its leases at inception as operating, direct financing or sales-type leases. A lease is classified as a sales-

type )ease if ar leasr one of the following crireria is met: ( l) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease grants the Iessee an

option ro purchase rhe underlying asser that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of

the underlying asset, (4) the present value of the sum of the lease payments equals or exceeds substanrially all of the fair value of the underlying assets or (5)

the underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. Furthermore, when

none of the above crireria is met, a lease is classified as a direct financing lease if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the present value of the of the sum

of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee, that is not already reflected in the lease payments, equals or exceeds the fair value of the

underlying asset and (2) it is probable that the lessor will collecr the lease payments plus any amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee. A lease is

classified as an operatinB lease if it does not qualify as a sales-type or direct financing Iease. Currently, the Company classifies all of its lessor arrangements as

operating leases.

Sire rental revenues from the Company's lessor arrangements are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the

relevanr tenant conrac(, regardless of wherher the payments from the tenant are received in equal monthly amounts during the life of a tenant contract. Certain
of the Company's tenant contracts contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed-dollar or fixed-percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses

(such as those tied to rhe change in CPI). If the payment terms call for fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the rental revenue is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the agreement. When calcularing straight-line site rental revenues, the Con'lpany considers all

fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions.

Cenain of the Company's arrang,ements with tenants in its Fiber segment contain both lease and nonlease components. In such circumslances, the

Company has determined (l) the timing and pattern of transfer for the lease and non-lease component are the same and (2) the stand-alone lease component
would be classified as an operaling lease. As such, the Company has aggregated certain non-lease components with lease components and has determined that

the lease components (generally dedicated fiber) represent the predominant component of the arrangement.

Property ond Equipment

Property and equipmenr is stated at cosr, ner of accumulared depreciation. Properry and equipment includes land owned in fee and perpetual easements for
land, which have no definite life. Depreciation is computed utilizing the straight-line method at rates based upon the estimated useful lives of the various

classes of assets. Depreciation for the majority of communications infrasructure is computed with a useful life equal to the shorter of 20 years or the term of
the underlying ground lease (where applicable and including optional renewal periods). Additions and permanent improvements to the Company's
communications infrastructure are capitalized, while mainrenance and repairs are expensed.

Labor and interest costs incurred direcdy related to the construction of certain property and equipment are capitalized during the consruction phase of
projects. For the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020, the Company had $265 million, $238 million and $270 million in capitalized labor costs,

respectively. The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of the assets may not be recoverable.
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Abandonments and write-offs of property and equipment are recorded to "Asset write-down charges" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and were $39 million, $19 million and $77 million for the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020,
respectively. Asset write-down charges for the year ended December 31, 2020 included the write-off of property and equipment of approximately $63 million
which, following the 2020 Cancellation, was deemed to have no alternative future use. See note 15 for further information regarding the 2020 Cancellation.

Asset Ret i reme nt Ob I i goti on s

Pursuant to its ground lease, easement, leased facility and certain pole attachment agreements, the Company records obligations to perform asset

retirement activities, including requirements to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which certain of its communications
infrasrrucrure is located. Tlre Company does not record an obligation for asset retirement activities related to its fiber, as a setdement date is indeterminable and
therefore a reasonable estimation of fair value cannot be made. Asset relirement obligations are included in "Other long+erm liabilities" on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. The liability accretes as a result of the passage of time and the related accreti0n expense is included in "Depreciation, amortization
and accretion" on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized
as an additional carrying amount of the related longJived asset and depreciated over the useful life of such asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price for an acquired business over the allocated value of the related net assets. The Company tests
goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, regardless of whether adverse events or changes in circumstances have occurred- The annual test begins with
goodwill and all intangible assets being allocated to applicable reponing units. The Company's reporting units are the same as its operaring segments (Towers
and Fiber). The Company then performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is "more )ikely than not" that the fair value of the reporting unit is less

than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes it is "more likely than not" that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, it is

necessary to perfonn a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative goodwill impairment test compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit
and the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an

amount equal to such excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The Company performed its most recent annual goodwill
impairmenr test as of October 1,2022, which resulted in no impairments.

Intongible Assets

Intangible assets are included in "Site rental contracrs and tenant relationships, net" and "Other intangible assets, net" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet and predominately consist of the estimated fair value of site rental contracts and tenant relationships or other contractual rights, such as

trademarks, that are recorded in conjunction with acquisitions. Site rental contracts and tenant relationshrps intangible assets are comprised of (l) the current
term of the existing leases, (2) the high rate of tenant retention, and (3) any associated relationships that are expected to generate value following the expiration
oI all renewal periods under existing leases.

The useful lives of intangible assets are estimated based on the period over which the intangible asset is expec(ed to benefit the Company and gives
consideration to the expected useful Iife of other assets to which the useful life may relate. Amortization expense for intangible assets is computed using the

straightJine method over the estimated useful life of each of the intangible assets. The useful lives of site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible
assets are limited by the maximum depreciable life of the communications infrastructure (20 years), as a result of the interdependency of the communications
infrastructure and the site rental contracts and tenant relationships. In contrast, the site rental contracts and tenant relationships are estimaled to provide
economic benefits for several decades because of the low rate of tenant cancellations and high rate of tenant retention experienced to date. Thus, while site

rental conracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are valued based upon the fair value of the site rental contracts and tenant relationships, which
includes assumptions regarding both (1) tenants' exercise of optional renewals contained in the acquired leases and (2) renewals of the acquired leases past the

contractual term including exercisable options, site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are amortized over a period not to exceed 20 years.

The carrying value of olher intangible assets with finite useful lives will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicare that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable- The Company has a dual groupirrg policy for purposes of determining the unlt of
account for tesring impairment of site rental contracts and (enant relationships intangible assets. First, the Company pools site rental contracts and tenant

relationships intangible assets with the related communications infrastructure assets into portfolio groups for purposes of determining the unit of account for
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impairment testing. Second and separately, the Company pools the site rental contracts and tenant relationships by significant tenant or by tenant grouping for
individually insignificant tenants, as appropriate. If the sum of the associated estimated future cash flows (undiscounted) from an asset is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss may be recognized. Measurement of an impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset.

Deferred Credits

Deferred credits are included in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and consist of the
estimated fair value of below-market tenant leases for contractual interests with tenants on acquired communications infrastructure that are amortized to site
rental revenues.

Fair value for these deferred credits represents the difference benveen (l) the stated contracrual payments to be made pursuant to the in-place lease and (2)
management's estimate of fair market lease rates for each conesponding lease. Deferred credits are measured over a period equal to the estimated remaining
economic lease term considering renewal provisions or economics associated with those renewal provisions, to the extent applicable. Defened credits are

amonized over their respected estimated lease terms at the time of acquisition.

Deferred Finoncing Costs

Third-party costs incurred to obtain financing, with the exception of costs incurred related to revo)ving lines of credit, are deferred and are included as a

direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability in "Debt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet
and are amortized using the effective interest yield methodolog,y to "lnterest expense and amonization of deferred financing costs" on the Company's
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the related debt liability. Third party costs incurred to obtain financing
through a revolving line of credit are deferred and are included in "Other assets, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and are amonized using the
effective interest yield methodology to "Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing cosrs".on the Company's consolidated statement of operarions
and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the 2016 Credit Agreement (as defined in note 7).

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates site rental revenues from its core business by providing tenants with access, including space or capaciry, to its shared
communications infrastructure via long-term tenant contracts in various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements. Typically, providing
such access over the length of the tenant contract lerm represents the Company's sole performance obligation under its tenant conracts.

Site Rentol Revenues. Site rental revenues from rhe Company's lenant contracrs are recognized on a straightJine, ratable basis over the fixed, non-
cancelable term of the relevant tenant contract, which generally ranges from five to 15 years for wireless tenants and three to 20 years for the Company's fiber
solutions tenants (including from organizations with high-bandwidth and multi-location demands), regardJess of whether the payments from the tenant are
received in equal monthly amounts during the life of the tenant contract. Certain of the Company's tenant contracts contain (1) fixed escalation clauses (such as

fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the CPD, (2) multiple renewal periods exercisable at the
tenanfs option and (3) only limited termination rights at the applicable tenant's option through the current terrn. If the payment terms call for fixed escalators,
upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the revenue is recognized on a sraight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the tenant conract. When
calculating straight-line rental revenues, the Company considers all fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions, even if such escalation
provisions contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's assets related to straight-line site rental revenues are recorded within "Deferred
site rental receivables" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts billed or received prior to being earned are deferred and reflected in "Deferred
revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts to which the Company has an unconditional right to
payment, which are related to both satisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations, are recorded within "Receivables, net" on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet.

Services ond Other Revenues. As part of the Company's effort to provide comprehensive communications infrastructure solutions, as an ancillary
business, the Company offers cenain services primarily relating to its Towers segment, predominately consisting of (l) site development services and (2)
installation services. Upon contract commencement, rhe Company assesses its services to tenants and identifies performance obligations for each promise to
provide a distinct service.
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The Company may have multiple performance obligations for site development services, which primarily include: structural analysis, zoning, permirring
and construction drawings. For each of these performance obligations, services revenues are recognized at completion of the applicable performance obligation,
which represents tle point at which rhe Company believes it has transferred goods or services to the tenant. The revenue recognized is based on an allocation of
the transaction price among the performance obligations in a respective contract based on estimated standalone selling price. The volume and mix of site

deve)opment services may vary among contracts and may include a combinarion of some or all of the above performance obligations. Payments generally are
due within 45 to 60 days and generally do not contain variable-consideration provisions. The transaction price for the Company's tower installation services

consists of amounts for (l) permanent improvements to the Company's towers that represent a lease component and (2) the performance of the service.
Amounts under the Company's tower installation service agreements that represent a lease component are recognized as site rental revenues on a straight-line
basis over the length of the associated estimated lease term. For the performance of the installation service, the Company has one performance obligation,
which is satisfied at the time of the applicable insrallation or augmentation and recognized as services and other revenues on the Company consolidated
stalement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Since performance obligations are typically salisfied prior to receiving, paymenl from tenants, the
unconditional right to payment is recorded within "Receivables, net" on the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet. The vast majority of the

Company's services generally have a duration of one year or less.

Additionol Informotion on Revenues. As of January l, 2022 and December 31,2022, a total of $2.6 billion and $2.3 billion, respectively, of unrecognized
revenue was reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-tenn liabi'lities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. During the year ended December
31,2022, approximately $668 million of the January 1, 2022 unrecognized revenue balance was recognized as revenue. As of January 1,2021, a total of $2.8
billion of unrecognized revenue was reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Orher long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, approximately $595 million of the January 1. 2021 unrecognized revenue balance was recognized as revenue.

See note 3 for further discussion regarding the Company's revenues.

Costs of Operotions

Approximately half of rhe Company's site rental costs of operations expenses consist of Towers ground lease expenses, and rhe remainder includes fiber
access expensesr property taxes, repairs and maintenance expenses, employee compensation or related benefit costs, or utilities. Generally, the ground leases for
land are specific to each site and are for an rnitial term of five years and are renewable for pre-determined pcriods. The Company also enters into term
easements and ground leases in which it prepays the entire term in advance. Fiber access expenses primarily consist of leases of fiber assets and other access

agreemenls to facilitate the Company's communications infrastructure.

Ground lease and fiber access expenses are recognized on a ratable basis, regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make
payments annually. semr-annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire term in advance. Certain of the Company's ground lease and fiber access agreements

contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the chang,e in
CPI). If the payment terms include fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, rhe effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis.
When calculating straig,ht-line ground lease and fiber access expenses, the Company considers all fixed elements of contractual escalation provisions, even if
such escalation provisions contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's liability related to straight-line expense is included in
"Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. The Company's assets related to prepaid agreements is included in "Prepaid
expenses" and "Operaring lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Services and other costs of operations predominately consist of third-party service providers such as contractors and professional services fjrms and, to a

lesser extent, intemal Iabor costs, associated with the Company's site development and installation services. The Company's costs incurred prior to the
satisfaction of associated performance obligations of $43 million and $65 million as of December 31,2022 and 2021, respectively, are included in "Other
current assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

The Company recognized $20 million as costs of operations during the year ended December 31,2020 as a result of a reduction in staffing completed
during the fourth quarter of 2020. Such costs were comprised of employee severance payments and termination benefits and primarily impacted the Company's
Fiber segment.
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Acquisitions ond lntegrotion Costs

Direct or incremental costs related ro a potential or completed business combination Eansaction are expensed as incurred. Such costs are predominarely
comprised of severance, retention bonuses payable to employees of an acquired enterprise, temporary employees to assist with the integration of the acquired
operations, fees paid for services (such as consulting, accounting, legal, or engineering reviews), and any other costs directly associated with the transaction.
These business combination costs are included in "Acquisition and integrarion costs" on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and

comprehensive income (loss). For those transactions accounted for as asset acquisitions, these costs are capitalized as part of the purchase price.

Stock-bosed Compensotion

Restricted Stock Unirs. The Company records stock-based compensation expense for unvested restricted stock units ("RSUs") for which the requisire
service is expected to be rendered. The cumulative effect of a change in the estimated number of RSUs for which the requisite service is expected to be or has
been rendered is recognized in the period of the change in the estimate. To the extent that the requisite service is rendered, compensation cost for accounting
purposes is not reversed; rather, it is recognized regardless of whether or not the awards vest. A discussion of the Company's valuation techniques and related
assumptions and estimates used to measure the Company's stock-based compensation is as follows:

Voluotion. The fair value of RSUs without market conditions is determined based on the number of shares relating to such RSUs and the quoted price of
the Company's common stock at the date of grant. The Company estimates the fair value of RSUs with market conditions granted using a Monte Carlo
simulation. The Company's determination of the fair value of RSUs with market conditions on the date of grant is affected by its common stock price as well as

assumptions regarding a number of highly complex or subjective variables. The determination of fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation requires the input
of subjective assumptions, and other reasonable assumptions could provide differing results.

Amortizotion Method. The Company amortizes the fair value of all RSUs on a srraig,ht-line basis for each separately vesting tranche of the award (graded

vesting schedule) over the requisite service periods.

Expected Volotility. The Corrpany estimates the volatility of its common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of its conrmon stock.

Expected Dividend Rate. The expected dividend rate at the date of grant is based on the then-currenl dividend yield.

Risk-Free Rote. The Company bases the risk-free rate on the implied yield currendy available on U.S. Treasury issues with an equivalent remaining term
equal to the expected life of the award.

Forfeitures. The Company uses historical award forfeiture data and management's judgment about the future employee turnover rates to estimate rhe

number of shares for which the requisite service period will not be rendered.

Interest Expense ond Amortizotion of Deferred Finoncing Costs

The components of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Interest expense on debt obligations

{moniz-ation oi dclcrred lin.nring rosts and adjustments on long-term dtht
Capitalized interest

Tbtal

$ u4
2!,

(12)

68S

26

(l 2)

$ $ 683

23

( l7)
689

The Company amonizes deferred financing costs, discounts and premiums over the estimated term of the related borrowing using the effective interest
yield method. Deferred financing costs and discounts are generally presented as a direct reduction to the related debt obligation on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet.
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Income Taxes

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, the Company is generally entided to a deduction for dividends that it
pays and therefore is not subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net taxable income that is currendy distributed to its stockholders. The Company
also may be subject to certain federal, state, Iocal and foreign taxes on its income, including (1) taxes on any undistributed income and (2) taxes related to the

TRSs. In addition, the Company could under certain circumstances be required to pay an excise or penalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in order to
utilize one or more relief provisions under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code"). to maintain qualification for taxation as a REIT.

Additionally, the Company has included in TRSs certain other assets and operations. Those TRS assets and operations will continue to be subject, as

applicable, to federal and state corporare income raxes or to foreign taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located. The Company's
foreign assets and operations (including its tower operations in Puerto Rico) are subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and

operarions are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not. For its REIT conversion and certain subsequent acquisitions into the REII the

Company will be subject to a federal corporate level tax rate (currendy 21o/o) on any gain recognized from the sale of assets occurring within a specified period
(generally 5 years) after the transfer date up to the amount of the built in gain that existed on the transfer date, which is based upon the fair market value of
those assets in excess of the Company's tax basis on the transfer date. This gain can be offset by any remaining federal net operating, loss carryforwards
("NOLs").

For the Comparry's TRSs, the Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and'liability approach, which requires the recognition of deferred

income tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's financial statements or tax

returns. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and

liabilities using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined rhat it is "more likely than not" that the asset will
not be realized. The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets when it is "more likely than not" that some portion or all of the defened
tax asset will not be realized. The Company reviews the recoverability of deferred tax assets each quarter and based upon projections of future taxable income,

reversing defened tax liabilities or other known events that are expected to affect future taxable income, records a valuation allowance for assets that do not

meet the "more likely than not" realization threshold. Valuation allowances may be reversed if related deferred tax assets are deemed realizable based upon

changes in facts and circumstances that impact the recoverability of the asset.

The Company recognizes a rax position if it is "more likely than not" t}at it will be susrained upon examination. The tax position is measured at the

largesr amount tha( is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate setdement. The Company reports penalties and tax-related interest expense

as a component of the benefit (provision) for income taxes. As of December 31,2022 and 2021, the Company has not recorded any material penalties related to
its income tax positions. See note 9.

Per Shore lnformotion

Basic net income (loss), per common share. excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstandinE, during the period. For the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020, diluted net income (loss), per common share, is computed by
dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstandinB during the period, plus any potendal dilutive common share

equivalents, including shares issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units as determined under the reasury stock method and (2) conversion of the

Company's previously outstanding 6.875olo Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock. Series A, par value $0.01 per share ("6.875% Convertible Preferred
Stock"), as applicable, as determined under the if-converted method.
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(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

A reconciliation of lhe numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations rs shown in the table below.

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Income (loss) from continuing operations

l)ividcnds/distributions on prctt'rred stock

Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to CCI common stockholders for basic and
diluted computations

$ 1,675 $ 1,r58 $

I,675 1,158 $

(62) $

2020

1,056

(s7)

999$

$

999

423

2

$

$lncome (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

Ne( income (loss) attributable to CCI conrmon stockholders

Weighred-average numtrcr of conrmon shares outstanding (in millions):

Basic weighted-average number of common stock ousmnding

Effect of assumed dilution from potential issuance of common shares relating to RStJs

Diluted weighted-average number of common shares ouetanding

Net income (loss) affiibutable to CCI common stockholders, per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations, basic

Income (loss) ftom discondnued operations, basic

Net income (loss) anributable to CCI common stockholders-basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations, diluted

Income (loss) from discrntinued op€rations, diluted

Net income (loss) a$ributable to CCI common stockholders-diluted

$ I.675 $ I,096 $

432

2

433

I

4',34 4U 425

$ 3.87 $ r.68 $

(0. l 4)
2.36

$

$

3.87 $ 2.54 $ 2.36

2.353.86 $ 2.67 $
(0. | 4)

$ 3.86 $ 2.s3 $ 2.3s

Dividends/distribudons declared per share of common stock s.98 $ 5.46 $ 4.93

For the year ended December 31,2020, 14 million common share equivalents related to the Company's previously outstanding 6.875% Convertible
Preferred Stock were excluded from the dilutive common shares, because the impact of the conversion of such preferred stock would be anti-dilutive based on

the Company's common stock price at the end of each respective year. See note 10 for further discussion of the Company's previously outstanding 6.875olo

Convertible Preferred Stock.

Foir Volues

The Company's assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy that ranks the quality and reliability of the

information used to determine fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are (l) Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active and accessible

markets, (2) Level 2 - observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets but corroborated by market data, and (3) Level 3 -
unobservable inputs and are not corroborated by market data. The Company evaluates fair value hierarchy level classifications quanerly, and transfers between

levels are effective at the end of the quarterly period.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash approximate the carryinB values. The Company determines rhe fair value of its debt
securities based on indicative, non-binding quotes from brokers. Quotes from brokers require judgnrent and are based on the brokers' interpretation of market
information, including implied credit spreads for similar borrowing,s on recent trades or bid/ask prices or quotes from active markets if available. There were no

changes since December 31, 2021 in the Company's valuation techniques used to measure fair values. See note 8 for a further discussion of fair values.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

No accounting pronouncements adopted during the year ended December 37,2O22 had a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial
stalements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

No new accounting pronouncements issued but not yet adopted are expected to have a materiai impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.

3. Revenues

The following table is a summary of the contracted amounts owed to the Company by tenants pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as of December 31,
2022. As of December 31,2022, the weighted-average remaining term of tenant contracts was approximately six years, exclusive of renewals exercisable ar the
tenant's option.

Years EndinS, December 31,

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter Tota I

Contracled amounts(') $ 4,832 $ 4,408 $ oo'" $ 3,976 $ 3,929 $ 18,981 $ 40,199

seryices, as those conracs generally have a duation of one yeu or less.

See notes 2 and 13 for funher discussion regarding the Company's lessor arrangements and note 14 for funher information regarding the Company's
operating seS,ments.

4. Property arrd Equipmerrt

The major classes of property and equrpment are summarized in the table below.

As of December 31,ry $ 2,2sr

2lt
23,28t

5U:

85:
')7,201

(l 1,93;

2022 202r

Lando)

Bu ildings

Communications infrastrucore assets

Information technology assets and other

Construction in process

Total gross propeny and equipment

Less: xcumulated depreciation

Total propeny and equipment, ner

40 years

1-20 yeals

2-7 years

2,339

?21

24,353

$

652

913

28,478
(13,071)

r5,407 $ 1 5,26r

(a) lncludcs land owncd through [et'intercsts and perpetual easements.

Depreciation expense for each of the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020 was $1.2 billion.

22%o of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under a masrer lease or olher related agreements with AT&T for a

weighted-average initial term of approximately 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin. The Company has the option to purchase the leased
and subleased towers from AT&T at the end of the respective lease or sublease terms for aggregate option payments of approximately $4.2 billion, which
payments, if such option is exercised, would be due berween 2032 and 2048.
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(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

3l% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, or other agreements with GMobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). Approximately half of such towers have an initial term of 32 years (through May 2037),
and the Company has the option to purchase in 2037 all (but not less than all) of such leased and subleased towers from T-Mobile for approximately $2.3
billion. The remainder of such towers have a weighted-average initial term of approximately 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin, and
the Company has the option to purchase such towers from T:Mobile ar the end of the respective lerms for aggregate option payments of approximately $2.0
billion, which payments. if such option is exercised, would be due between 2035 and 2049. In addition, another l9lo of the Company's towers under master
leases, subleases, or other agreements with T-Mobile are subject to a lease and sublease or orher relared arrangements with AT&T. The Company has the option
to purchase these towers from AT&T at the end of their respective lease terms for aggregate option payments of up to approximately $405 million, which
payments, if such option is exercised, would be due prior to 2032 (less than $10 million would be due before 2025).

5.

See note l3 for further discussion of finance leases recorded as "Property and equipment, net" on rhe Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill was $10.1 billion for each of the years ended December 31,2022 and 2021. Addirions due to acquisitions during the
period were $7 million.

Intongible Assets

The following is a summary of the Company's intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2021

Gross Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

Gross CarryinS Accumulated
Value Amortization N.t Book Value

Site rental contracts and renant relationships
( )ther intangible :rssrts

Total

$ $7,850

1.13

(4,31s) $
(ri2 )

3,535

6l
7,854 $

143

(3,872) $
(7e)

3,982$

64

$ 7,993 $ (4,392 $ 3,596 $ 7,997 -$______c€!u $ 4,M6

Amortization expense related to intangible assets is dassified as "Depreciation, amortization and accredon" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and was $446 million, $444 million, and $439 million for the years ended December 37,2022,2021 and 2020,
respectively.

The esrimated annual amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ending December 31, 2023 1o2027 is as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Estimated annual amortization $ ,146 $ 396 $ 375 $ 370 $ 287
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(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

6. Other Liabilities

othe r long-te rm liabilities

The following is a summary of the components of "Other long-term liabilities" as presented on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. See also note 2.

As of Dccember 31,

2022 2021

Defened rental revenues

Defened credits, net

Asset redrement obl igation
Defened income tax Iiabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Total $ 1,950 $ 2.1 t{l

Pursuant to its ground lease, easement, leased facility, and cerrain pole attachment agreements, the Company has the obligation to perform certain asset

retirement activities, including requirements upon contract termination to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which its
communications infrastructure is located. The changes in the carrying amount of the Company's asset retirement obligations were as follows:

Yea6 Ending Deccmber 31,

2022 2t2t

Balance, January I

Add irions

Accretion expense

Revision in estinratesl.l

Sedements
tsalance. December 31

$ 1,337

26t

327

IB
7

$ r,568

3l I

269

14

6

$ 269

4

20

37

(3)

327$

As of December 31,2022, the estimated undiscounted future cash outlay for asset retirement obligations was approximately $1.1 billion. See note 2.

For the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $49 million, $54 million and $58 million, respectively, in "Site rental
revenues" related to the amortization of below-market tenant leases. The estimated annual amounts related to below-market tenant leases expected to be

amortized into site rental revenues for the years ending December 31,2023 to 2027 are as follows:

Yea rs December 31,

2t23 2024 2025 2027

Below-market tenant leases $ 4s$ 41 $ 33$ 25$ 20

other occrued liobi lities

Other accrued liabilities included accrued payroll and other accrued compensation of $210 million and $192 million as of December 31,2022 and 2021,
respecrively.

G4

2026

$ 2S9

9

20

( l6)
(3)

$ 269



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

7. Debt and Other Obligations

See note 77 for a discussion of the Company's issuance of the January 2023 Senior Notes (as defined in note 17) and the use of the net proceeds

therefrom.

The table below sets forth the Company's debt and ot}er obligations as of December 31,2022.

Stated Interest Rat€
as of

Original Issue Date
Contractual

Maturity Date

Outstanding Balance as of December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2022

3.849% Secured Notes

Securt'd No(es. Series 2009-1, (.lass ,{-2

Tower Revenue Notes, Series 201 &1
Iilwer Revenue Notes. Series 2015-2

Tower Revenue Notes, Series 201&2
l'inantc lcases,rrrd otlrcr,rhligatr,rrs

Tonl secured debt

201 6 R0volver

201 6 Term Loan A
(-ommercial Paper Notcs

3.1500/6 Senior Notes

:1.2000,i, Senior Notes

1.35096 Senior Notes

4.4500,6 Senior Notes

3.700% Senior Notes

l.l)5(lt,/0 Senior Notes

4.0000/6 Senior Notes

2.900% Senior Notes

3.65096 Senior Notes

i.|.8O(lolu Sen ior Notes

4.30006 Senior Notes

3.I (l0o/i, Senior Notes

3.300% Senior Notes

2.250o/o Senior Notes

2.100% Senior Notes

2.500o/o Senior Notes

2.900% Senior Notes

4.75001, Senior Notes

5.200% Senior Notes

4.000% Scnior Notes

4.150% Senior Notes

ll.250o/o Senior N0tes

Total unsecured debt

liltal debt and other obligations

Less: current maurities of debt and other obligations

Non-curr€rrt l)ortion of debt and other long-term ohligations

Dec. 201 2

.luly 2009

July 201 8

May 2015

July 2018

Various

Apr.2023
Aug. 2029

July 2M3
May 204!r

July 2048

Viil i0us

N/A
9.O Vo

N/A
'3.7 0/o

4.2 o/o

Various (')

$ $ 998

53

249

69fi

744

242

;
698

745

246

(!)

(b)

(,)t( I

July 2027

July 2027

Various

July 2023

Sept. 2024

July 2025

Ieb. 2026

June 2026

.luly 2026

Mar.2O27
Mal2027
Sept. 2027

feb.2028
Feb.2029
Nov. 2029

July 2030

Jan. 203 I

Apr.2031
July 2031

Apr.2M1
May 2047

Feb.2M9
Nov. 2049

July 2050

.lan. 2051

I,735

1,30!, (rr

I ,192
1,241

749
i4t)
497

896

747

992

497

742

995

993

594

lr45

739
r.090

989

1,233

:144

395

:146

490

tig0

2,982

6ti5

1,222

265

747

747

496

i,95

746

990

495

995

992

s93
54S

738

r,089

988

741

1,233

344

39s
345

490
890

I).5 o/o (')

S.5 Yo kl

l>. ) o/u

3.2 o/o

1.4 o/o

4.lt D/o

3.7 0/o

1.1 o/u

4.0 o/o

2.9 o/o

3.7 0h

3.8 o/o

4.3 0/6

ll.1 o/o

3,3 0/6

2.3 o/o

2.1 o/o

2.5 "/o

2.9 0/6

4.8 0/o

5.2 0/6

4.0 o/o

4.2 yo

3.3 0/o

rr)

$ 19,993 $ 77,U7

s

$

$

$

2t.729

819

20,629
1)

20,557

(a) RepreseDts the weighted-average stated interest rate.

201 &2 have principal amounts o[ $700 million and $750 million, with anticipated repayment dates in 2025 and 2028, respectively.

to approximately 25 yeac.
(d) AsofDecember3l,2022,theundrawnavailabilityundertheseniorunsecuredrevolvingcreditfacility("2016Revolver")was$5.7billion.

0.300%, based on $e Company's senior unsecured debt rating, per amu on the undrawn available amout uder the 2016 Revolver. See funher discu$ion below regarding potential
adjusmens to such percentags.

(f) The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes, as defined below, when outstanding, may vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issuance.

$ 20,910 $
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Jan.2016

Jan.20l6
Variurs

Jan. 201 I
Aug. 201 7

June 2020

Feb. 201 6

May 2016

Ijeb.202'l
Feb.20l7
Mar.2022

Aug.20t7
Jan. 201 u

Feb. 2019

Aug. 201 9

Apr 2020

June 2{)20

Feb. 2021

,lune 2l)21

Feb. 2021

May 2017

Feb. 2019

,\u9.2019
Apr.2020
June 2020

(t)
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The credit agreement governing the Company's 2016 Credit Facility ("2016 Credit Agreement") contains financial maintenance covenants. The Company
is currentJy in compliance with these financial maintenance covenants, and based upon current expectations, the Company believes it will continue to comply
wirh its financial maintenance covenants. In addition, certain of the Company's debt agreements also contain restrictive covenants that place restrictions on CCI
or irs subsidiaries and nray limit rhe Company's abiliry ro, among other things, incur additional debt and liens, purchase the Company's securities, make capital
expenditures, dispose of assets, undertake transactions with affiliates, make other investments, pay dividends or distribute excess cash flow.

Bonk Debt

2016 Credit Fociliry. In January 2016, the Company established the 2016 Credit Facility, which was originally comprised of (1) a $2.5 billion 2016
Revolver maturing in January 2021, (2) a $2.0 billion 2016 Term Loan A maturing in January 2021 and (3) a $1.0 billion senior unsecured 364-day revolving
credit facility ("364-Day Facility") maturing in January 2017. The Company used the net proceeds from the 2016 Credit Facility (1) to repay the then

outstanding senior credit facility originally established in January 2012 and (2) for general corporate purposes. In February 2016, the Company used a portion

of rhe net proceeds from the February 2016 Senior Notes (as defined below) offering to repay in full all outstanding borrowings under the then outstanding 364-
Day Facility.

In February 2017, the Company entered into an amendment ro rhe 2016 Credit Facility to (l) incur additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount
of $500 million and (2) extend the maturity of both the 2016 Term Loan A and the 2016 Revolver to January 2022.

ln August 2017, the Company entered into an amendment ro the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $3.5 billion,
and (2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to August 2022.

In June 2018, the Company entered into an amendment ro the 2016 Credit Facility to (l) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $4.25 billion, and
(2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2023.

In June 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to rhe 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $5.0 billion, and
(2) extend the nraturity of the 2016 Credit Facility ro June 2024.

In June 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Agreement that provided for, among other things, (l) the extension of the

marurity dare of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2026, (2) reductions to the interest rate spread ("Spread") and unused commitment fee ("Commitment Fee")
percenrage upon meeting specified annual sustainability targets ("Targets") and increases to the Spread and Commitment Fee percentaBe upon the failure to

meet specified annual sustainability thresholds ("Thresholds") and (3) the inclusion of "hardwired" L|BOR transition provisions consistent with those published

by rhe Altemative Reference Rate Committee. The Spread and Commrtrnent Fee are subject to an upward adjustment of up to 0.05% and 0.01%, respectively, if
rhe Company fails to achieve the Thresholds. The Spread and Commitment Fee are subject to a downward adjustment of up to 0.05% and 0.01%, respectively,
if the Company achieves the Targets. In January 2022, the Company submrned the required documentation and received confirmation from its administrative
agent that all Targets were met as of December 3l , 202I, and, as such, the Spread and Commitment Fee percentages were reduced for 2022.

In July 2022, rhe Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Agreement that provided for, among other things, (l) the ex(ension of the

marurity date of the 2016 Credit Facility to July 2027, (2) an increase to the commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $7.0 billion, (3) cenain modifications to the

specified sustainability metric and (4) the replacement of the LIBOR pricingbenchmark with a Term SOFR pricingbenchmark.

In January 2023, the Company submined the required documentation and received confirmation from its administrative agent that all Targets were met as

of December 31,2022, and, as such, the Spread and Commitment Fee percentage reductions applied in January 2022 were maintained for 2023.
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Commerciol Paper Progrom.ln April 2019, the Company established a commercial paper program ("CP Program"), pursuant to which the Company may

issue short-term, unsecured commercial paper notes ("Commercial Paper Notes"). Commercial Paper Notes may be issued, repaid and re-issued from time to
time, with an aggregate principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding under the CP Program at any time originally not to exceed $1.0 billion. The
net proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes are expected ro be used for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes, when
outstanding, may vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. The Commercial Paper Notes are issued under customary terms in the commercial
paper market and are issued at a discount from par or. altematively, can be issued at par and bear varying interest rates on a fixed or floating basis. At any point
in time, the Company intends to maintain available commitments under its 2016 Revolver in an amount at least equal to the amount of Commercial Paper
Notes outstanding. While any outstanding commercial paper issuances generally have short-term maturities, the Company classifies the outstanding issuances

as long-term based on its ability and intent to refinance the outstanding issuances on a long-rerm basis.

In March 2022, the Company increased the size of the CP Program to permit the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes in an aggregate principal amount
not to exceed $2.0 billion at any time ourstanding. As of December 31,2022, the Company had net issuances of $1.2 billion under the CP Program.

Securitized Debt

The Tower Revenue Notes and the Secured Notes, Series 2009-1, Class A-2 ("2009 Securitized Notes") (collectively, "Securitized Debt") are obligations
of special purpose entities and their direct and indirect subsidiaries (each an "issuer"), all of which are wholly-owned, indirect subsidiaries of CCI. The Tower
Revenue Notes and 2009 Securitized Notes are govemed by separate indentures. The 2015 Tower Revenue Notes and 2018 Tower Revenue Notes (each as

defined below) are governed by one indenture and consist of multiple series of notes, each with its own anticipated repayment date.

In May 2015, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes ("2015 Tower Revenue Notes"),
which were issued pursuant to the existing indenrure and have similar terms and security as the Company's then outstanding Tower Revenue Notes. The 2015
Tower Revenue Notes originally consisted of (1) $300 million aggregate principal amount of 3.222V" senior secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated
repayment date of May 2022 and a final maturity date of May 2042 ("Series 2015-1 Notes") and (2) $700 million aggregate principal amount of 3.6637o senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of May 2025 and a final maturity date of May 2045 ("Series 2015-2 Notes"). The Company
primarily used the net proceeds of the 2015 Tower Revenue Notes, together with proceeds received from the Company's sale of the formerly 77.60/o owned
subsidiary that operated towers in Australia ("CCAL"), to (1) repay $250 million aggregate principal amount of previously outstanding August 2010 Tower
Revenue Notes, (2) repay all of the then outstanding WCP Secured Wireless Site Contracts Revenue Notes, Series 2010-1 ("WCP Securitized Notes"), (3)
repay ponions of outstanding borrowings under the 2012 Credit Facility and (4) pay related fees and expenses. In June 2021, the Company used a portion of the

net proceeds from the June 2021 Senior Notes (as defined below) offering to repay in whole the Series 201 5-1 Notes.

In July 2018, the Company issued $1.0 biilion aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes ("2018 Tower Revenue Notes"),
which were issued pursuant to the existing indenture and have similar terms and securiry as (he Company's existing Tower Revenue Notes. The 2018 Tower
Revenue Nores originally consisted of (l) $250 million aggregate principal amount of 3.720% senior secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated
repayment date of July 2023 and a final maturity of July 2043 ("Series 2018-1 Notes") and (2) $750 million aggregate principal amount of 4.247o/o senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of July 2028 and a final maturity of July 2048 ("Series 2018-2 Notes"). The Company used the

net proceeds of the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes, together with cash on hand, to repay all of the previously outstanding Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2010-6 and

to pay related fees and expenses. In addition to the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes described above, in connection with Exchange Act risk retention requiremens
("Risk Rerention Rules"), an indirect subsidiary of the Company issued and a majority-owned affiliate of the Company purchased approximately $53 million of
the Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-1, Class R-2028 to retain an eligible horizontal residual interest (as defined in the Risk Retention Rules)
in an amount equal to at least 57o of the fairvalue of the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes. In March 2022. the Company prepaid the Series 20'18-1 Notes.

The Securitized Debt is paid solely from the cash flows generated by the operation of the towers held direcdy and indirectly by the issuers of the
respective Securitized Debt. The Securitized Debt is secured by, among other things, (l) a security interest in substantially all of the applicable issuers'

assignable personal property, (2) a pledge of the equity interests in each applicable issuer and (3) a security interest in the applicable issuers'leases with tenants

to lease tower space (space licenses). The goveming instruments of rwo indirect subsidiaries ("Crown Atlantic" and "Crown GT") of the issuers of the
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Tower Revenue Notes generally prevent them from issuing debt and B,ranting liens on their assets without the approval of a subsidiary of Verizon
Communications. Consequendy, while distributions paid by Crown Atlantic and Crown GT will service the Tower Revenue Notes, the Tower Revenue Notes

are not obligations of, nor are the Tower Revenue Notes secured by the cash flows or any other assets of, Crown Atlantic and Crown GT. As of December 31,

2022, the Securitized Debt was collateralized with personal property and equipment with an aggregate net book value of approximately $813 million, exclusive

of Crown Adantic and Crown GT personal property and equipment.

The excess cash flows from the issuers of the Securitized Debt, after the payment of principal, interest, reserves, expenses and manag,ement fees, are

disrributed to the Company in accordance with the terms of the indentures. If the Debr Service Coverage Ratio ("DSCR") (as defined in the applicable
governing loan agreement) as of the end of any calendar quarter falls to a certain level, then all excess cash flow of the issuers of the applicable debt instrument
will be deposited into a reserve account instead of being released to the Company. The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the Company until
rhe DSCR exceeds a cenain Ievel for two consecutive calendar quarters. If the DSCR falls below a cenain level as of the end of any calendar quarter, then all
cash on deposit in the reserve account along with future excess cash flows of the issuers will be applied to prepay the debt with applicable prepayment

considerarion.

The Company may repay the Securitized Debt in whole or in part at any time, provided in each case that such prepayment is accompanied by any

applicable prepayment consideration. The Securitized Debt has covenants and restrictions customary for rated securitizations, including provisions prohibiting
the issuers from incurring additional indebtedness or further encumbering their assets.

Bonds-Senior Notes

In March 2022, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 2.900% senior unsecured notes due March 2027 ("March 2022 Senior
Nores"). The Company used the net proceeds from the March 2022 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the CP

Prog,ram and pay related fees and expenses.

In June 2021, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 2.500% senior unsecured notes due July 2031 ("June 2021 Senior Notes").
In June 2021. the Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the June 2021 Senior Notes offering (l) to repay outstanding Commercial Paper Notes and

(2) for general corporate purposes. In July 2021, the Company used a portion of the net proceeds to repay in full the previously outstanding Series 2015-1

Notes.

In February 2021, the Company issued $3.25 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("February 2021 Senior Notes"), which
consisted of (t) $1.0 billion aggregare principal amount of 1.050% senior unsecured notes due July 2026, (2) $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 2.100%
senior unsecured notes due April 2031 and (3) $1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of 2.900% senior unsecured notes due April 2041. The Company used

rhe ner proceeds from the February 2021 Senior Notes offering to (1) redeem all of the outstanding 5.250% Senior Notes, (2) repay a portion of the outstanding
Comrnercial Paper Notes and (3) repay a portion of outstanding borrowings under the 2016 Term Loan A.

In April 2020, rhe Company issued $1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("April 2020 Senior Notes"), which consisted of
(1) $750 million aggregate principal amount of 3.300% senior unsecured notes due July 2030 and (2) $500 million aggregate principal amount of 4.150olo

senior unsecured notes due July 2050. The Company used the net proceeds of the April 2020 Senior Notes offering to repay outstanding bonowings under the

2016 Rpvolver.

In June 2020, the Company issued $2.5 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("June 2020 Senior Notes"), which consisted of (1)

$500 million aS,Bregate principal amount of 1.350% senior unsecured notes due July 2025, (2) $1.1 billion aggreBate principal amount of 2.2507o senior
unsecured notes due January 2031 and (3) $900 million aggregate prirrcipal amount of 3.2507o senior unsecured notes due January 2051. The Company used

the net proceeds of rhe June 2020 Senior Notes offering, tog,ether wirh available cash, to redeem all of the previously outstanding 3.400% Senior Notes, 2.250%
Senior Notes and 4.875o/o Senior Notes.

In February 2019, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("February 2019 Senior Notes"), which
consisted of (1) $600 million aggregate principal amount of 4.3007o senior unsecured notes due February 2029 and (2) $400 million aggregate principal amount
of 5.200o/u senior unsecured noles due February 2049. The Company used the net proceeds of the February 2019 Senior Notes offering to repay a ponion of the

outstanding borrowings under the 201 6 Revolver.

In August 2019, the Company issued $900 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("August 2019 Senior Notes"), which consisted

of (l ) $550 million aggregate principal amount of 3.100% senior unsecured notes due
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November 2029 and (2) $350 million aggregate principal amount of 4.000o/o senior unsecured notes due November 2049. The Company used the net proceeds

of rhe Augusr 2019 Senior Notes offering to repay outstanding bonowings under the 2016 Revo'lver and the CP Program.

In January 2018, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 3.150o/o senior unsecured notes due July 2023 and $1.0
billion aggregate principal amount of 3.800o/o senior unsecured notes due February 2028 (collectively, "January 2018 Senior Notes"). The Company used the

net proceeds of the January 2018 Senior Notes offering ro repay (l) in full the previously outstanding January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes and (2) a portion of
the outstanding borrowings under the 2016 Revolver.

In February 2017, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 4.0007o senior unsecured notes due March 2027 ("4.000% Senior
Notes"). The Cornpany used the net proceeds from the 4.000(/o Senior Nores offering to repay a portion of the outstanding borrowings under the 2016 Revolver.

'In May 2017, the Company issued $350 million aggregate principal amount of 4.750% senior unsecured notes due May 2047 ("4.750o/o Senior Notes").
The Company used rhe net proceeds from the 4.750% Senior Notes offering to partially fund the 2017 acquisition of Wilcon Holdings LLC and to repay a

portion of the outstanding borrowings urrder the 2016 Revolver.

In August 2017, the Company issued $1.75 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("August 2017 Senior Notes"), which consisted

of (l) $750 million aggregate principal arnount of 3.200%o senror unsecured notes due September 2024("3.2o0o/o Senior Notes") and (2) $1.0 billion aggregate

principal amount of 3.650% senior unsecured notes due September 2027 (3.650% Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the August 2017
Senior Notes offering to partially fund the 2017 acquisition of LTS Group Holdings LLC and pay related fees and expenses.

In February 2016, the Company issued $'1.5 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured nutes ("February 2016 Senior Notes"), which
consisted of (l) the previously outstanding $600 million aggregate principal amount of 3.4007o senior notes due February 2021 ("3.400o/o Senior Notes") and

(2) $900 million aggregate principal amount of 4.4507o senior unsecured notes due February 2026 ("4.450o/u Senior Notes"). The Company used the net

proceeds from the February 2016 Senior Notes offering, tog,ether with cash on hand. to (1) repay in full all outstanding borrowings under the then outstanding
364-Day Facility and (2) repay $500 million of outstanding borrowings under the 2016 Revolver.

In May 2016, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes ("May 2016 Senior Notes"), which consisted of (1)

the previously outstanding $250 million aggregate principal amount of additional 3.400% Senior Notes pursuant to the same indenture as the 3.400% Senior
Notes issued in the February 2016 Senior Notes offering and (2) $750 million aggregate principal amount of 3.7007o senior unsecured notes due June 2026
("3.700"/" Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the May 2016 Senior Notes offering to repay in full the previously outstanding Tower
Revenue Notes, Series 2010-2 and Series 2010-5, each issued by cenain of its subsidiaries, and to repay a porlion of the outstanding borrowings under the 2016
Revolver.

Each of the 3.700% Senior Notes, 4.450% Senror Notes, August 2017 Senior Notes, 4.750olo Senior Notes, 4.000% Senior Notes, January 2018 Senior
Notes, August 2019 Senior Notes, February 2019 Senior Notes, June 2020 Senior Notes, April 2020 Senior Notes, June 2021 Senior Notes, February 2021

Senior Notes and March 2022 Senior Notes (collectively, "Senior Notes") are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally with all of the

Company's existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness, including obligations under the 2016 Credit Faciliry, and senior to all of the Company's future
subordinated indebtedness. The Senior Notes are strucrurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of the Company's subsidiaries.
The Company's subsidiaries are not guarantors of the Senior Notes.

The Company may redeem any of the Senior Notes in whole or in part at any time at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed, plus a
make whole premium, if applicable, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.

P rev i ously Outstond ing I ndebte dne ss

Bonds-Secured Notes. In March 2022, the Company redeemed in full the previously outstanding 3.849% secured notes due 2023 ("3.849% Secured

Notes").

See above for information about the Company's recent redemptions and repayments of debt.
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Scheduled Principol Payments ond Final Moturities

The following are the scheduled principal payments and final marurities of the total debt and other long-term obligations of the Company outstanding as

of December 31,2022, which do not consider rhe principal paymenrs that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates on the Tower Revenue

Notes. If the Tower Revenue Notes are not paid in full on or prior to their respective anticipaled repayment dates, as applicable, then the Excess Cash Flow (as

defined in the indenture) of the issuers of such notes will be used to repay principal of the applicable series and class of the Tower Revenue Notes and

additional interest (of an additional approximately 5% per annum) will accrue on the Tower Revenue Notes.

Years Ending Derember 31, Total Dcbl and
Tobl Ce6h Unamorthcd Olh.r Obligation6

rarratrrr oblislion6 Adiustm.nti. Nct ouktahdiEs202t 2025 2026 2027

Schedulct principal paymen6
and
final maoritis $ 2,060 b) $ 831 $ 593 S 2,771

(a) Predominatel!' consiss oI outstanding indebtedness under the CP Program as discussed above.

Purchoses ond Redemptions of Long-Term Debt

4,548 $ 1r,078 $ 2r,88r $ (152)$ 21,729

The following is a summary of the purchases, paymenrs and redemptions of long-term debt during rhe years ended December 31,2022,2027 and 2020.

Year End€d December 31, 2022

Cash Paidr'r

202:l

(
Gains (loses)c)

$ (3)Tower Rr'venue Notes, Series 2018-1

ll.l]41)%, Scr utetl Notcs

201 6 Revolver
'l 

r )lal

Erclusive of accrued interest.
lnclusive of the write-off of the respective defened financing costs.

S-2500/6 Senior Not6
2016 Tcrm I oan I
Tower Revenue Notes, Series 201 5-l
'I olal

(a) Exclusive o[ accrued interest.
(b) lnclusive of the write-off o[ the respective defened financing costs.

3.4000/ Senior Notes

2.251)% Senior Notes

4.875% Senior Notes

Total

(a) Exclusive of accrued interesr.
(b) lnclusive of the write-off of Ge respective defened [inancing costs.

2s0 $

r,000

1(1

I ,012 (23)

(2)

$ r.150 :l t.:i4

Year Ended December 3t, 2021

$ (28)

(a)
(b)

Principal Amount Cash Paid(" Gains (loss)G)

$ 1,550 $

300

1,789 $ (143)
(l)
(1)300

$ I,9s0 $ 2,089 1_____________eq

Year Ended December 31, 2020

$

Cash Paidr')

$ 853

i14
9r3

Gains (loses)Gl

$ (13)
( 15)

(66)

!_________l9r_

850

700

850

$ 2,400 $ 2,490
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L Fair Value Disclosures

The following table shows the estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments, along with the carrying amounts of the related assets

(liabilities). See also note 2.

Level in Fair Value
December 31,2022 Dccember 31,2021

c*ryirIgAnotrrltFairvafue MHierarchy

Assets:
(-ash and cash equivalents

Restrioed cash, current and non-cumnt
$ 156

t7l
$ 156 $

l7t
292

174

292

174

$

l. iahiliries:
Total debt and other obl igations ') 21,729 r 9,554

9. lnconre Tares

Incorne (1oss) from continuing operations before income taxes by geographic area is summarized in the table below.

20,629

Yean Ended December 31,

2 1,s88

2022 2021 2020

Domestic

[.oreignr')

Total

(a) lnclusive of income (loss) from continuing operations before income (arrs from Pueno Rico.

The benefit (provision) for income taxes consists of the following:

Current:

Iedcral

Foreign

S tate

Total current

|)cfrrrcd:
Foreign
Total delerrcd

Tbnl tax benefit (provision)

Benefit (provision) for income taxes a( statutory rate

Iar,rdjrr:trttertt rclatcd t0 lll I I UI)(rirtr0r)\

Valuation allowances

srilro (ax (provision) bcrrclit, not ul lcdcral

foreign tax

I ()tJl

Years Ended December 31,

2022 202t 2020

$ (s)

(8)

(4) (3)

(13)

(3)

$ $ (22s)

219

(5)

(e)

349

(l)

(ll)
$ (16) $ (2r)

$

$ 1,691

I,lrl4 $

3!,

$ I,l?, $

1,551 $

30

r,046

30

r,076

(6)

(s)

2

$$ (6)

(6)

(s)

(17)

(4)

(r7)

A reconciliation between the benefit (provision) for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to the
income (oss) from continuing operations before income taxes is as follows:

Yeare Ended De(ember 31,

2022 2021 2020

(248)

i,
(t 2)

s(3ss)
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$

December 31,

2022 2021

Deferred income ax liabilities:
Propcrty and equipnr0nt

Deferred site rental receivables
'Iirtal deferred inconre (ax lial)ilitics

Deferred income tax asse6:

Intangihle assets

Net operating loss carryfomards(")

StraiBht-l ine rent rxprnse I iability

.{ccrued liabilities

Other

Valuation allowances

Total deferred income tax isscts, net

Net defened income rax assers (liabilities)

Cla$ificatiop

Federal

S(ate

Foreign
'fotal

8$ 7

l5

25 It
1l

discussion sureuoding the Company's NOL balances belov.

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The components of the net defened income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

December 31,2022 December 31,2021

17

I

r3
4

6
')

I

12

I
6

I
(2)

8$$

Valuation
G ross

Valuation
AllowanceGross Allowance Net Net

$ (1)26

I

(r7)

$ $ 25

I

(1s)

25

I

(1s)

$ $ $

$ l0 $ (2) 8$$ il$ $ ll

During 2022, the Company recorded valuation allowances totaling $2 million related to certain deferred tax assets as management believes that it is not
"more likely than not" that the Company will realize the assets.

At December 31,2022, the Company had U.S. federal and state NOLS of approximately $1.5 biltion and $0.5 billion, respectively, which are available to

offset future taxable income. These amounts include approximately $237 million of Iosses related to stock-based compensation. The Company also has foreign
NOLs of $32 million. If not utilized, the Company's U.S. federal NOLs expire slarting in 2025 and ending in 2036, the state NOLs started expiring in 2022 and

end in 2036, and the foreign NOLs expire starting in 2023 and ending in 2036. The utilization of the NOLs is subject to certain limitations. The Company's
U.S. federal and state income (ax returns generally remain open to examination by taxing authorities until three years after the applicable NOLs have been used

or expired.

As of December 31,2022, there were no unrecognized tax benefits rhat would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized.

From time to lime, the Company is subject to examinations by various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which the Company has business operations. At
this time, the Company is not subject to an Internal Revenue Service examination.

On April 26,2021, the Company entered into an agreemenr in principle with the Australian Taxation Office ("AIO") to pay A$83 million to settle the
previously disclosed outstanding audit of the Australian lax consequences of the Company's 2015 sale of Crown Casde Australia Holdings Pty Ltd ("CCAL"),
formerly a77.60/o owned Australian subsidiary of the Company ("ATO Settlement"). The sale of CCAL generated approximately $1.2 billion in net proceeds to

the Company, and resulted in a gain from the disposal of discontinued operations of $979 million for the year ended December 3l, 2015.

On June 16,2021, the Company entered into a definitive setdement ag,reement with the ATO evidencing the ATO Setdement. On July 1,2021, the

Company paid approximately $62 million (A$83 million), based on the exchange rate in effect on that date, pursuanl to the ATO Settlement. The Company
recognized the ATO Setdement as a charge within discontinued
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operations in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December3l,2021, as this amount represented a
reduction to the gain from the disposal of discontinued operations previously reported during the year ended December 31,2015. The Company reflected the
payment pursuant to the ATO Setdement within discontinued operations in the Company's consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December
31,2021.

The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in each of the tax jurisdictions in which it has business operations. The
Company has no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2022. Additionally, the Company does not believe any such additional assessments arising from
other examinations or audits will have a material effecr on the Company's financial statements.

As of December 31,2022, the Company's defened tax assets are included in "Other assets, net" and the Company's deferred tax liabilities are included in
"Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

10. Equity

2021 "At4he-Morket" Stock Offering Progrom

In March 2021, the Company established an "at-rhe-market" stock offering program through which it may issue and sell shares of its common stock
having an aggregate gross sales price of up to 5750 million ("2021 ATM Program"). Sales under the 2021 ATM Program may be made by means of ordinary
brokers'transactions on the NYSE or otherwise al market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to prevailing market prices or, subject to the

Company's specific instructions, at negotiated prices. The Company intends to use $e net proceeds from any sales under the 2021 ATM Program for general

corporate purposes, which may include (1) the funding of future acquisitions or investments or (2) the repayment or repurchase of any outstanding
indebtedness. The Company has not sold any shares of common stock under the 2021 ATM Program.

Convertible P referred Stock Conversion

ln July and August 2020, all of the approximately 2 million shares of the Company's previously outstanding 6.8750lo Mandatory Convenible Preferred
Stock were converted into approximately 14 million shares of the Company's common stock at a conversion rate (based on the applicable market value of the

common stock and subject to certain anti-dilutive adjustments) of 8.8043 shares of common stock per each share of 6.8750/" Mandatory Convenible Preferred

Stock.

Declorotion ond Poyment of Dividends

During the year ended December 31,2022, the following dividends/distributions were declared or paid

Per
Equity Type Declaration Date Record L)ate Payment Dale

A83reBate
Payment
Amountl')

Dividends
Share

Common Stock February 8, 2022 March 15,2022
(lonrmon Stock May 10.2022 June 15.2022

Common Stock July25,2122 September 15,2022

Common Stock october 20, 2022 December 15,2022

(a) lnclusive of dividends accrued for holders o[ unvcsted RSLls, which will be paid when and if thr ltst]s vest.

March 31, 2022

.lune 30, 2022

SeFember 30, 2022

December:10, 2022

$

$

$

$

t.470 $

1.470 $

1.470 $

I .56ir $

539

638

636

674

See also nore 17 for a discussion of the Company's common stock dividend declared in February 2023.
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Tox Treatment of Dividends

The following table summarizes, for income tax purposes, the narure of dividends paid during 2022 on the Company's common stock.

Equity ]}pe Payment Date
Cash Distribution

(per share)
Section l99A

Dividend (per share)

Common Stock March 31,2022 $ 1.470m0 $ 0.965086 $ 0.015821 $ 0.949265 $ 0.504914
Common Stock June 30, 2022 $ 1.470000 $ 0.965086 $ 0.015821 $ 0.949265 $ 0.504914

Common Stock S€ptember 30, 2022 $ 1.470m0 $ 0.965@6 $ 0.015821 $ 0.949265 $ 0.5U914
Conrmon Stock December30,2022 $ 1.565000 $ 1.027456 $ 0.016844 $ 1.010612 $ 0.537544

(a) Qualificd taxablc dividend and scction 1994 dividcnd amounr arc included in ordinary nxable dividcnd amounts.

Purchoses of the Company's Common Stock

During the years ended December 37,2022,2021 and 2020, the Company purchased 0.4 million, 0.4 million and 0.5 million shares of common stock,
respectively, utilizing $65 million, $70 million and $76 million in cash, respectively.

11. Stock-basedCompensation

Stock Compensation P lons

Pursuant to stockholder approved plans, the Company has granted stock-based awards to cenain employees, consultants or non-employee directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates. Following the stockholder approval of the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2022 LTIP"), no further awards can be
made under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2013 LTIP"). As of December 31,2022, the Company had approximately 3 million shares available for
issuance under existing awards pursuant to the 2013 LTIP and approximately 13 miilion shares available for issuance under existing and future awards pursuant
to the 2022 LTIP. Of the shares remaining available for future issuance, approximately 2 million shares may be issued pursuant to outstanding RSUs granted

under the 2013 LTIP.

Resrricted Stocl Unirs

The Company issues RSUs to cenain executives and employees. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of the Company's common
stock subject to satisfaction of the applicable vesting terms. The RSUs granted to certain executives and employees include (1) annual performance awards that
generally include provisions for forfeiture by the employee if certain market performance of the Company's common stock (as funher described below) is not
achieved, (2) new hire or promotional awards that generally contain only service-based vesting conditions and (3) other awards related to specific business
initiatives or compensation objectives including retention and merger integration. Generally, such awards vest over periods of approximately three years.

The following is a summary of the RSU activity during the year ended December 31,2022.

RSUs

(ln milliotls)

outstanding at the beginning, of year
(; ran(ed

Vested

I orleited

outstandrng at end of year

The Company granted approximately one million RSUs to its executives and certain other employees for each of the years ended December 37,2022,
2021 and 2020. The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of the grants for the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020 was $146.52,
$155.01 and $160.78 per share, respectively. The weighted-average requisite service period for tle RSUs granted during 2022was approximately 2.3 years.
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Of the approximately one million RSUs granted during the year ended December 31,2022, (l) approximately 0.7 million RSUs were subject to time-
based vesting conditions, vesting over a three-year period and (2) approximately 0.4 million RSUs were granted to the Company's executives and cenain other
employees and may vest on the third anniversary of the grant date based upon (a) the Company's toral stockholder retums (defined as share price appreciation
plus the value of dividends paid during the performance period) and (b) the Company's total stockholder return compared to that of the companies in the

Srandard & Poor's 500 Index. Certain RSU agreements contain provisions that result in forfeiture by the employee of any unvested shares in the event that the

Company's common stock does not achieve certain performance targets. To the extent that the requisite service is rendered, compensation cost for accounting
purposes is not reversed; rather, it is recognized regardless of whether or not the market performance target is achieved.

The following table summarizes the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation to determine the grant-date fair value for the RSUs with market
conditions granted during the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020.

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Risk-free rate

[:-xpected volati]ity

Expected dividend rate

r.7 vo

3l o/o

3.0 %

0.2 0/6

'30 o/o

3.4 0h

1.4 VD

19 0k

3.s %

The Company recognized aggregate stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs of $134 million, $110 million and $ll1 million for the years

ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The aggregate unrecognized compensation (net of estimated forfeirures) related to RSUs at

December 31,2022 is $69 million and is estimated to be recognized over a weighted-average period of I ess than one year.

The following rable is a summary of the RSUs vested during the years ended December 37,2022,2021 and 2020.

Total Shares
Vested

Fair Value on
Years Ended December 31, VestinB Date

2022

2021

2020

Stock-based compensation expense:

Site rental costs of operations

Services and other c6ts of operations

Selling. general and adrrinistrative expenses

Total stock-based compensation expense

(ln millions of shores)

l'ears Ended December 31,

l$
1

1

187

199

220

Stoc k-b a sed Compen s ati on Expen se

The following table discloses dre components of stock-based compensadon expense.

2022 202r 2020

$ rri $

l0
r28

l6
8

r09

t4 $

I
r09

$ 156 $ 131 $ 133

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Durhom Lowsuils

The Company has received notices of claims and has been named as one of several defendants in lawsuits stemming from an ApriJ 2019 gas leak
explosion in Durham, North Carolina, which occurred near an area where the Company's subcontractors were installing fiber. The explosion resulted in two
fatalities, physical injuries (some of which were serious), and propeny damage to surrounding buildings and businesses. Currendy, the Company is unable to

determine the likelihood of an outcome or estimate a range of possible losses, if any, related to these lawsuits.
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Other Motters

The Company is involved in various other claims, assessments, lawsuits or proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While there are

uncertainties inherent in the ultimate outcome of such other matters and it is impossible to presently determine the ultimate costs or losses that may be incurred,
if any, management believes the adverse resolution of such uncertainties and the incurrence of such costs should not have a material adverse effect on the

Company's consolidated financial position or results of operations. Additionally, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are contingendy liable for
commitments or performance guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business, including cenain letters of credit or surety bonds. See note l3 for a

discussion of operating lease commitments. In addition, see note 4 for a discussion of the Company's option to purchase approximately 53o/o of its towers at the

end of their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options.

13. Leases

Lessor Tenont Leoses

See note 3 for further information regarding the contractual amounts owed to the Company pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as of December 3L,2022
and other information.

Lessee Operoting Leoses

The components of the Company's operating lease expense are as follows:

Ycars Ended Dcccmbcr 31,

2022 2021 2020

Lease cost:

operarllg lease expense("'

Variable lease expenseft )

lbtal lease expense('r B3s $ r]10 $

(a) Represents the Company's operating lease expense related to iLs ROU assets for the years ended December 3], 2022, 2021 and 2020.

asset) for the yeaE ended December 31, 2022.2021 and 2020. Su€h coDtingencies are recognired as expense in the period thel'are resolved.

(c) Excludes those direct operating expensc accounted for punuant to accounting guidance ourside the scope of A5C 842.

Lessee Finonce Leoses

The vast majority of the Company's finance leases are related to the towers subject to prepaid master lease agreements with AT&T and T-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint), and are recorded as "Propeny and equipment, net" on the consolidated balance sheet. See

note 4 for further discussion of the Conrpany's prepaid master lease agreements. Finance'leases and associated leasehold improvements related to gross

property and equipment and accumulated depreciation were $4.3 billion and $2.7 billion, respectiv€ly, as of December 31,2022. Finance leases and associated

leasehold improvements related to gross property and equipment and accumulated depreciation were $4.3billion and $2.5 billion, respectively, as of December
31,2021.. For the years ended December 31,2O22,2021 and 2020, th€ Company recorded $182 million, $200 million and $211 million, respectively, to
"Depreciation, amortization and accretion" related to finance leases.

Other Lessee Information

As of December 31,2022, the Company's weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate for operating leases were 16 years

and 3.60lo, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 
(Continued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

The fof lowing table is a summary of the Company's maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31.,2022:

Ycars llndint Dcc.hbcr 31,
-l herrdft€r

Toral undiscounted
laase pavmen(s

Lrsb: lmput.d Toral op.ratinS l!as.
inler.sl liabiliti.s202:t 2024 2025 2026 2027

openringleases(') $ 568 $ s6l $ 54S $ 538 $ 531 $ 5,660 $ 8,403 $ (2,172)$ 6,23r

arangements are excluded from the Company's operating lease liability. Such contingencies are recogniad as expense in the period they are resolved.

14. Operating Segments and Concentrations of Credit Risk

Operoting Segments

The Company's operating segments consist of (1) Towers and (2) Fiber. The Towers segment provides access, including space or capacity, to the

Company's more than 40,000 towers geographically dispersed throughout the U.S. The Towers segment also reflects certain ancillary services relating to the

Company's towers, predominately consisting of site development services and installation services. The Fiber segment provides access, including space or
capacity, to the Company's approximately (1) 120,000 small cells on air or under contract and (2) 85,000 route miles of fiber primarily supporting small cells
and fiber solutions geographically dispersed throughout the U.S.

The measuremenrs of profit or loss used by the Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM") to evaluate the performance of its operating
segments are (1) segment site rental gross margin, (2) segment services and other gross margin and (3) segment operating profit. The Company defines segment

site rental gross margin as segment site rental revenues less segment site rental costs of operations, excluding stock-based compensation expense and prepaid
lease purchase price adjustments recorded in consolidated site rental costs of operations. The Company defines segment services and other gross marBin as

segment services and other revenues less segment services and other costs of operations, excluding stock-based compensation expense recorded in consolidated
services and other costs of operations. The Company defines segment operating, profit as segment site rental gross margin plus segment services and other gross

margin, and segment other operating, (income) expense, less selling, general and administrative expenses attributable to the respective segment. All of these

measurements of profit or loss are exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion, which are shown separately.

Costs that are direcdy attributable to Towers and Fiber are assigned to those respective segments. Additionally, certain costs are shared across segments

and are reflected in the Company's segment measures through allocations that management believes to be reasonable. The "Other" column (1) represents

amounts excluded from specific seg,ments, such as asset write-down charges, acquisition and integration costs, depreciation, amonization and accretion,
amortization of prepaid lease purchase price adjustments, interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, gains (losses) on retirement of long-
term obligations, interest income, other income (expense), income (loss) from discontinued operadons, and stock-based compensation expense, and (2)
reconciles segment operating profit to income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, as the amounts are not utilized in assessing each

segment's performance. The "Other" total assets balance includes corporate assets such as cash and cash equivalents which have not been allocated to specific
segments. There are no signif icant revenues resulting from transactions berween the Company's operating segments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Towers Fiber ot her
Consolidated

Total

Segment site rental revenues

St'gnrent services and olher rtvsnues

Segment revenues

Seglncnt sile rerllal trrsts uf op(,raliulls

Segment services and other costs of operations

Segment costs of opcratiuns(''r(r )

Segment site rental gross maryin

SegrreDt scrvicos and olher 8n)s\ rndrgin

Segment selling, general and administrative expensesft)

Segmt,nt uperatirtg prolit (luss)

Other selling, general and administrative expensesft)

Stock-based compensation expense

Depreciation, amonization and accretion

Ir(L,r'r'st exp0nse and anrol.tization of defened financing costs

Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes{tl

lnconre (loss) [rom continuirB opcrations trefore inconre taxcs

Capital expendirures

Total assets (a( year end)

Toral goodwill (at year end)

(a) t:.\clusive of depreciation, amoniation aDd accretion shown separat.ll'.

Segment sile rental revenues

Segrnent setvices and other revorues

Segment revenues

Segrrcnt sitc rental cr)sts oI rtp|tations

Segment services and other costs of operations

Segrnent cos(s of operations(o)il'l

Segment sile rental gross margin

S(,gnrcnt scruices and olhcr Bross mdrgin

Segment selling, general and administrative expenses{b)

ScSnrent operating profil (loss)

Other selling, general and administrative expenses(b)

Stock-based compensation expcnse

Depreciadon, amonization and accretion

Interest expense and anronization of defened financing costs

Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxesl')

lnconlc (loss) lrom continuing operations belore inconre (axes

Capital expendituIes

Total assets (at year end)

Total goodwill (at year end)

$ 4,322 $ r,967
12

$ 6,289

5,007

9lB
447

1,979

697t tl5

2.024

550

I

6,986

1,558

455

1,36!, 659

3,q4
238

115

1,317

3

t90

4,721

241

305

3,527

18s $
22,21 0 $

s,127 $

1,130

r,058 $

l ti.Or0 $

4,9s8 $

317

t:,6

|.707
ri99

4,657

317

156

1,707

699

$

87

$ r.tigl

67 $ 1,310

701 $ :lt],92 r

- $ 1o,oBS

expense of $l 28 million.
(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income 0oss) for funher infomation.

Year Ended December 31,2021

Towers Fiber Othe r
Consolidated

Total

$ 3,804 $

601

1,9r5
20

$ s,719
62t

4,NS
889

4t4

1,935

63:.i

t7
650

6.340

r .5r2..1

431

I,303 I,953

t,282

174

4,197

190

281

2,995

221 $

22,_11t1 $
s,127 $

290

r3r

1,644

657

20s

4,1 06

290

t3l
t,644

657

l,lll
$

9s5 $

15,t 76 $

4,951 $

205

179

1,229

39,040

1 0,078

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

52

ti46

(a) Exclusive ofdepreciation, amoniation and accretion shown separately,

expense of $109 million.
(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for funher information.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 
(Continued)

(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

!?ar Ended December 31,2020

Towe6 Fiber Other
Consolidated

Total

Segment site rental revenues

Scgmcnt scruiccs and {)(hcr rovcnues

Se8,ment revenues

SpBmenl sile rental r osts r:l r:peratiors

Segmen( services and other costs of operations

5egment costs of t)pera(ionsr'"(f )

Segment site rental gross margin

5t,grnent seruict's dnd i)lhcr gross margirt

Segment selling, general and administrative expenseso')

St'gmenr other operatirrg (income) expt rrser')

Segment operating profit (loss)

Othor selling, geut'ral and adnriuistrative e.lpenscs('''

Stock-based compensa(ion expense

l)t'preciation, .rmonizali(,r artd acr rttr0rr

lnterest expense and amonization of deferred financing coss
( )lhcr (inLome) expcnses ro rcroncil: to ilrcome (loss) from continuing oprrations befol0 inconre

lncome (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

(lapital expcnditures

'Ibtal assets (at year end)
'l'otal goodwill (at year end)

T-Mobile

l1'&T
Verizon Wireless

Trrt:rl

$ 3,497 $ 1,823

20

2,602

33s $

22,242 $

5,127 $

t,n7

1,232 $

15,746 $
4,95r $

$ 5,320

5,840

r,486

441

3,834

$ 1,076

$ 1,624

$ 38,768

$ ro,o78

520500

3,$7
866

429

r,843
620

12

1,295 632

2,531

71

100

1,203

I
186

(362)

79

286

(362)

3,989

283

133

1.608

589

200

$

200

57

780

283

133

1,608

589

$

$

$

(a) Exdusive of depreciadon, moniation and accretion shown separately.

expense of $109 million.
(() See note l5 for funher infomation.
(d) See consolidated statement o[ operations and comprehensive income 0o$) for funher infomation.

Major Tenonts

The following rable summarizes the percentage of the consolidated revenues for those tenants accounting for more than l0% of the consolidated revenues.

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020G)

3804
18 Vo

18 o/o

35 0h

20 o/"

20 0a

36 o/o

22 0/o

19%
75 o/o 77 o/o

their previously disclosed merger

Concentrotions of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potenrially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and

trade receivables. The Company mitigates its risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents by maintaining such deposits at high credit quality financial
instirutions and moniloring the credit ratings of those institutions. The Company's restricted cash is predominately held and directed by a trustee (see note 2).

The Company derives the largest ponion of its revenues from tenants in the wireless industry. The Company also has a concentration in its volume of
business with T-Mobile, AT&T and Verizon Wireless or their agents that accounts for a significant portion of the Company's revenues, receivables and deferred

site rental receivables. The Company mitigates its concenrrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables by actively monitoring the credirwonhiness of
its tenants, the use of tenant leases with contractually determinable payment terrns or proactive management of past due balances.

79

1.927

74 o/o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

1S. Other Operating Income

During the fourth quarter of 2020, T:-Mobile notified the Company that it was cancelling approximately 5,700 small cells initially contracted with Sprint
("2020 Cancellation") prior to its merger with T-Mobile. The majority of the cancelled small cells were not yet constructed and, upon completion, would have
been located at the same locations as other T-Mobile small cells. The 2020 Cancellation resulted in T-Mobile accelerating payment of all contractual renral
obligations associated with the approximately 5,700 small cells as well as the payment of capital costs incurred to date.

The Company received approximately $308 million from T-Mobile pursuant to the 2020 Cancellation, and recognized receipt of this payment as "Other
operating income" on its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Additionally, the Company previously received upfront payments from Sprint for certain of the small cells subject to the 2020 Cancellation, which the
Company previously recorded as "Defened revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on its consolidated balance sheet. As a result of the 2020 Cancellation,
during the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company recognized the unamortized portion of such upfront payments, or approximately $54 million, as "Other
operating income" on its corrsolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020.

See also note 2 for a discussion of the Company's separate evaluation and write-off during the year ended December 31, 2020 of propeny and equipmenr
previously recorded related to the cancelled small cells.

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table is a summary of the supplemental cash flow information during the years ended December 31,2022,2021 and 2020.

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informadon:

Cash paynrents related to opdating lease liabilitiesr"r $ 550 $

lnterest paid 684

Inconre taxes paid l0
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash invesring and financing activities:

New llotl asscts obtained in cxchangc foroperating lcase liabilities l9l
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable for purchases of propery and equipment (5)

Purchase of propertv and equipment under finance lcases and installment land purchases 2u

(a) trxcludes the Company's continS,ent paym(nts pusuant lo operating leases, which art recorded as expensc in the period such condngencies are resolved.

The reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within various lines on the consolidated balance sheet to amounts reported in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is shown below.

As of Dccember 31,

2022 2021 2020

5!n)

661

20

57:l

3

25

$ 53u

6s3
t9

627

27

33

Cash and cash equivalents

I.lestricte(l cash, cuncn(
Restricted cash reponed within other assets, ne(

(-ash. cash equivalerrrs and restricted cash

$ 156 S

I 6(;

292 $

169

5

232

144

5

$ 327 $ 466 $ 38r

17. Subsequent Events

Common Stock Dividend

On February 7, 2023, the Company's board of directors declared a quanerly cash dividend of $1.565 per common share. The quarterly dividend will be
payable on March 31, 2023,ro common stockholders of record as of March 15,2023.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share anrounts)

lonuory 2023 Senior Notes Offering

On January 1I,2023, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 5.0007u senior unsecured notes due July 2028 ("January 2023 Senior
Nores"). The Company used the net proceeds from the January 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the 2016
Revolver and pay related fees and expenses.
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